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Global relocation is a highly personal business. It requires strong
relationships built on trust and an extensive infrastructure that can
deliver everything from family treasures to a rare art collection
anywhere in the world—but with local expertise. An expansive
customer service network that provides information and support
whenever customers need them. And flexible, far-reaching serVices
that meet the differentiated needs of the diverse customers

and markets we serve. One company has the people, processes
and business model in the new world of global relocation.

SIRVA. We're redefining relocation.
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

In our inaugural letter to shareholders as a public company,
we think it appropriate to share our perspective about
who we really are, what we stand for and the personal
zest we have for the future of this company.

A CHANCE TO BE THE BEST There is a forceful sense of
optimism at SIRVA. We are redefining the winning value
proposition for the global relocation market space and
strongly believe we have a unigue opportunity to be the
best in the world at what we do.

Today's global economy demands that corporations and
governmental institutions hire, develop and retain talented
employees who can be deployed anywhere in the world.
And to that end, SIRVA offers our clients and the many
thousands of private transferees and relocating families the
industry’s most comprehensive set of innovative, hassle-
free relocation and moving services. We offer relocation
solutions that meet or exceed their varied and exacting
Critical to Quality {CTQ) requirements.

For any company to become truly special, a number of
favorable circumstances have to come together. First, the
marketplace itself. Is it an attractive space? Here we are
very fortunate. The global relocation and moving services
market segment is big, estimated at $50 billion, and likely
to grow after two or three years of tough times. It is a
very fragmented, inefficient and underserved space com-
pared with its potential. We will prioritize and allocate our
financial capital, process capacity and intellectual capital
to be a leader in this space.

Second, our competitive landscape is relatively benign.

We have good competition, and we certainly don't

underestimate their competencies. But we believe there is
no superior competitor, no threat of global overcapacity,
no threat from fast-paced technoclogy or innovation. Today,
there are many disparate and uncoordinated approaches
to our industry. SIRVA has a wide-open opportunity to
emerge as a company like no other in this space.

Third, we have a clear, powerful and winning value
proposition that delivers to our customers cost savings,
risk abatement, ease of use and responsive service any
time of the year, anywhere in the world. But, what truly
differentiates us—and makes us especially optimistic and
enthusiastic about our prospects—is the talent and atti-
tude of our associates. Their zeal for the game, obsession
with the customer and boundaryless behavior energize
our passion for profitable growth.

Our culture is alt about values. Values such as unyield-
ing integrity in everything we do, everything we say and
everything we stand for. Our culture is about confidence.
Confidence in our industry, our customers, our network
suppliers, our employees and our leaders. Our culture
is adaptive to the changing external environment and is
intuitive about the reinvestment needed to achieve or
sustain competitiveness. Our culture is about performance.
We do what we say we are going to do. And we do it
with aggressive humility.

BUILDING SHAREHOLDER TRUST Companies today
must demonstrate a frue commitment to responsible,
proactive and independent governance. From our inception,
SIRVA has focused on earning the trust and respect of

our shareholders. We have a strong Board of Directors
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that operates with full disclosure and transparency and
that works hard to meet the highest standards of fiduciary
responsibility and corporate effectiveness. Our Directors
truly act as stewards. They uphold the spirit and letter of
our own code of conduct, spelled out in SIRVA's Guide to
the Code of Business Conduct, everywhere we operate.
Our Board oversees a corporate strategy designed to
deliver predictable future growth and a competitive return
on invested capital. As we lock for an appropriate balance
between short- and long-term results, our bias is always
to maximize wealth creation over the long term.

In November of 2003, we completed our initial public
offering (IPO). We used the proceeds to pay down debt.
We also were able to recapitalize the balance sheet, cut-
ting our interest payments in half. At a time when many
economies are still sluggish or in the early stages of recov-
ery, we delivered a strong financial performance. Our

operating revenues increased 8 percent, our pro forma
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income from operations rose 38 percent, and we gener-
ated $89 million of free cash flow. And we accomplished
this while reinvesting heavily in our “Relocation
Redefined" strategy.

ALIGNING WITH CUSTOMERS As corporations and
governments focus on operational excellence, they seek
suppliers who understand their needs and align their
process capability to meet or exceed them. Even though
each customer has different priorities, they are all looking
for service providers who help make them more compet-
itive. Similarly, individual employees and their families
have their own expectations and emotions as they navi-
gate this exhilarating and stressful time. Organizations
and individuals alike seek a trustworthy provider they
can depend on to manage the details,

We have become our customers’ best choice for the
comprehensive set of solutions that include household
goods moving, home sale, home purchase, mortgage,

titles, appraisals, expense management, expatriate




support and a variety of other services. We serve more
than 2,500 corporate clients and many military and gov-
ernmental institutions around the world. This number is
growing with the recent additions to our roster of reloca-
tion customers, including Dell, KPMG, ChevronTexaco,
Delphi and Winn-Dixie. In addition, 185,000 private trans-
ferees came to our brands for their relocation needs

in 2003.

EXPANDING QUR NETWORK We owe much of our
success to our broad network of moving agents and
independent drivers, real estate agents and appraisers,
destination service providers and other key suppliers.
These experienced professionals commit to uphold the
SIRVA brand and its promised value proposition by doing
their part to make every relocation an exceptional experi-
ence. We enthusiastically embrace all their efforts to
improve their operations and enhance the competitiveness
of the SIRVA value proposition. SIRVA will continue to
expand its network of service providers around the world
to provide our customers high-quality relocation solutions.

CREATING JOBS AND CAREER OPPORTUNITIES We have
created an upbeat, challenging work environment where
informality and trust permeate our culture. It's a place
where ideas rule—ideas valued on their merits versus the
status of their source. It's not who you know, but what
you know. It's not what your title is, but what your perfor-
mance is. Its a place where you get compensated for job
worth and performance, where recognition and career
advancement opportunities are highly differentiated. It’s a
place where you like hanging around with your teammates.
We hire for attitude and cultural fit. it's a place where our
employees immerse themselves in a culture of winning—
and winning the right way. The best way to provide exciting
job opportunities for talented people around the world is

to win in the marketplace. And SIRVA is winning.

OUR PERSONAL APPRECIATION We want to thank our
Board of Directors and especially Clayton, Dubilier & Rice
(CD&R) for its savvy insight to invest in this market space
in 1998. We appreciate the time and energy it invested to
reshape our strategic intent and restructure our business
model. CD&R provided us with access to the financial
capital for growth and the best practices of a high-integrity
meritocracy.

The governance of our company is in excellent shape.
QOur Directors are independent in their advice, knowl-
edgeable about the business, highly interested in the
management team and engaged both strategically
and financially.

We also want to thank our associates for their tremen-

_dous contribution to our company. Their industry knowledge

and experience, creativity and innovativeness, hustle
and tenacity enable us to meet and deliver on our value
proposition to customers and shareholders.

We are thrilled with the opportunity to create something
very special at SIRVA. [t is becoming a company like no
other in its industry. We are passionately committed to
delivering on the promises we've made in this letter, and
we fully understand and appreciate the privilege of leading
SIRVA in its intent to become the world’s best relocation

solutions company.

e

James W. Rogers
Chairman of the Board

-

Brian P. Kelley
President and
Chief Executive Officer
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(Above) Expatriates enjoy some family time

exploring Hong Kong while SIRVA takes
care of the relocation details. (Right) SIRVA
Global Assignment Consultants in London,
like Ana Bragado, have the expertise to give
clients and their transferees the support
they need—whether it's finding a school

or dealing with local tax issues.
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The Global Relocation industry

We estimate the global industry for outsourced relocation services and
household goods moving is at least $50 billion. The industry provides a
variety of services that support the relocation of households for three distinct
customer channels:

s Corporations that pay for the relocation of their employees.

e Governments that pay for the relocation of military and civilian personnel.

¢ |ndividual households that pay for their own relocation.

While the services provided to employees differ by customer channel and
by company, some of the more frequently offered services include: home sale
and home purchase assistance; the arranging of mortgage, title and appraisal;
househeld goods moving; visa and immigration services; destination services;
expense management; and policy administration, among many other services.
The typical U.S. company may spend in excess of $60,000 to relocate an
employee domestically and up to three times his or her annual salary to
relocate an employee internationally.

Spending by customers is largely driven by the number of employees relo-
cated per year and the level of services that are provided to their transferring
employees. Therefore, corporations, intent o’n quickly and satisfactorily transferring
their executives and families to a new assignment, typically spend more than
governments, military organizations and individual consumers per transaction.

The relocation industry is large, growing and full of opportunity for SIRVA-
as we continually expand our capabilities and footprint around the world. With
over 7,700 employees in more than 40 countries, we are positioned to meet
the growing customer need for relocation solutions that reduce cost, improve

employee satisfaction and are easy to administer for our clients.

Global Relocation Industry Size: $50 Billion

North America 52%

Europe 34% / N

Asia Pacific 14%

Source: SIRVA estimates
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RELOCATIONS PER YEAR
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Putting the Customer First

= n the global relocation business, leadership is about being the best, not the

biggest. After all, we're dealing with our clients’ most important asset—their
people. Winning requires offering a comprehensive range of relocation services
customized to each client’s needs. And, it requires being able to exceed their
ever—risiﬁg expectations. So what do customers want in Global Relocation
Solutions today? '

COMPRENENSIVE SERVICES —CUSTOMIZED SOLUTIONS Our clients need
access to a broad range of services as they relocate employees across their
global operations. Our SIRVA counselors, in 17 client service centers around
the world, have the expertise to tailor our services to fit each family just right.
These customized solutions, and the care with which SIRVA counselors
deliver them, make our offering uniquely satisfying to clients.

SINGLE POINT OF ACCOUNTABILITY Our corporate clients, and their transfer-
nng employees, each want a single point of contact during the relocation
process. And, most important, they want a single point of accountability for all
services provided. So, we assign a dedicated account manager to each corpo-
rate client and a SIRVA counselor to each relocating family. These experts feel
personally accountable for consistently delivering relocations that both the
employer and employee see as a success.

GLOBAL REACH—LOCAL EXPERTISE An increasing number of companies are
relocating employees around the world. We've built SIRVA with these clients in
mind. With employees operating in more than 40 countries and a provider net-
work that covers over 175 countries, we can relocate virtually anyone, anytime,
anywhere. And we do it with a technology-driven process that lets our clients
track progress, costs and delivery in a global, Web-based application.

EXCEPTIONAL VALUE Of course, the most important reguirement from clients
today is that they get a great value—ever-improving quality at a fair price and
with no surprises and little risk. They have to see the value and feel it—every day.

Putting the customer first also means being the thought leader, staying ahead
of relocation trends, anticipating shifts in the global business environment and
helping clients continually improve their relocation policies. This allows our cus-
tomers to focus on their core business, confident that their relocation needs

are in SIRVA's capable hands.

{Above) SIRVA works with Human

Resources managers at companies around

the world to help them understand the
broad range of services the company offers.
{Left) SIRVA's Relocation Counselors,

like Constance McLean, provide a single
point of contact for transferees and are
passionately commiited to making every

relocation a resounding success.
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{Above) SIRVA's relocation network

stretches across the United States—and
around the world. Transferees benefit from
our extensive knowledge of the cultural
and leisure activities that await them.
{Right) A SIRVA transferee in Hong Kong

makes a smoaoth transition.
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Global Reach

An increasing number of companies are expanding their operations around
the world. As they deploy their talent globally, they need a service
provider who offers the full range of relocation solutions to ensure the transi-
tion is smooth, efficient and hassle-free.

SIRVA has a global network of relocation service providers operating to
exacting standards in more than 175 countries. By virtue of conducting more
than 365,000 relocations around the world in 2003, we've seen just about
everything when it comes to relocating families in the United States, through-
out Europe and across the Pacific Rim.

We've built our company with these families in mind. In our 17 client service
centers around the world, we have more than 350 SIRVA counselors who speak
over 30 languages and represent many nationalities. This allows them to offer
their deep expertise, local knowledge and human touch to families during one
of the most exciting times of their lives.

These counselors are supported by our 12 major moving brands around the
world, each bringing the professionalism, courtesy and local know-how that
make our customers return time and time again. They also coordinate the exper-
tise of our network of realtors, appraisers and destination service providers who
assist families as they buy and sell homes, acclimate to a new environment

and settle into their new lives.

Typical Corporate Relocation Costs in U.S.:
Approximately $60,000

Home Sale $28.874
O Household Goods Moving $9,858
C Gross-Up/Misc. $7918
@ Home Purchase $6,486
O Temporary Living $5,689
@ Home Finding $1,828

Source: Employee Relocation Council
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innovation

# taying ahead of the game requires constantly asking the right questions.
%<7 Our first question is, “How do customers experience our services?”

The second is, “How can we continually improve their satisfaction?” The
answers lead us to a business purpose that drives our people every day—
“Relocation Redefined”
RELOCATION REDEFINED {t simply means developing solutions for our cus-

-tomers that align our business goals and objectives with their interests. It
requires deep listening and constant communication. It requires a willingness
to change the way we work and the way the industry works to bring solutions to
customers that eliminate trade-offs. It means putting the customer first in our
thinking. And when we do it right, the result often means a radical redefinition

of services in the marketplace.

Customer Insight SIRVA Innovation

“I'd like to streamline the number Comprehensive Relocation Solutions
of suppliers we work with in relocation.” @ ¢ One source for all relocation services

—Purchasing Executive s Transparent approach to costing

“My employees want to move in the
summer, yet that's the hardest time to
schedule a move.!  —Human Resources Executive

Guaranteed Capacity in Summer
¢ Locks in schedule for corporate clients
* Assures quality delivery

"I don't want three different
companies handling my
international move " —mansferee

Allied International Moving
* |argest worldwide moving network
» “Orange to Orange” worldwide

Fixed-Fee Relocation

¢ Predictable costs that can be budgeted,
including mortgage

* SIRVA takes total responsibility

"I need a better way to budget relocation
costs—they are just too unpredictable”
—Human Resources Executive

"Why can't we offer all employees some Home Benefits at Work
of the benefits we give to transferees?” @ « A package of moving, mortgage and

—Human Resources Executive reaitor services for alt employees

National Association of
Independent Truckers
s 26,500 independent driver members

“l'own my own truck. How can | get
the services | need at a great value?”
—independent Owner-Operator Driver

¢ One-stop shop for services/support

Customized Web Sites
* www.moveourhome.com for employees

“1'd like a Web site that can help me
prepare for every element of my

relocation.” —Transferee * “SIRVA Client Connection” for employer

and HR leaders

{Above) SIRVA offers an energetic work

environment where informality and trust
flourish, and where open and honest dialogue
is @ way of life. SIRVA employees (from left)
Nicole Blanchard, Sach Chitnis and Shana
Zollar gather for an impromptu meeting.
{Left) Language lessons give transferees
and their families the foundation they need
to thrive in a new culture—and a new

business environment.
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(Above) Our global network of real estate

agents helps transferees make sound deci-
sions. (Right) In Australia and around the
world, SIRVA “Removalists,” like Allied
Pickfords’ Kieran Gill. bring professionalism,

reliability and integrity to every move.
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Powerful Network

It takes a concerted team effort to make a great move happen. It must be
well-planned and perfectly executed on many fronts. And while a variety of
experts all contribute to a successful relocation, it must be fully orchestrated
and controlled in a seamless manner for the transferee.

We couldn't be more proud of our network of service providers who deliver
relocation services to our customers around the world. They share our dedica-
tion to bring to market the highest level of customer service every day. Our
household goods moving agents in the United States and around the world
work diligently to assure transferring families’ personal possessions arrive safely
and in original condition at their new home. Our network of realtors helps
families make sound, fulfilling choices in both the home selling and buying pro-
cess. And, our destination service providers bring their local knowledge and
unigue expertise to a family’s needs as they settle in a new iocation. These
services include everything from language training, school finding, spousal job
placement and city orientation to where to find the best local restaurants.

Bringing the strength of our network to the customer requires detailed
coordination and & strong relationship with each member of our network. And,
it also requires rigorous attention 1o the following key elements to thoroughly
enhance the customer'’s experience:

* Consistent, High Standards of Quality to ensure each service provider
delivers to the rising expectations of our customers.

¢ Extensive Training and Certification to continually sharpen our network
of capabilities and expertise.

* Process Discipline to understand customers’ needs and improve our
process capability to deliver them.

¢ (Continuous, Open Communication to quickly share best practices
around the globe for our customers.

ALLIED
PICKFORDS

_AlLED &=

Part of every relocation is a great household goods move delivered via our worldwide

network of agents. Here are four of SIRVA's strongest brands.
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High-Performance Culture

e know our success is based on our ability to create a culture where

¥ values matter, where personal leadership is rewarded and where
strong results are the expected outcome. We attract talented individuals who
thrive in this culture—who want to personally contribute to our goal of becom-
ing the best in the world.

Qur culture is one of informality and trust. We talk openly and honestly—
simple and straight. We practice boundaryless behavior, which means we
share ideas and best practices across our family of brands, countries and busi-
ness units. We stress noncomplacency and stretch targets—always striving to
expand, grow and think of new ideas that will benefit our customers and our
company. Finally, we stress individual and joint accountability, and believe that

each of us is responsible for delivery on the SIRVA promise to our customers.

SIRVA Values

Unyielding integrity  [n everything we say and do..

Customer-centric Responsive to their rising expectations.

Associate-oriented Fair, inclusive Human Resources process and an upbeat environment.

Performance-based  Winning relative to the external market.

Leadership-driven A passion to be the bestA

SIRVA Leadership Traits

Energy Tremendous personal stamina and character.
Energize Ability to positively influence others.

Edge Intellectual honesty and the courage to face reality.
Execute Doing what you say you are going to do.

{Above) Members of SIRVA's finance team,

including (from left) Carrie Gonzalez, Scoﬁ‘
Lindeman and Chris Nelson, help support
SIRVA's commitment to generate predictable
future earnings growth. (Left} SIRVA takes
the stress out of relocation by managing the
entire process—so transferees can focus

on the opportunities ahead.
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{Above) In 2003, SIRVA's Center of
Excellence in London supported hundreds
of relocations into and out of the United
Kingdom. (Right) Two new friends, born on
different sides of the world, found common
ground in Sydney after their families

relocated there.

SIRVA's senior management team, with
NYSE President and Co-Chief Operating
Officer Catherine Kinney (third from left,

front row), celebrates the company’s initial
public offering by ringing the Opening Bell
at the New York Stock Exchange on
December 5, 2003, the week after SIRVA

went public.
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Qur Business Model:
Generating Sustainable Growth

, ur primary business is selling relocation solutions to our corporate,

consumer, military and government clients around the world. The other
fundamental element of our business is selling value-added network services to
drivers, fleets and moving companies both inside and outside our network. These
two business platforms provide the basis for our long-term growth. And deliv-
ering improved value to our customers is the core driver of our future success.

ATTRACTIVE CUSTOMER BASE With over 2,500 corporate and government
clients globally, and thousands of individual consumers and independent drivers
as customers, no single commercial client represents more than 2 percent of
our operating revenue. Our well-positioned brands and services give us unique
access to this base of global customers.

MULTIPLE OPPORTUNITIES FOR GROWTH Qur Relocation Solutions business
and our Network Services business give us two platforms for growth. And
within each, there is significant opportunity to expand our service offering, our
client base and our geographic presence. There is also a large opportunity to
sell additional services to current clients.

OPERATING EARNINGS LEVERAGE These growth opportunities have enabled
us to grow revenues at a rate faster than we have grown our costs, yielding
powerful financial leverage. As our mix of business continues to shift to high-
value relocation services and network services, this operating leverage
further improves.

LOW CAPITAL INTENSITY Because of the relatively asset-light nature of our
business, our growth does not require a high level of ongoing capital spending.
We anticipate our yearly capital expenditures to roughly equal our annual
depreciation over the long term.

ATTRACTIVE CASH FLOW This combination of strong operating earnings
leverage and modest capital requirements yields an ability to generate strong
cash flows. We know these financial benefits are generated only if we continu-
ally bring value to our customers better and faster than our competitors. So,

that focus is the very core of our company and our most important priority.
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SIRVA at a Glance
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Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

OVERVIEW

We are a world leader in the global relocation industry, providing our solutions
to a well-established and diverse customer base, including transferring corporate
and government employees and moving individual consumers. We operate in
more than 40 countries under well-recognized brand namas including Allied®,
northAmerican®, Global® and SIRVA Relocation in North America, Pickfords® in
the United Kingdom, Maison Huet® in France, Kungsholms in Sweden, ADAM

in Denmark, Majortrans Flytteservice in Norway and Allied Pickfords in the Asia -
Pacific region. We are redefining the global relocation market by combining our
relocation service offerings with our proprietary moving services network on a
global basis. This unique combination is driving our growth by addressing our
corporate and government customers’ needs for a comprehensive service offering
with global reach from a single supplier. In addition, we offer a variety of services
targeted at meeting the needs of truck drivers, fleet owners and agents, both
inside and outside our proprietary agent network.

Our Historical Development

in 1988, Clayton, Dubitier & Rice Fund V Limited Partnership organized us to
acquire North American Van Lines, Inc., one of the largest U.S. moving services
companies by number of shipments and a significant provider of specialty trans-
portation services, from Norfolk Southern Corporation. In 1999, we acquired the
Allied and Pickfords businesses from NFC plc, now known as Exel, plc. The inte-
gration of these two businesses drove substantial operating synergies as a result
of back-office rationalization, significant scale economies and an expanded inter-
national service offering. The acquisitions of Allied and Pickfords also brought us
additional specialty transportation businesses and Transguard, a leading provider
of insurance services to moving agents, fleet owners and owner operator drivers.
We have since completed a number of acquisitions to fill out our global maving:
footprint. In June 2002, we acquired Maison Huet, solidifying our market position
in France. In June 2003, we acquired Scanvan, a leading moving services company
in Scandinavia that employs an asset-light network-manager model very similar
to our U.S. moving services business. The integration of these market-leading
businesses into a single company has created a proprietary moving services ful-
filiment netwark with unmatched global reach and capabilities.

In the late 1990s, we recognized an increasing trend for corporate customers
to outsource all aspects of an employee relocation, including household goods
relocatian, to relocation service providers. We viewed this trend as an opportunity
to offer our customers higher-value services, deepen our customer relationships
and move into a complementary and growing market. Consequently, we began a
thorough review of the industry for an acquisition candidate that would both meet
our requirements for innovative, high-quality services and make us a leader in
providing comprehensive relocation services to corporate customers.

As a result of this effort, we acquired the relocation services business of
Cooperative Resource Services, Ltd., or CRS, in May 2002. CRS was a leading
independent provider of outsourced relocation services with an innovative and
differentiated fixed-fee product offering. Later that year, we acquired Rowan
Simmons, a leading independent provider of outsourced relocation services in
the United Kingdom. With the 2003 opening of our office in Hong Kong and the
December 2003 acquisition of PRS Europe, a Belgium-based relocation services
provider, we now have a global relocation services capability that, when com-
bined with our worldwide moving services network, is unique in the industry.

In April 2002, we purchased NAIT, a leading provider of insurance services
to independent contract truck drivers. In December 2003, we acquired Move-Pak,
a major program administrator for moving and storage insurance. Through our
Transguard insurance unit, we offer insurance products tailored to the needs of

22 SIRVA, Inc. 2003 Annual Report

the transpartation industry and that provide attractive financial returns. Histarically,
the primary market for these and other fleet services was our network affiliates.
The acquisitions of NAIT and Move-Pak expanded the potential sales channel for
pre-existing insurance and fleet sarvices.

Operating Segments

Our business operates in four segments: Relocation Solutions — North America,
Relocation Solutions — Europe and Asia Pacific, Network Services and
Transportation Solutions. We sometimes refer to our Relocation Solutions —
North America and Relocation Solutions — Europe and Asia Pacific segments
together as Global Relocation Solutions.

Global Relocation Solutions We offer a comprehensive suite of relocation solutions
to our mare than 2,500 corporate and gavernment customers around the world.
We offer a wide variety of employee relocation services including the sale of
employees’ homes, movement of their household goods, purchase of their new
homes and provision of destination services. In addition, we provide our corporate
customers with moving services for products that require special handling and
constant monitoring due to their high value. Qur relocation solutions services are
provided by a team of over 6,000 employees around the world and a netwark of
agents and other service providers.

Relocation Solutions — North America We provide our moving services through
our proprietary branded network of 760 agents who own the trucks and trailers
used in moves and are responsible for packing, hauling and storage, and distribu-
tion of household goods. We act as a network manager for our agents, providing,
among other things, brand management, load optimization, billing, collection and
claims handling. Historically, our operating revenues for this segment have been
derived predominantly from our moving services business.

Relocation Solutions — Europe and Asia Pacific We provide moving services
through a network of company-owned and agent-owned locations in the United
Kingdom, Continental Europe and the Asia Pacific region. To date, our operating
revenues for this segment have been derived predominantly from our moving
services business.

Network Services We offer a variety of services for truck drivers, fleet owners
and agents, both inside and outside our network. Services offered include insur-
ance coverage such as vehicle liability, occupational accident, physical damage
and inland marine insurance coverage, as well as truck maintenance and repair
services and group purchasing. In addition, we offer a suite of services including
fuel, cell phone, tire services, legal assistance and retirement programs to the
members of our National Assaciation of Independent Truckers, an association

of independent contract truck drivers. As of December 31, 2003, the association
had approximately 26,500 owner gperator members.

Transportation Solutions We provide inventory management solutions, using
propristary asset management technology, to coardinate a variety of services
such as arder fulfiliment, project-specific delivery management and the tracing
of products through a customer’s supply chain.

Critical Accounting Pelicies

Our accounting policies are described in Note 1 to our consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this report. The preparation of financial
statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions in certain
circumstances that affect amounts reported in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements and related notes. In preparing these financial statements,
management has made its best estimates and judgments of certain amounts
included in the financial statements, giving due consideration to materiality.




Application of these accounting policies involves the exercise of judgment and
use of assumptions as to future uncertainties and, as a result, actual results
could differ from these estimates.

Revenue recognition For our moving services, we recognize estimated gross
operating revenues to be invoiced to the transportation customer and all related
transportation expenses an the date a shipment is delivered or services are com-
pleted. Calculations by shipment are based upon estimated weights resulting
from a survey of the home and the known distance between origin and destina-
tion. The estimate of revenue remains in a receivable account called Delivered
Not Processed, or DNP, until the customer is invoiced. Concurrent with the DNP
estimate, we recognize an accrual for purchased transportation expenses, or PTE,
to account for the estimated costs of packing services, transportation expenses
and other such costs associated with the service delivery. The estimate for PTE is

not adjusted until we determine actual charges in accordance with agent compen-

sation guidelines, or until we are invoiced for actual charges, which is typically
within 30 days of the estimate. The increase is due to higher levels of insurance
business volume.

For our real estate-related relocation services, fees are paid to us by corpo-
rate customers at either a fixed price per transferred employee or based upan a
fixed percentage of the home's selling price. In either case, revenue is recognized
when a home sale contract with the ultimate buyer is signed. If we purchase a
property from the transferee when no outside buyer has been located, revenue
is not recognized on that property until the closing of a sale to an outside buyer.
Additionally, fees are paid to us by company-qualified real estate agents for the
home sale listing or home purchase referral of a transferred employee and are
recognized as revenue when a home sale contract with the buyer is signed.

In connection with the adoption of EITF 99-19, “Reporting Revenue Gross as
a Principal versus Net as an Agent” (“EITF 93-19”), we performed an initial review
of our different revenue streams to assess the appropriate presentation of each

source of revenue. Since that time, and as the underlying business has developed,

we review each new revenue stream and periodically reassess our analysis of
existing revenue streams to determine the appropriate presentation. Based on
these assessments and the guidance contained in EITF 9949, we recognize the
majority of our operating revenues on a gross basis.

Insurance reserves We have first dollar insurance coverage, subject to specified
deductibles, for principally all insurable business risks except cargo damage
claims, delay claims and claims in our insurance business. Our multiple-line
property and commercial liability insurance group sets its reserve rates based
on a percentage of earned premium. The percentage is based on historical data,
run rates and actuarial methods. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, our insurance
reserves totaled $53.7 million and $48.7 million, respectively; however, actual
results may be materially different from our current estimates. The increase is
due to higher levels of insurance business volume.

Claims reserves We estimate costs relating to cargo damage based principally on
actuarial methods applied to historical trends. Both the frequency of claims and
the severity of claims influence claim costs. Claim frequency, measured by the
ratio of claims to shipments, generally falls within a relatively small range and is
influenced by the volume of shipments and the type of product being transparted.
Claim severity, measured as the average cost per claim, is influenced by the type
of product transported as well as by the coverage level chosen by the customer.
These historical metrics are used to record a provision in the current period
for the cost to settle claims that have been incurred but will be settled in future
periods. The customer generally files a claim for damage shortly after the service
is completed, but the settlement process can extend from a period of a few
months to several years. As a result of the length of the settlement cycle, it is
necessary to utilize frequency and severity trends to estimate current period

claims expenses that are derived from prior years, as these years contain more
fully developed claims experience. An analysis is performed each guarter com-
paring open and closed claim costs, as well as estimates for incurred but not
reported claim costs, to the original estimates, and changes to those estimates
are recorded as apprapriate. Cargo claims expense was $33.8 million, $26.1 million
and $39.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respec-
tively. Claim frequency and severity improved in 2001 and 2002 as compared to
historical trends. The frequency improvement was due primarily to lower shipment
volumes and quality-control initiatives. As the volume of shipments declined, the
need to pack and load household goods shipments on one truck and then transfer
the shipment to another truck for the movement and ultimate delivery to destination,
a practice necessary in the peak summer season when hauling is near full capacity,
also declined. In addition, lower specialized transportation volumes resulted in
less congested warehouse facilities, a candition that can favorably affect product
handling. With the freight being handled fewer times, the opportunity for damage
is reduced and claim frequency generally declines. We also implemented quality-
control initiatives including driver training and modified packing procedures that
contributed to the lower tevel of claims. The shipment volume declines and quality-
control initiatives were considered as part of the cargo claims estimates; however,
our actual experience was better than management’s original estimates. At
December 31, 2003 and 2002, our claims reserves totaled $22.4 million and

$27.2 million, respectively; however, actual results may be materially different
from our current estimates.

Allowance for doubtful accounts An allowance for doubtful accounts and notes
receivable is maintained for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our
customers or agents to make required payments. If the financial condition of our
customers and agents were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their
ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required. Qur allowances
for doubtful accounts and notes receivable as of December 31, 2003 and 2002
amounted to $21.1 million and $25.1 million, and represented 5.4% and 7.5% of
our accounts receivable balances, respectively. Actual resuits may be materially
different from our current estimates.

Goodwill and intangible assets We amortized goodwill and other intangible assets
over their useful lives pricr to the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards ("SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwil! and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142",
on January 1, 2002. Useful lives were based on management’s estimates of the
periods that the assets will generate operating revenues. Following our adoption
of SFAS 142, we no longer amortize goodwill and intangible assets having indefi-
nite useful lives; however, we were required to perform an initial impairment
review in 2002, which did not result in an impairment charge. This standard also
requires that an annual impairment review be performed, which requires us to
place a fair value on the individual reporting units of our business. This required
us to select an appropriate method of valuation for our business using discounted
estimated cash flows and to assess assumptions inherent in such a method on

an annual basis. In addition, whenever events or changes in circumstances indi-
cate that the carrying value of goodwill and other intangible assets might not be
recaverable, we will perform an impairment review.

The judgments we make in determining whether our goodwill and other intan-
gible assets are impaired will directly affect our reported operating income, since
any time we determine that any of these assets are impaired, we will be required
to recognize a charge in our statement of operations for the relevant period equal
to the decline in value of such assets. Our goodwill and other intangible assets
totaled $583.5 million at December 31, 2003 and $559.3 million at December 31,
2002, which in each case included $408.7 million related to the original purchases
of North American Van Lines, Inc. and the Allied and Pickfords businesses.

SIRVA, Inc. 2003 Annual Report 23




Management’'s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their useful lives using a
straight-line amortization method for all time periods presented. For customer and
member relationships, those lives range from 7 to 18 years and for covenants not

to compete, lives range from 2 to 5 years. Commencing October 1, 2003, we amor-

tized customer and member relationship intangible assets over their remaining
useful lives using an accelerated amortization method to more closely reflect the
pattern in which economic benefits of the intangible assets are utilized. Under
this method, approximately 50% of the intangible asset will be amortized over the
first 5 years of their respective useful lives, which average 14.5 years, thereby
resulting in approximately half of the amartization expense being recognized over
the first third of the intangible’s useful life.

Pensions and other postretirement benefits We pravide a range of benefits to
our current and retired employees, including defined benefit retirement plans,
postretirement health care and life insurance benefits and postemployment
benefits (primarily severance). We record annual amounts relating to these plans
hased on calculations specified by generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP), which include various actuarial assumptions, such as discount rates,
assumed rates of return, compensation increases, turnover rates and health care
cost trend rates. We review our actuarial assumptions on an annual hasis and
make modifications to the assumptions based on current rates and trends when

it is deemed appropriate to do so. As required by GAAP, the effect of the modifica-

tions is generally recorded or amortized over future periods. We believe that the
assumptions utilized in recording our obligations under our plans are reasonable
based on our experience and advice from our actuaries.

Impairment of long-lived assets We periodically assess impairments of our long-
lived assets in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for
the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets” (“SFAS 144"). An impairment
review is performed whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may nat be recoverable. Factors considered by us include, but
are not limited to, significant underperformance relative to expected historical or
projected future operating results; significant changes in the manner of use of the
acquired assets or the strategy for our overall business; and significant negative
industry or economic trends. When we determine that the carrying value of a
long-lived asset may not be recoverable based upon the existence of one or more
of the above impairment indicators, we estimate the future undiscounted cash
flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition.

If the sum of these expected future undiscounted cash flows and eventual disposi-

tion is less than the carrying amount of the asset, we calculate an impairment
loss. An impairment loss is equal to the difference between the fair value of the
asset and its carrying value. Fair value is generally determined using a discounted
cash flow methodalogy.

As discussed in our consolidated financial statements, certain software
modules were reviewed for impairment in connection with a change in busingss
strategy at the end of 2002. As a result of this exercise, we recorded asset
impairment charges of $7.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Commitments and contingencies We evaluate contingent (iabilities including
threatened or pending litigation in accordance with SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for
Contingencies” {“SFAS 5”), and record accruals when the outcome of these mat-
ters is deemed probable and the liability is reasonably estimable. We make these
assessments based on the facts and circumstances and in some instances based
in part on the advice of outside counsel.
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Income taxes We foilow SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes”

{"SFAS 108"). Under the asset and liability method of SFAS 108, deferred tax
assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable
to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing
assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are measured using enacted tax laws and tax rates expected 1o apply
to taxable income in the years in which thase temporary differences are expected

"to be recavered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities due

to a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the
enactment date. In addition, the amounts of any future tax benefits are reduced
by a valuation allowance to the extent such benefits are not expected to be real-
ized on a more likely than not basis. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, our gross
deferred tax assets totaled $93.3 million and $34.6 million, respectively, with cor-
responding valuation allowances of $0.7 million and $0.6 million at December 31,
2003 and 2002, respectively.

Allowance for relocation properties held for resale An allowance is maintained
for the amount by which the estimated price of our homes in inventory is less
than the purchase price. If we experience a reduction in the market value of the
homes in inventory, additional allowances may be required. Qur allowances for
loss on the disposition of homes in inventory as of December 31, 2003 and 2002
amounted to $2.2 mitlion and $1.8 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2003,
we had reduced our allowance for relocation properties held for resale to 4.3% of
our at-risk home inventory from 7.0% at December 31, 2002, which resulted in an
increase in operating income of approximately $1.4 million. The reserve had been
increased in 2002 and early 2003 due to concerns about a housing bubble and a
product mix change to shorter marketing periods prior to our acquiring the home
into inventory; however, neither of these two concerns have materialized, and the
allowance was adjusted accordingly.

Seasonality

Our operations are subject to seasonal trends. Operating revenues and income
from operations for the quarters ending in March and December are typically
lower than the quarters ending in June and September. The stronger performance
in the second and third quarters is due to the higher shipment count asscciated
with the summer moving season, which also allows for somewnhat higher pricing
than in the winter months.

The seasonal impact on our quarterly operating revenues and income from
operations is illustrated by the following table showing quarterly operating rev-
enues and income from operations as a percent of the total for the indicated
full fiscal year:

First Second Third Fourth
2003 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Operating revenues 20% 25% 3% 24%
Income from operations 10% 20% 44% 26%

First Second Third Fourth
2002 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
(Operating revenues 20% 248% 31% 25%
Income from operations 8% 25% 49% 20%

Foreign Currency Translation

The vast majority of our operations incur expenses in the same currency in
which the corresponding operating revenues are generated. As a consequence,
the effects of foreign currency fluctuations on our operating results are limited




principally to the translation of our activities outside of the United States from
their local currency into the U.S. dollar. Income from operations for 2003 from
non-U.S. operations amounted to $32.6 million, or 36.8% of our consolidated
income from operations. Additionally, a total of 40.7% of our long-lived assets
at December 31, 2003 were denominated in currencies other than the U.S.
dollar. The functional currency for our non-U.S. subsidiaries is the local currency
for the country in which the subsidiaries own their primary assets. We have
operations in several foreign countries including those that use the Canadian
dollar, the British pound sterling, the Australian dollar or the euro as their
functional currencies.

The translation of the applicable currencies into U.S. dollars is performed for
balance sheet accounts using current exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet
date and for revenue and expense accounts using a weighted-average exchange
rate during the period. The effect of U.S. dollar currency exchange rates in Canada,
the United Kingdom, the Euro zone, Australia and other countries in which we
operate produced net currency translation adjustment gains of $10.3 million and

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

$6.7 million, net of tax, respactively, which were recorded as an adjustment to
stockholders' equity as an elemant of other comprehensive income, for the years
ended December 31, 2003 and 2002.

Taxation

For the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, our estimated provision for
income taxes was lower than the amount computed by applying the U.S. federal
and state statutory rates. This favorable difference is due primarily to {1) differ-
ences in the mix of the statutory rates between the U.S. and countries where we
have permanently reinvested earnings and (2) tax incentive programs that we
have qualified for under the laws of certain jurisdictions. For the year ended
December 31, 2001, our estimated provision for income taxes was in excess of
the amount computed by applying the U.S. federal and state statutory rates. This
unfavorable difference was primarily due to {1) the non-deductibility of amortiza-
tion expense associated with certain intangible assets and {2) limitations that
existed in the availability of certain foreign income tax credits.

The following table sets forth information concerning our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, also expressed as a percentage

of our operating revenues for the respective periods.

Dollars in millions, years ended December 37, 2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 2001
Operating revenues $2,349.9 $2,1856 $2,243.3 100.0% 100.0 % 100.0 %
Operating expenses:

Purchased transportation expense 1,299.9 1,303.2 1,438.8 55.3% 59.6 % 64.0%

Other direct expenses 576.1 453.9 4264 24.5% 21.2% 19.0 %
Gross margin 473.9 4185 3841 20.2% 19.1% 17.1%
General and administrative expanse 3381 3199 315.8 14.4% 146% 14.0%
Goodwill and intangibles amortization 6.1 38 109 0.3% 02% 05%
Restructuring and other unusual items 35 0.4 49 0.1% 0.0% 02%
Income from operations ! 126.2 943 52.5 5.4% 43% 23%
Other income {expense) and minority interest 0.4 08) 0.0 0.0% 0.0% (0.01%
Debt extinguishment expense 2 376 - - 1.6% - -
Interest expense 60.3 612 69.2 2.6% 28% 3%
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 9.7 117 0.1} 0.4% 05% {0.0)%
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax - - 03) - - (0.0)%
Net income floss) $ 19.0 $ 208 $ (169 0.8% 1.0 % {0.81%

! For the year ended December 31, 2003, we recognized $3.5 million of non-cash equity-based compensation expense in relation to stock subscriptions and stock option grants made to certain
managers and directors in 2003, The expense has been recorded as the difference between the subscription or exercise price and the deemed fair valve of our common and redeemable common
stock on the date of grant in accordance with APB Z5. The total non-cash equity-based compensation expense to be recognized by us in respect of these transactions is $6.8 million. We expect
to recognize $1.5 million, $0.9 million, $0.5 million, $0.3 million and $0.1 million in each of 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.

2 For the year ended December 31, 2003, we recognized $37.6 million of debt extinguishment expense, consisting of $25.0 million of bond tender premium on the 13%/8% senior subordinated notes
and a $12.6 million write-off of deferred debt issuance costs on the prior senior credit facility and indenture.

Operating Revenues
Our operating revenues are derived from our Global Relocation Sclutions, Network
Services and Transportation Solutions operations.

Operating revenues from aur Global Relocation Solutions operations are com-
posed of amounts billed to each of our corporate, government and military, and
consumer customers upon the completion of relocation or transportation services.
These include the provision of relocation and global mability services such as home
sale and purchase, realty and mortgage assistance, as well as comprehensive
moving and storage services both at origin and destination. In addition, we bill our
corporate customers for providing specialized transportation services for high-value
products that require specialized handling capabilities. In our U.S. and Canadian

moving operations, a high percentage of the operating revenues generated is for
services provided under exclusive contracts with our affiliated agents and owner
operators, the costs of which are included in purchased transportation expenses.
Operating revenues from our Network Services segment include premiums

billed for the provision of insurance coverage such as auto liability, occupational
accident, physical damage and inland marine insurance coverage. Our operating
revenues also include certain earned commissions for referring our clients to
other insurance providers. Additionally, our operating revenues also include fees
charged to the independent drivers in our association for access to a suite of
services to independent truck drivers that includes fuel, cell phone, tire services,
legal assistance and retirement programs, and the provision of maintenance
and repair services.
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Operating revenues from our Transportation Solutions segment represent
charges billed for our inventory management expertise, which coordinates a
variety of services such as purchased transportation, order fulfillment, project-
specific delivery management and the tracing of products through the customer’s
supply chain.

Purchased Transportation Expense

Purchased transportation expense, or PTE, represents amounts paid by us ta

independent third parties, such as agents, owner operators and third-party

carriers, for providing capabilities for the fulfillment of our customer moving
and transportation needs.

e In our Relocation Solutions — North America segment, PTE consists of
amounts paid to owner operators for transportation services; packing and
loading service fees, as well as associated assessorial services; agent
commissions; and other third-party transportation services.

¢ Inour Relocation Solutions ~ Europe and Asia Pacific segment, where we
own most of our fulfillment netwark, our PTE consists of amounts paid to
third parties for supplemental transportation, packing and loading services
provided during peak periods, and costs assaciated with other modes of
transportation, such as ocean freight.

¢ Inour Transportation Solutions segment, PTE consists of amounts paid for
owner operator transportation and fees associated with providing specialized
handling and delivery services, as well as third-party carrier costs of various
modes, such as air freight costs.

Given the structure of our overall business mode!, which uses independent
agents, owner operators and third-party carriers of various modes to provide
transportation, including trucks and trailers, as well as warehouse facilities for
storage and delivery programs, a high proportion of overall operating expenses
are represented by PTE. The level of PTE generally increases or decreases in
proportion to the operating revenues generated from moving and transportation
services provided by our independent agent network, as PTE compensation
rates are typically determined based on a percentage of revenue that is set by
contracts between us and our agents and owner operators.

Other Direct Expenses

Other direct expenses include our own facility and equipment costs, employee
labar costs, commissions paid to realtors, home closing costs and other relocation
service fees, in addition to transportation cargo loss and damage expenses and
claims costs and loss adjustment expenses associated with our various insurance
offerings. Relocation Solutions — Europe and Asia Pacific and Transportation
Solutions have more significant levels of direct expenses than our moving services
operations in North America.

Gross Margin

Our gross margin in absolute terms is equal to our operating revenues less direct
expenses. Gross margin as a percentage of operating revenues, or gross margin
rate, is largely dependent on the mix of our services to customers, and can differ
between each of our four operating segments. As discussed above, our Relocation
Solutions — North America segment operates with an asset-light model, utilizing
our proprietary branded network of agents and independent contractors to service
our customers. This results in a significantly higher level of expenses being paid
to our agents and independent contractors and thus a lower gross margin in per-
centage terms than our Relocation Solutions — Europe and Asia Pacific business,
which predominantly utilizes an owned network to fulfill customer reguirements.
This is cantrasted by a traditionally lower level of general and administrative costs
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as a percentage of our operating revenues in Relocation Solutions — North America
as compared to Relocation Solutions — Europe and Asia Pacific. Recently, the
increase in non-maving relocation services in the United States also has a margin
mix impact as compared to our moving operations, as such relocation services
have proportionally lower PTE and other direct expenses, a higher gross margin
and higher general and administrative ("G&A") costs associated with coordinating
and administering services.

Gross margin as a percentage of operating revenues in our Network Services
and Transportation Solutions businesses also differs from that experienced in our
Global Relacation Solutions operations. Traditionally, the gross margin rate in our
Network Services segment, which is predominantly an insurance business {premi-
ums less claim expenses), and in our Transportation Sclutions segment {operating
revenues less direct expenses) have been higher, with a proportionally higher GRA
expense as compared to our moving services and specialized transportation
operations in North America.

General and Administrative Expense

General and administrative expense, or G&A expense, includes employee compen-
sation and benefit costs, which account for over 50% of expenses in this category,
as well as [T infrastructure and communication costs, office rent and supplies,
professional services and other general corporate expenses. Relocation Solutions -
Europe and Asia Pacific, Transportation Solutions and our relocation services oper-
ations in North America have a more significant level of G&A expenses than do
our moving services and specialized transportation operations in North America.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003 COMPARED
TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002

Operating revenues Our operating revenues were $2,343.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2003, which represents a $164.3 million, or 7.5%, increase
compared to $2,185.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2002.

The increase in operating revenues was primarily a result of growth in our
Relocation Solutions —~ Eurape and Asia Pacific, Relocation Solutions — North
America and Netwark Services segments, which reported increases in operating
revenues of $70.2 million, $58.5 million and $38.2 million, respectively, year-over-
year. These increases are a result of the significant growth of Relocation Services
and NAIT since their acquisition by us and the acquisition of Scanvan in June 2003.
From April 2002 through December 31, 2003, we have grown the number of mem-
bers of NAIT by nearty 100%. The number of corporate relocation initiations in the
relacation services business involving more than simple household goods mave-
ment increased by 22% during the year ended December 31, 2003 compared
to the year ended December 31, 2002. For comparative purposes, the number of
initiations includes four months of operating data for CRS in 2002 prior to the
acquisition. Operating revenues in Relocation Solutions — Europe and Asia Pacific
increased year-over-year, largely as a result of $50.1 million of favorable currency
impact and the June 2003 acquisition of Scanvan. These gains were offset in part
by a $2.6 million decrease in operating revenues from Transportation Selutions
due primarily ta lower program volumes.

Gross margin Gross margin was $473.9 million for the year ended December 31,
2003, which represents a $55.4 million, or 13.2%, increase compared to $418.5 mil-
lion for the year ended December 31, 2002. The growth in gross margin dollars
was due to0 an overall increase in operating revenues driven by the growth in NAIT
and Relocation Services, and an overall improvement in gross margin rate and a
$15.2 million favorable currency impact. ’



QOur gross margin as a percentage of operating revenues for the year
ended December 31, 2003 was 20.2%, which represents a 1.1 percentage point
increase compared to 19.1% for the year ended December 31, 2002. The change
in gross margin as a percentage of operating revenues is explained later in our
segment analysis.

General and administrative expenses G&A expenses for the year ended
December 31, 2003 were $338.1 million, which represents an $18.2 million, or
5.7%, increase compared to $319.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2002.
The dollar increase in GRA expense is primarily due to additional costs from the
inclusions of Relocation Services and Scanvan in 2003, as welt as $13.9 mitlion

of unfavorable currency impact.

Our G&A expenses as a percentage of operating revenues were 14.4% and
14.8% for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. G&A costs
were unfavorably impacted by the negative mix effect of growth in businesses
with a higher proportion of G&A as a percentage of operating revenues, the impact
of $1.7 million of severance costs and $2.6 million of outside legal expense asso-
ciated with the DOJ and European antitrust matters. These items were offset by
continued improvements in productivity and favorable impacts of $1.8 million from
the reduction in accruals for unclaimed property, $2.6 million of gains on the sale
of an investment in a joint venture and a building, $2.8 million from the reversal
to income of unclaimed accounts receivable credits and $2.7 million associated
with standardizing employee benefit programs. Qur consalidated headcount
was 7,772 as of December 31, 2003, which represents a 272-persan, or 3.6%,
increase from 7,500 as of December 31, 2002. Operating revenues per employee
at December 31, 2003 were $307,600, which represents a $23,800, or 8.4%,
increase compared to $283,800 at December 31, 2002.

We have both streamlined our organization and initiated business process
improvement projects that allowed us to hold the headcount increase below the
operating revenues increase. We define operating revenues per employee as
operating revenues for the year ending on the date indicated, divided by the corre-
sponding yearly average of company-wide end-of-month employee headcount.

Intangibles amortization Amortization for the year ended December 31, 2003 was
$6.1 million, which represents a $2.2 million increase compared to $3.9 million for
the year ended December 31, 2002. This increase is directly related to the acqui-

sitions made in 2002 and 2003.

Equity-based compensation expense For the year ended December 31, 2003,

we recognized $3.5 million of non-cash equity-based compensation expense in
relation to stock subscription and stock option grants made to certain managers
and directors in 2003. The expense has been recorded as the difference between
the subscription or exercise price and the deemed fair value of our common

and redeemable common stock on the date of grant in accordance with APB 25.
There was no equity-hased compensation expense in 2002.

Asset impairment charge There were no asset impairment charges in 2003. For
the year ended December 31, 2002, we incurred $7.1 million of software impair-
ment charges. In the fourth quarter of 2002, it became clear that the forecasted
growth in our specialized transportation business unit that had been central to our
previous i2 investment decision was not expected to be as significant as originally
anticipated. As a consequence, we made 2 decision to change our IT implementa-
tion strategy and scale back future IT investment in these operations. Accordingly,
in December 2002, we wrote off costs capitalized in relation to those modules
that had been purchased but would no langer be implemented.

Curtailment and other gains There were no curtailment and other gains in 2003.
For the year ended December 31, 2002, we incurred $10.4 million of curtailment
and other gains consisting of a $7.4 million curtailment gain resulting from the
freezing of the U.S. pension plan and the reduction of retiree medical benefits
and a $3.0 million gain from the sale of our UK. industrial moving business.

Restructuring and headquarters move There were no restructuring or headquarters
move charges in 2003. For the year ended December 31, 2002, we incurred $3.7 mil-
lion of restructuring and headquarters move expense consisting of $4.6 million of
expenses related to the December 2002 SIRVA headquarters move, partially offset
by $0.9 million of restructuring credit pertaining to the parts centers restructuring
that we started in 2001, principaily as a result of our entering into subleases of
certain parts centers facilities earlier than originally estimated.

Income from operations Income from operations was $126.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2003, which represents a $31.9 million, or 33.8%, increase
compared to $94.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. The increase is
due to the improved operating results in most of our businesses, caused by the
year-over-year operating revenue growth following our acquisitions, a 1.1 percent-
age point increase in gross margin as a percent of operating revenues and a
reduction in G&A expenses as a percentage of operating revenues.

Debt extinguishment expense In connection with the Offering, for the year ended
December 31, 2003, we recognized $37.6 million of debt extinguishment expense,
consisting of $25.0 miltion of bond tender premium on our senior subordinated
notes and a $12.6 million write-off of deferred debt issuance costs on the prior
senior credit facility and indenture.

Interest expense Interest expense was $60.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2003, which represents a $0.9 million, or 1.5%, decrease compared
to $61.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. The decrease is due primar-
ily to lower interest rates. For the year ended December 31, 2003, we recorded
$1.8 million of interest expense that had been previously treated as accretion of
junior preferred stock dividends as a result of our adoption of SFAS 150. For the
year ended December 31, 2003, we wrote off $1.3 million of unrecognized hedging
losses to interest expense in connection with our debt refinancing.

Income tax For the year ended December 31, 2003, our estimated provision for
income taxes was $3.7 million based on pre-tax income of $28.7 miltion, an effec-
tive tax rate of 33.9%. For the year ended December 31, 2002, our estimated
provision for income taxes was $11.6 million based on pre-tax income of $32.5 mil-
lion, an effective tax rate of 35.8%. The reduction in our tax rate is primarily due
to (1) differences in the statutory rates between the United States and countries
where we have reinvested earnings and {2) tax incentive programs for which we
have qualified under the laws of certain jurisdictions.

Net income Net income was $19.0 million, or $0.27 per share, for the year ended
December 31, 2003, which represents a $1.8 million, or $0.06 per share, decrease
compared to a $20.8 million, or $0.33 per share, net income for the year ended
December 31, 2002. This decrease was due to debt extinguishment and equity-based
compensation expense, partially offset by the success of our strategy of focusing on
relocation services and its assaciated growth in operating revenues and income from
operations, along with the impact of our acquisitions, which continue to enhance
our global service offering. The expenses related to our November 2003 initial public
offering and recapitalization were $28.0 mitlion after tax, or $0.46 per share.
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Segment Analysis
The following table sets farth information with respect to our segments:

Relocation Solutians

Europe and Network Transportation

Dollars in millions North America Asia Pacific Services Solutions Corporate Tota! SIRVA
Year Ended December 31, 2003
Operating revenues $1,602.9 $478.2 $163.2 $105.6 $ - $2,349.9
Operating expenses:

Purchased transportation expense 1,144.9 127.2 - 27.8 - 1,299.9

Other direct expenses 2404 1824 110.7 42.2 0.4 576.1
Gross margin $ 2176 $168.6 $ 525 $ 35.6 $(0.4) $ 4739
Gross margin as & percentage of operating revenues 13.6% 35.3% 32.2% 33.7% - 20.2%
Income {loss) from operations ! $ 598 $ 30.2 $ 36.7 $ 41 $ (4.6} $ 126.2
Year Ended December 31, 2002
Operating revenues $1,5444 $408.0 31250 $1082 § - $2,185.6
Operating expenses: .

Purchased transportation expense 1,164.8 1105 - 279 - 1,303.2

Other direct expenses 182.8 153.2 83.6 441 0.2 463.9
Gross margin $ 1968 §1443 $ 414 $ 362 $ 02 § 4185
Gross margin as a percentage of operating revenues 127% 354% 33.1% 335% - 18.1%
Income (loss) from cperations s 410 $ 248 $ 265 $ 33 $ (1.3 $ 943
Key Performance Indicators, 2003 vs. 2002:
Percent change in operating revenues 3.8% 17.2% 30.6% 2.4)% - 75%
Percentage point change in gross margin as

a percentage of operating revenues 0.9 .1 09 02 - 11

For the year ended December 31, 2003, we recognized $3.5 million of non-cash equity-based compensation expense in relation to stock subscriptions and stock option grants made to certain

managers and directors in 2003. The expense has been recorded as the difference between the subscription or exercise price and the deemed fair value of our common and redeemable common
stock or the date of grant in accordance with APB 25. The total non-cash equity-based compensation expense to be recognized by us in respect of these transactions is $6.8 million. We expect
to recognize $1.5 mitlion, 0.9 million, $0.5 million, $0.3 million and $0.1 million in each of 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.

Relocation Solutions — North America
Operating revenues were $1,602.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2003,
which represents a $58.5 million, or 3.8%, increase compared to §1,544.4 million
for the year ended December 31, 2002.
Operating revenues from our relocation services offering increased $81.1 million
for the year ended December 31, 2003 as compared to the year ended December 31,
2002. This is due to the significant growth of Relocation Services since its acquisi-
tion by SIRVA. Reflecting the successful integration of CRS into SIRVA Relocation,
the number of corporate relocation initiations involving mare than simple house-
hold goods movement increased by 22% during the year ended December 31, 2003
compared to the year ended December 31, 2002. For comparative purposes, the
number of initiations includes four months of operating data for CRS in 2002 prior
to the acquisition. Additionally, operating revenues from our household goods mov-
ing services offerings increased by $12.6 million in the year ended December 31,
2003 compared to the year ended December 31, 2002. Household goods shipments
" decreased 1.9% for the year ended December 31, 2003 compared to ths year ended
December 31, 2002; however, the volume decrease was more than offset by an
increase in revenue per shipment during the same period. These increases were
partially offset by a decline in our specialized transportation service offering of
$35.2 million, reflecting 1.7% fewer shipments in 2003 when compared to 2002.
Gross margin was $217.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2003,
representing a $20.8 million, or 10.6%, increase compared to $196.8 million for
the year ended December 31, 2002. Growth in gross margin dollars was primarily
attributable to the year-over-year effect of the CRS acquisition, which occurred
in May 2002, and the margin assaociated with the growth that has been achieved
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since the acquisition. Gross margin as a percentage of operating revenues was
13.6% for the year ended December 31, 2003, which represents a 0.9 percentage
point increase compared ta 12.7% far the year ended December 31, 2002. This
reflects a shift in product mix to relocation services, which has a higher gross
margin rate than our traditional moving services operations.

Income from operations was $59.8 million for the year ended December 31,
2003, which represents an $18.8 million, or 45.9%, increase compared to $41.0 mil-
lion for the year ended December 31, 2002, reflecting the increased gross margin
rate associated with the CRS acquisition and the subsequent growth of SIRVA
Relocation offset in part by the G&A costs associated with the acquired business.

In addition, G&A costs were lower for the year ended December 31, 2003 due
to the favorable impacts of $1.8 million from the reduction in accruals for unclaimed
property, $2.8 milfion from the reversal to income of unclaimed accounts receivable
credits and $2.7 million associated with standardizing employee benefit programs,
G&A costs were negatively impacted by $1.6 million of outside legal expenses
associated with the DOJ investigation and severance costs of $1.4 million.

Relocation Solutions - Europe and Asia Pacific

Operating revenues were $478.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2003,
which represents a $70.2 million, or 17.2%, increase compared to $408.0 million
for the year ended December 31, 2002.

The increase in operating revenues is primarily a result of $50.1 million of
favorable currency impact as, during the year ended December 31, 2003, the aver-
age value of the British pound sterling, the Australian dollar and the euro were
stronger as compared to the U.S. dollar for the year ended December 31, 2002 by




approximately 8%, 16% and 17%, respectively. The remainder of the increase was
the result of the continued expansion of our records management business and
strategic acquisitions completed to enhance our European growth platform offset
by the divestiture of a non-core industrial-moving business in the United Kingdom.

Gross margin was $168.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, which
represents a $24.3 million, ar 16.8%, increase compared to $144.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2002. The dollar increase is primarily due to $15.2 million
of favorable currency impact and the Scanvan acquisition. The gross margin as a
percentage of operating revenues was 35.3% for the year ended December 31,
2003, which represents a 0.1 percentage point decrease compared ta 35.4% for
the year ended December 31, 2002, reflecting U.K. domestic business price pres-
sures partially offset by growth in records management and the 2002 divestiture
of a low-margin industrial moving business in the United Kingdom.

Income from operations was $30.2 million for the year ended December 31,
2003, which represents a $5.4 million, or 21.8%, increase compared to $24.8 mil-
lion for the vear ended December 31, 2002. This increase was primarily driven by

higher gross margins and lower G&A costs as a percentage of operating revenues,

reflecting the results of a strict cost-control program imposed as a result of the
sluggish economy. During the year ended December 31, 2003, we sold our Sydney,
Australia, facility for a gain of $1.8 million and our investment in & joint venture
for a gain of $0.8 million. In addition, we incurred $1.0 mitlion of outside legal
expenses in relation to the European antitrust investigation.

Network Services

Operating revenues were $163.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2003,
which represents a $38.2 million, or 30.6%, increase compared to $125.0 million
for the year ended December 31, 2002. This growth is primarily attributable to the
inclusion of NAIT for a full twelve months in the 2003 period compared to only
nine months in 2002, and the integration of NAIT into SIRVA, which has enabled
us to offer our pre-existing range of fleet and insurance services 1o the NAIT
membership base. In addition to the growth in our client base, operating revenues
have increased due to the insurance envirgnment since September 11, 2001,
which has generally resulted in certain premiums increasing in the year ended
December 31, 2003 compared to the year ended December 31, 2002.

Gross margin was $52.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, which
represents an $11.1 million, or 26.8%, increase compared to $41.4 million for
the year ended December 31, 2002. Growth in gross margin dollars was primarily
attributable to the significant growth of NAIT since its acquisition by us, which
occurred at the beginning of April 2002, Gross margin as a percentage of operating
revenues was 32.2% for the year ended December 31, 2003, which represents a
0.9 percentage point decrease compared 10 33.1% for the year ended December 31,
2002. The decrease was primarily driven by a $1.7 million return of premium from
one of our reinsurance providers in the year ended December 31, 2002, which
increased gross margin in that period. This impact was partially offset by the sub-
stantial increase in our independent contractor insurance portfolio, which has
higher gross margin rate characteristics than our agent and small fleet insurance
packages as well as our fleet maintenance operations.

Income from operations was $36.7 million for the year ended December 31,
2003, representing a $10.2 million, or 38.5%, increase compared to $26.5 million
for the year ended December 31, 2002. This increase reflects the gross margin
gains associated with the acquisition and subsequent growth of NAIT, growth in
our existing business, higher overall premium rates due to market conditions and
G&A expense efficiencies driven by our progressive integration of our network
services operations and increased investment income.

Transportation Solutions

Operating revenues were $105.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2003,
which represents a $2.6 million, or 2.4%, decrease compared to $108.2 million for
the year ended December 31, 2002. This reduction was primarily due 1o a continued
decrease in program activity for the technology sector customers we serve.

Gross margin was $35.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, repre-
senting a $0.6 million, or 1.7%, decrease compared to $36.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2002. The decrease in gross margin dollars is primarily a result
of the aforementioned decline in operating revenues. The gross margin as a per-
centage of operating revenues was 33.7% for the vear ended December 31, 2003,
which represents a 0.2 percentage point increase compared to 33.5% for the vear
ended December 31, 2002. This increase is primarily due t0 a chan'ge in the mix
of the many customized service packages that we provide 1o our customer base.

Income from operations was $4.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2003, which represents a $0.8 million, or 24.2%, increase compared to $3.3 mil-
lion for the year ended December 31, 2002. The increase in operating income is
primarily due to $2.5 million of reduced general and administrative expenses. In
addition, the year ended December 31, 2002 included a $0.9 million restructuring
credit pertaining to the parts centers previously operated through June 2001.

Corporate

For the year ended December 31, 2003, we incurred $4.6 million of corporate
expense composed of $3.5 million of non-cash equity-based compensation
expense and $1.1 million of general corporate expenses. The non-cash equity-
hased compensation expense is related to stock subscriptions and stock option
grants made to certain managers and directors in 2003. The expense has been
recorded as the difference between the subscription or exercise price and the
deemed fair value of our common and redeemable common stack on the date of
grant in accordance with APB 25. For the year ended December 31, 2002, we
incurred $1.3 million of general corporate expenses.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 COMPARED
TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001

Operating revenues Qur operating revenues were $2,185.6 million for the year
ended December 31, 2002, which represents a $63.7 million, or 2.8%, decrease
compared to $2,249.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2001.

The change in operating revenues was most significant in Relocation
Solutions — North America, where the decrease of 6.5% was larggly driven by
reduced demand for our household goods moving and specialized transportation
services. Household goods shipments decreased by 8.5% for the year ended
December 31, 2002 compared to the year ended December 31, 2001, and were
significantly influenced by fewer transferees in the carporate sector due to 2
sharp falloff in relocations in the months following the events of September 11,
2001 and, we believe, to the stuggish economy. Specialized transportation ship-
ments for the year ended December 31, 2002 were down approximately 3.5%
compared to 2001, and revenue per shipment decreased approximately 12.3%
year-over-year. We believe thése are both a direct result of the substantial
falloff in activities in the telecommunications and technology sectors as the
economy slowed. This slowdown in the telecommunications and technology
sectors also affected our Transpartation Solutions segment, which, although
smailer, was down 14.1%.
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. Partly offsetting the operating revenues decline in our moving and specialized
transportation service offerings was the impact of our acquisitions during the
year ended December 31, 2002, inciuding $73.4 million of operating revenues in
relocation services following the CRS acquisition. The year-ovar-year revenue effect
above includes the growth achigved as these two businesses were integrated into
the larger SIRVA organization. By facilitating access to our corporate customer base
and offering them a new suite of relocation services, we were able to increase
the number of corporate relocation initiations in the relocation services business
involving more than simple household goods movement by 17.1% during the year
ended December 31, 2002. For comparative purposes, the number of initiations
includes operating data for CRS for all of 2001 and four months of 2002 prior
to the acquisition.

Also offsetting the aforementioned revenue decline, operating revenues in
Relocation Solutions — Europe and Asia Pacific were up 5.4%, primarily as a
result of $22.3 million of favorable currency impact.

Gross margin Our gross margin was $418.5 miflion for the year ended December 31,
2002, which represents a $34.4 million, or 3.0%, increase compared to $384.1 mil-
lion for the year ended December 31, 2001, despite the 2.8% decrease in our
operating revenues. The gains were most significant in Relocation Solutions —
North America and Network Services. Contributing to the improved gross margin
in 2002 versus 2001 was a reduction in cargo claims expense. A cargo claims
analysis is performed each guarter comparing open and closed claim costs, as
well as estimates for incurred but not reported claim costs, to the original
estimates, and changes to those estimates are recorded as appropriate. We rec-
ognized favorable accrual adjustments related to prior year estimates of $5.4 million
for the year ended December 31, 2002, These favorable adjustments were a result
of improved experience, when compared to historical trends and estimates, for
claims made in policy years 2001 and prior that were finalized in 2002. This
improved claims experience was attributable to a combination of reduced shipment
volumes and new quality-control initiatives implemented by us during 2001 that
reduced the frequency of claims.

Our gross margin as a percentage of operating revenues was 19.1% for the
year ended December 31, 2002, which represents a 2.0 percentage point increase,
compared to 17.1% for the year ended December 31, 2001. The change in gross
margin as a percentage of operating revenues is explained in our segment
analysis below.

General and administrative expenses G&A expenses were $319.9 million for the
year end December 31, 2002, which represents a $4.1 million, or 1.3%, increase
compared to $315.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. The dallar
increase in G&A expense is a result of an increase associated with our acquisi-
tions of CRS and NAIT, along with unfavorable currency impact of $5.4 million.
These increases were offset by reductions in headcount and other GRA costs in
our moving services, specialized trangportation and transportation solutions busi-
nesses in order to align expenses with lower operating revenues. Our G&A
expenses as a percent of aperating revenues for the year ended December 31, 2002
was 14.7%, which represents an increase of 0.7 percentage points compared to
14.0% for the year ended December 31, 2001. The percentage change is largely
due to the increased proportion of our Relocation Services and Network Services
businesses within our overall business mix and currency-related increases to
our foreign G&A costs, partially offset by productivity improvements throughout
our transportation and solutions businesses.

Reflecting this improved efficiency, our consolidatad headcount decreased
to 7,500 as of December 31, 2002, a decrease of 295, or 3.4%, from 7,795 as
of December 31, 2001. Operating revenues per employee were $283,800 as of
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December 31, 2002, which represents a $2,900, or 1.0%, increase compared to
$280,900 &s of December 31, 2001. We both streamlined our organization and
reduced headcount in order to align expenses with fower operating revenues.

Goodwill and intangibles amortization Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted
SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” under which goodwill and
other indefinite-lived intangible assets are no longer amortized but are reviewed
at least annually for impairment. As a result, amortization expense was $3.9 million
for the year ended December 31, 2002, which represents a $7.0 million, or 64.2%,
decrease compared to $10.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 related
to SFAS 142, offset by additional intangible amortization of $3.9 miltion from our
acquisitions in the year ended December 31, 2002.

Asset impairment charge For the year ended December 31, 2002, we incurred
$7.1 million of software impairment charges. In the fourth quarter of 2002, it
became clear that the forecasted growth in our specialized transportation busi-
ness unit that had been central to our previous i2 investment decision was not
expected to be as significant as originally anticipated. As a conseguence, we
made a decision to change our IT implementation strategy and scale back future
IT investment in these operations. Accordingly, in December 2002 we wrate off
costs capitalized in relation to those modules that had been purchased but would
no longer be implemented.

Curtailment and other gains Far the year ended December 31, 2002, we incurred
$10.4 million of curtailment and other gains consisting of a $7.4 million curtailment
gain resulting from the freezing of the U.S. pension plan and the reduction of
retiree medical benefits and & $3.0 million gain from the sale of our U.K. industrial
moving business.

Restructuring and headquarters move For the year ended December 31, 2002, we
incurred $3.7 million of restructuring and headquarters move expense consisting
of $4.6 million of expenses related to the December 2002 SIRVA headquarters
move, partially offset by $0.9 million of restructuring credit pertaining to the
parts centers restructuring that we started in 2001, principally as a result of our
entering into subleases of certain parts centers facilities earlier than originally
estimated. Restructuring expense for the year ended December 31, 2001 was
due primarily to the parts center restructuring.

Incame from operations Income from operations was $94.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2002, which represents a $41.8 millian, or 79.6%, increase
compared to $52.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. The substantial
gain principally reflects the impact of our acquisitions and an increase in gross
margin as a percent of operating revenues. Additionally, we ceased amortization
of goodwill, which reduced our amortization expense by $10.9 million compared
to the year ended December 31, 2001. ‘

Interest expense Interest expense was $67.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2002, which represents an $8.0 million, or 11.6%, decrease
compared to $69.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2001, due primarify
to lower interest rates and lower average borrowings.

Incame tax Income tax expense was $11.7 million for the year ended

December 31, 2002, based on pre-tax income of $32.5 million, given an effective
rate of 36.0%. For the year ended December 31, 2001, the income tax benefit
was $0.1 million based on a pre-tax loss of $16.7 million.

Net income (loss) Net income was $20.8 million, or $0.33 per share, for the year
ended Oecember 31, 2002, which represents a $37.7 million, or $0.81 per share,
increase compared 1o a loss of $16.9 million, or $0.48 per share, for the year ended




December 31, 2001. This improvement reflects the substantial gains in operating

income combined with the reduction in our interest expense over the vear ended

December 31, 2001. The impact of the favorable accrual adjustments to our cargo
claims reserves in the year ended December 31, 2002 was $3.4 million after tax,

or $0.07 per share.

Segment Analysis

The following table sets forth information with respect to our segments,
which provides a more complete understanding of the key drivers of our
operating performance:

Relocation Solutions

Europe and Network Transportation

Dolfars in miflions North America Asia Pacific Services Solutions Corporate Total SIRVA
Year Ended December 31, 2002
Operating revenues $1,5444 $408.0 $125.0 $108.2 § - $2,1856
Operating expenses:

Purchased transportation expense 1,164.8 1105 - 279 - 1,303.2

Other direct expenses 182.8 153.2 836 441 02 4539
Gross margin $ 19.8 $144.3 3414 $362 $0.2) $ 2185
Gross margin as a percentage of operating revenues 12.7% 35.4% 33.1% 335% - 191 %
Income (loss) from operations $ 410 $ 248 $ 265 $ 33 $(1.3) $ 943
Year Ended December 31, 2001
Operating revenues $1,652.1 $387.1 $842 $1259 $ - $2,2433
Operating expenses:

Purchased transportation expense 1,308.0 1056 - 242 - 1,438.8

QOther direct expenses 1616 1407 815 626 - 4264
Gross margin § 1815 $1408 $ 227 § 391 § - $ 3841
Gross margin as & percentage of operating revenues 11.0% 36.4% 27.0% 311 % - 171%
Income {loss) from operations $ 151 $ 260 $ 185 $ (63 ${0.8) $ 525
Key Performance Indicators, 2002 vs. 2001
Percent change in aperating revenues {6.51% 54% 48.5% (14.1)% - (2.81%
Percentage point change in gross margin as

a percentage of operating revenues 17 (1.0} 5.1 24 - 20

Relocatien Solutions — Morth America

Operating revenues were $1,544.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2002,
representing a $107.7 million, or 6.5%, decrease compared to $1,652.1 million for
the year ended December 31, 2001.

Operating revenues for our household goods moving and specialized transporta-
tion service offerings decreased by approximately 10.4% and 12.3%. respectively,
driven principally by reduced demand. Household goods shipments for the year
ended December 31, 2002 decreased 9.5% from the year ended December 31, 2001,
and were significantly influenced by fewer transferees in the carporate sectar due
to a sharp falloff in relocations following the events of September 11, 2001 and,
we believe, to the sluggish eccnomy. Specialized transportation shipments for the
year ended December 31, 2002 were also down approximately 3.5% compared to
2001, and revenue per shipment decreased approximately 12.3% year-over-year.
We believe these are both a direct result of the substantial decline in activities in
the telecommunications and technology sectors as the economy slowed.

Partly offsetting the decline in moving and specialized transportation service
offerings was an increase in operating revenues of $73.4 million from our reloca-
tion services operations following the CRS acquisition in May 2002. With the
benefit of joining the much farger SIRVA organization and gaining access to its
expansive list of corporate moving customers, our relgcation services offering has
also experienced an accelerated growth rate. Specifically, the number of CRS
corporate relocation initiations in the relocation services business involving more
than simple household goods movement increased by 17.1% during the year

ended December 31, 2002 compared to the year ended December 31, 2001. For
comparative purposes, the number of initiations includes operating data for CRS
for all of 2001 and four months of 2002 prior to the acquisition.

Gross margin was $196.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2002,
representing a $15.3 million, or 8.4%, increase compared to $181.5 million for
the year ended December 31, 2001, despite the 6.5% decrease in our operating
revenues. Within this segment, gross margin dollars in our moving services and
specialized transportation business decreased by $13.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2002 as compared to 2001. The decrease was due to lower ship-
ment volumes in both units and reduced gross margin as a percentage of operating
revenues in specialized transportation, due to lower revenue per shipment and a
higher propartion of fixed costs, partially offset by lower cargo loss and damage
and other direct expenses in our moving services operations.

This decline in gross margin dollars, however, was more than offset by the
acquisition of CRS and the inclusion of its results from May 2002 forward.

Gross margin as a percentage of operating revenues was 12.7% for the
year ended December 31, 2002, which represents an increase of 1.7 percentage
points compared to 11.0% for the year ended December 31, 2001. The improved
gross margin rate is due in large measure to the enhanced mix resulting from
acquiring and selling more high-margin, value-added relacation services. Due to
the significance of PTE expenses paid to owner operators and agents who pro-
vide equipment and labor, there is a lower gross margin percentage associated
with moving and specialized transportation operating revenues than with reloca-
tion services. Our mix was enhanced by the faster growth in relocation services.
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Income from operations was $41.0 million for the year ended December 31,
2002, which represents & $25.9'million, or 171.5%, increase compared to $15.1 mil-
lion for the year ended December 31, 2001.

The most significant factor leading to the increase in income from operations
during 2002 was the acquisition in May 2002 of CRS, which added $10.6 million
of operating profit for the eight manths following acquisition. The impact of the
CRS acquisition on our results for 2002 can be summarized as follows:

Dollars in millions

Revenue $71.2
Gross margin $26.9
G&A $16.3
Income from operations $10.6

Incame from operations in our maving services business also increased $15.3 mil-
lion due to lower general and administrative expenses, goodwill amortization and
Internet development costs offsetting lower gross margins and a software impairment
charge. The decline of $16.5 million in general and administrative expenses was driven
by substantial headcount reductions and additional cost and program cuts. The lower
goodwill amortization of $6.1 million was the result of adoption of SFAS 142. In 2002,
we significantly reduced our development of a Web-based moving services solution
aimed at the consumer market, resulting in lower expense of $11.3 million. These
favorable impacts were partially offset by a decline in gross margin of $12.9 million
due to lower shipment activity and the $5.7 million impairment charge associated
with the abandonment of certain modules of the previously capitalized i2 software
that had been planned for use in our specialized transportation operations.

Relocation Solutions — Europe and Asia Pacific

Operating revenues were $408.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2002,
representing a $20.9 million, or 5.4%, increase compared to $387.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2001.

The increase in operating revenues is predominantly a result of $22.3 million of
favorable currency impact as, during the year ended December 31, 2002, the aver-
age values of the British pound sterfing, the Australian dollar and the euro were
stronger against the U.S. dollar compared to the year ended December 31, 2007 by
approximately 4%, 5% and 5%, respectively. In addition, operating revenues in our
UK. records management business and the domestic and international moving
business in Australia were somewhat higher year-over-year.

Gross margin was $144.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, which
represents a $3.5 million, or 2.5%, increase compared to $140.8 million for the
year ended December 31, 2001. While gross margin increased $7.5 million largely
as a result of the currency driven increase in operating revenues, grass margin as
a percantage of operating revenues was 35.4% for the year ended December 31,
2002, a 1.0 percentage point decrease compared to 36.4% for the year ended
December 31, 2001. The decrease is associated with overall price pressure,
particularly in our industrial moving business, which we sold at the end of 2002.
In addition, we experienced higher employee benefits costs.

Income from operations was $24.8 million for the year ended December 31,
2002, which represents a $1.2 miltion, or 4.6%, decrease compared to $26.0 million
for the year ended December 31, 2001. The increase in aggregate gross margin
dollars of $3.5 million, and the favorable impact of eliminating goodwill amortiza-
tion of $4.2 million, were more than offset by $5.5 million of unfavarable currency
impact in G&A, higher employee benefit costs and a $2.4 million severance
charge taken during the year to adjust headcount to the reduced business needs.
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Network Services

Operating revenues were $125.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2002,
which represents a $40.8 million, or 48.5%, increase compared to $84.2 million
for the year ended December 31, 2001. Growth in operating revenues was a
result of two key factors: the acquisition of NAIT in April 2002, which increased
our underwriting volume, as well as growth in this business. In addition to the
growth in our client base, operating revenues have increased due to the insurance
environment since September 11, 2001, which has generally resulted in certain
year-over-year premium increases since that time.

Gross margin was $41.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, which
represents a $18.7 million, or 82.4%, increase compared to $22.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2001, Gross margin as a percentage of operating revenues
was 33.1% for the year ended December 31, 2002, which represents a 6.1 percent-
age paint increase compared to 27.0% for the year ended December 31, 2001,
This improvement was primarily driven by the NAIT acquisition and subsequent
growth in our independent contractor insurance portfolio, which has higher gross
margin characteristics than our agent and small fleet businesses. We were also
able to realign the structure used to underwrite the independent contractor insur-
ance program, further improving overall gross margin. The improved gross margin
as a percentage of operating revenues also reflects favorable development in
actuarially determined insurance claim reserves of $1.7 million, and therefore a
reduction to our overall claims expenses. These gains were partly offset by higher
costs for reinsuring a portian of our insurance portfolic.

Income from operations was $26.5 million for the year ended December 31,
2002, which represents an $8.0 million, or 43.2%, increase compared to $18.5 mil-
lion for the year ended December 31, 2001. The increase was due to our acquisitions,
higher independent contractor insurance operating revenues, growth in our cus-
tomér base and associated gross margin improvements of $18.7 million, less
G&A increases associated with our acquisitions and growth and the amortization
of $1.5 million of newly acquirad intangibles with definite lives.

Transportation Selutions

Operating revenues were $108.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2002,
which represents a $17.7 million, or 14.1%, decrease compared to $125.3 million
for the year ended December 31, 2001.

Operating revenues for the year ended December 31, 2002 decreased as result
of our withdrawal from the parts center business, which contributed $14.5 million
in operating revenues for the year ended December 31, 2001. Operating revenues
were also lower as a result of reduced activity levels in our freight forwarding
operations due, we believe, to the general economic slowdown. These items were
partially offset by new volume due to the addition of new customers and
increased program volume with existing customers,

Gross margin was $36.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, which
represents a $2.9 million, or 7.4%, decrease compared to $39.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2001. The decrease is a result of lower overall operating rev-
enues, offset by an improvement in the overall gross margin rate. Gross margin as
a percentage of operating revenues was 33.5% for the year ended December 31,
2002, which represents a 2.4 percentage point increase compared ta 31.1% for
the year endad December 31, 2001. The positive change in the gross margin as a
percentage of operating revenues resulted primarily from our strategic withdrawal
from the lower-margin parts center business in the latter part of 2001.



Income from operations was $3.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2002,
which represents a $9.6 million increase compared to a loss of $6.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2001. While gross margin decreased $2.9 million year-
over-year, we rationalized our underlying cost base, resulting in $7.3 million lower
general and administrative expenses year-over-year, and we ceased amortization
of $0.4 million of goodwill in the year ended December 31, 2002. Income from
operations for the year ended December 31, 2001 includes $3.9 million of sever-
ance and redundant facility expenses associated with our withdrawal from the
parts center business.

FINAMCIAL CONDITION

The information provided below about our cash flows, debt, credit facilities,
capital and operating lease obligations and future commitments is included here
to facilitate a review of our liquidity.

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $78.7 million, $67.2 million and
$115.1 million, for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respec-
tively. Our operating cash flows have been favorably impacted by improvements
in our net income, which has increased from a loss of $16.9 million for the
year ended December 31, 2001 to income of $19.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2003.

The impact of these gains in net income was augmented by management of
accounts receivable. Our daily sales outstanding in accounts receivable, or DSO,
which is a key performance indicator tracked by our Treasury department, can be
summarized as follows:

Days Sales Outstanding in Accounts Receivable

December 31, 2003 2002 2001
Trailing 12 months average 43 45 52
End of period 42 42 47

In May 2002, we acquired CRS, which added a new cash flow dimension to our
business. As part of our relocation product offering, we provide home equity advances
to relocating corporate employees and sometimes purchase the employees” hames
under buyout programs. In the United Kingdom and for traditional relocation in the
United States, the corporate customer guarantees us repayment of these amounts to
the extent proceeds from the home sale are insufficient.

These equity advances, purchased homes and mortgages are classified as
current assets in our consolidated balance sheets, and movements in these assets
are reflected in our cash flow from aperations. The cash needed to finance these
assets is largely provided by mortgage warehouse and relocation financing facili-
ties, movements in which are reflected in our cash flow from financing activities.
In light of the corporate guarantees and the credit quality of our counterparties, we
believe the risk associated with the advances, purchased homes and mortgages is
low. For internal purposes, we treat the associated financing as a current liability,
not as debt. This current liability moves in tandem with the corresponding current
assets, with minimal resulting net effect on cash flow.

For internal management purposes, we use a measure of “free cash flow.”
This measure deducts our capital and agent expenditures, net of sale proceeds
and excludes the impact of movements in our relocation and mortgage warehouse
financing facilities from our net cash flow provided by operating activities, as
we believe that the facilities are of a cash-neutral nature because they move in
tandem with the change in mortgages and relocation properties held for sale.

free cash flow is not a measure determined in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. We believe, however, that our definition of free
cash flow is a relevant measure as it represents the amount of cash available to
us for the repayment of our indebtedness, for strategic acquisitions to grow our
business, or for other investing or financing activities. Free cash flow should not
be considered as an alternative measure to cash flows from operating activities,
and does not necessarily represent amounts available for discretionary expendi-
tures. Free cash flow also may not be comparable to similar measures disclosed
by ather companies because free cash flow is not uniformly defined.

We reconcile free cash flow to cash flow provided by operating activities

as follows:

Dollars in millions, years ended December 31, 2003 2002 2001

Cash flow provided by operating activities $78.7 $672 $115.1

Change in mortgage warehouse facility 13.6 16.0 -
Change in relocation financing facilities 2114 22 -
Capital expenditires (28.6) (33.4) {48.3}
Other investing activities 4.1 35 21

Free cash flow £88.9 $555 $ 689

Other investing activities consist of agent expenditures and proceeds on sale
of property and equipment.

Since 2007, our free cash flow has improved from $68.9 million, to free cash
flow of $88.9 miltion in 2003. This is driven by higher net income, combined with
improvements in our management of accounts receivable, particularly in 2001,
when we reduced year-end DSO by 14 days, or 23.0%.

In the year ended December 31, 2003, we had free cash flow of $88.9 million
compared to $55.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2002, an increase of
$33.4 million. This increase was primarily driven by $11.5 million of increased cash
flow from operating activities, a $16.5 net increase in our relocation financing and
mortgage facilities due to growth in our relocation services business, and lower
capital and agent spending, net of sale proceeds, of $5.4 million.

We believe that cash generated from 2004 operations, together with amounts
available under the revolving credit facility and any other available source of liguid-
ity, will be adeguate to parmit us to meet our debt service obligations, capital
expenditure program requirements, ongoing operating costs and working capital
needs for at least the next 12 months.

Cash Flows Used for lnvesting Activities

Cash used for investing activities totaled $78.2 million, §137.5 million and

$73.0 million in the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
The cash impact of our acquisitions can be summarized as follows:

Dollars in millions, years ended December 31, 2003 2002 200
Alfied & Pickfords purchase price settlement $ - 5 - 174

NAIT and subsequent purchase price
contractual adjustments 5.7 27.0 -
CRS - 575 -
Rowan Simmons - 14.3 -
Scanvan 235 - -
Other 38 38 40
$33.0 $1026 8214

SIRVA, Inc. 2003 Annual Report 33




Management”s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Qperations

Our capital expenditures, which we use for computer equipment, software
development and transportation and warehouse equipment, totaled $28.6 million,
$33.5 million and $48.3 million in each of the years ended December 31, 2003,

2002 and 2001, respectively. The level of capital expenditures in the year ended
December 31, 2001 was driven by significant spending on information technology
across our business, particularly in our Transportation Solutions segment. Capital
expenditures for 2004 are expected to range between $35.0 million and $40.0 million.
We will continue to pursue acquisitions around the world that we believe would
further strengthen our global presence or would advance our strategic position in

the markets that we serve.

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Cash flows from financing activities consist primarily of bank borrowing draw-
downs and repayments and proceeds from the issuance of common stock.

Net cash flaws from financing activities provided $14.0 million of funding for
the year ended December 31, 2003. We repaid $566.9 million of long-term debt
and capital lease obligations and paid $20.6 million of costs associated with our
initial public offering of SIRVA common stock, consummated on November 24,
2003, with proceeds from that offering and our refinancing related to that offering.
We also paid off our $32.6 million junior preferred obligation and paid $25.0 mil-
lion of premium on the redemption of our 133/s% senior subordinated notes.

Our revolving credit facility as of December 31, 2003 was $0.

Net cash flows from financing activities provided $82.1 million of funding for
the year ended December 31, 2002. We acquired businesses for a total considera-
tion of $102.6 million, which was financed through our revolving credit facility as
well as the issuance of $66.3 miltion of common stock and $50.0 miltion in new
bank debt.

Net cash flows used for financing activities were $53.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2001. We reduced our revolving credit position by $37.4 mil-
lion following the significant improvement in our working capital requirements
during that year.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
We broadly define liquidity as our ability to generate sufficient cash flow from
operating activities to meet our obligations and commitments. In addition, liquidity
includes the ability to obtain appropriate debt and equity financing and to convert
inta cash those assets that are no longer required to meet existing strategic and
financial objectives. Therefore, liquidity cannot be considered separately from
capital resources that consist of current or potentially available funds for use in
achieving long-range business objectives and meeting debt service commitments.
QOur principal capital resources consist of our $175.0 million revolving credit
facility and our accounts receivable.
Our short-term and long-term liquidity needs will arise primarily from:
¢ interest expense, which was $80.3 million in 2003. Of this, $47.4 million was
settled in cash, $4.3 million relates to non-cash charges and $8.6 million
relates to our senior discount loan, which was settled in cash on repayment
thereof. We expect our interest expense to approximate $27.0 million in 2004;
» principal repayments of debt and capital leases, which were $566.9 million
in 2003 and are scheduled to be $5.1 million in 2004, $3.1 million in 2005,
$9.1 miliion in 2008, $8.1 million in 2007 and $419.3 million thereafter;
* operating lease payments, which were $78.7 million in 2003 and are scheduled
to total $68.4 million in 2004, $58.3 million in 2005, $44.1 million in 20086,
$39.5 million in 2007, $30.2 million in 2008 and $112.9 million thereafter;
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¢ unconditional purchase commitments, which are scheduled to total $23.8 mil-
lion in 2004, $21.8 million in 2005, $18.8 millicn in 2006, $18.8 million in 2007,
$18.8 million in 2008 and $65.0 million thereafter;

o capital expenditures, which were $28.6 milfion in 2003 and are expected to
range between $35.0 million and $40.0 million in 2004;

* cash tax payments were $8.0 million in 2003, due primarily to the utilization
of accumulated net operating losses in the United States, and are expected to
be between $20.0 million and $25.0 miltion in 2004. After 2004, net operating
losses in the United States should be substantially utilized and cash tax pay-
ments will be expected to maore closely approximate the provision for income
taxes; and

e working capital requirements as may be needed to support business growth.

The seasonal nature of the moving business results in increased short-term
working capital requirements in the summer months. This will result in an increase
in receivables, which are typically collected, and revolving credit borrowings
which are typically repaid, by late fall.

The following table provides a summary, as of December 31, 2003, of our
caontractual obligations related to long-term debt, leases and other commercial

commitments:
Payments Due by Period

Less than After

Dollars in millions Total 1year 1-3years 3-Byears  Dbyears

Contractual Obligations

Long-term debt 3428.0 $06 $ 92 § 90  $4092
Capital lease obligations 22.6 45 8.9 65 28
Operating leases 3512 58.4 100.3 69.6 1129
Unconditional purchase obligations 167.0 238 406 375 65.0
Total contractual cash obligations $368.8 $974  $159.0  $1227  $583.7

As of December 31, 2003, we have na 2004 funding requirements for our pension
or postretirement plans; however, we may make voluntary contributions ranging from
$1.0 million to $5.0 million.

Debt Service Principal and interest payments under our senior credit facility and
interest payments on the notes represent significant liquidity requirements for us.
Our senior credit facility is composed of a nate payable and a revolving credit
facility. As of December 31, 2003, we had $547.1 million of indebtedness
composed of indebtedness for borrowed maoney and capital leases consisting of:
e $11.0 million principal amount of our 133%/s% senior subordinated notes;

e $415.0 million outstanding under our term loan;

*  $0 million outstanding under our $175.0 million revolving credit facility;

o §22.7 million of capital leases;

* $96.4 million of short-term debt, consisting of $55.5 million of our mortgage
warehouse facility, $40.1 million of our relocation financing facilities and
$0.8 million of foreign subsidiaries’ operating lines of credit; and

o $2.0 million of other debt.

In connection with our initial public offering and the related refinancing,
we commenced & tender offer for all of our 133/8% senior subardinated notes,
of which approximately 33% were tendered and purchased.

We guarantee certain operating lines of credit maintained by wholly owned
foreign subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, the outstanding
balance was $0.8 miltion, $1.1 million and $1.2 million, respectively.



Commitments and Contingencies

On July 1, 2002, we entered into a 10-year purchase commitment with Covansys
Corporation and Affiliated Computer Services, [nc. to provide selected outsourcing
services for our domastic information systems infrastructure, including data center
operations and telecommunications and certain application software development.
Covansys Corporation is a related party, as 24.5% of its outstanding common
stock is owned by Clayton, Dubilier & Rice Fund V! Limited Partnership. As of
December 31, 2003, the remaining purchase commitment was $159.0 million.

Litigation

We were a defendant in a personal injury suit resulting from a 1996 accident
involving one of our agent’s drivers. The case was triad in 1998, and we were
found liable. After appeals, a final judgment of $15.2 million was rendered in
2002, which we and two of our insurers fully paid. After these insurance payments
and reimbursements, we have paid $7.6 million, which we believe is fully reim-
bursable by insurance. TIG Insurance Co., one of our several co-insurers, filed suit
against us, one of our subsidiaries and several other parties in the 191st Judicial
District Court of Dallas County, Texas, on September 12, 2002, contesting TIG's
and ather insurers’ coverage obligation and seeking declaratory judgment. We filed
a counterclaim and cross-claim against TIG and National Union Fire Insurance
Company, seeking reimbursement for all remaining amounts that we paid in satis-
faction of the judgment and assaciated costs and expenses. We filed a motion
for summary judgment in August 2003, and the judge issued a final award to us.
TIG has recently filed a motion asking for a new trial. We have a reserve that we
consider appropriate in the circumstances.

We have produced and are producing records in response to grand jury sub-
poenas issued in connection with an investigation being conducted by attorneys
in the Department of Justice {DOJ) Antitrust Division through a grand jury in the
Eastern District of Virginia. We are cooperating with this investigation and under-
stand that numerous other companies have received similar subpoenas. We
believe that the investigation relates to the transportation of U.S. military mem-
bers' household goods between the U.S. and foreign countries, which is managed
and administered by the Military Transportation and Management Command of
the U.S. Army, utilizing private moving companies.

The revenues that we derived from our international military business during
the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 were small and declining,
representing less than 2% of our consolidated operating revenues in 2000, and
declining to less than 1% in 2003. While the investigation is ongoing and exposes
us to potential criminal, civil, and administrative penalties, it is difficult to predict
its outcome with certainty at this time before the government makes its decisions
and advises us of them. Management believes that, based on information currently
available to it, the investigation’s outcome will not have a material adverse impact
on our overall operations or financial condition, although there can be no assurance
that it will not. Any potential fines, penalties or judgments, however, may have
a material effect on our earnings in the period in which they are recognized. We
are also subject to other issues that may be raised by government agencies in
connection with our government contracts.

Some of our moving services operations in Europe are being investigated by
European antitrust regulators. The investigations are in the very early stages and
involve certain anticompetitive practices. The relevant operations represented
approximately 1% of our consolidated operating revenues in the aggregate for

the year ended December 31, 2003 and less than 1.7% of our consolidated operat-
ing revenues in the aggregate for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001.
The investigations could expose us to administrative and other penalties. We are
cooperating with the investigations, which we expect will take several years to
complete. Management believes that, based on information currently available to
it, the outcome of the investigations will not have a material adverse impact on
our overal! operations or financial condition, although there can be no assurance
that it will not. Any potential penalties, however, may have a material impact on
our earnings in the period in which they are recognized.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

During 2003 and 2002, we sold a portion of our equipment notes receivable
portfolio to an unaffiliated third party. The transactions, which qualified as a

sale under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 140, "Accounting
far Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishment of Liabilities,”
resutted in cash proceeds of $2.9 million and $1.2 million, respectively, which
approximated the fair value of notes receivable sold. The equipment notes receiv-
able are due from agents or owner operators for trailers, tractors and straight trucks
and are collateralized by those assets. Each note is generally for a term of five
years, bearing interest at either a fixed or variable rate of prime plus 1.0%-3.0%.
Principal and interest are payable monthly over the term of the agreement. Under
the terms of the sales agreement, we are responsible for servicing, administering
and collecting these notes recgivable on behalf of the unaffiliated third party,
Servicing fees under the sales agreement are deemed adequate compensation

to us for performing the servicing; accordingly, no servicing asset or liability has
been recognized in the accompanying financial statements. Under the terms of
the transactions, the maximum recourse exposure to us was 30.2 million.

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTICNS

We are parties to a consulting agreement with Clayton, Dubilier & Rice, Inc.
whereby Clayton, Dubilier & Rice, Inc. receives a management fee for financial
advisory and management consulting services. For the years ended December 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001, such fees were $1.2 million, $1.4 million and $1.4 million,
respectively.

North American Van Lines, Inc. has guaranteed loans made by a third-party
lender in aggregate principal amounts of $1.3 million and $0.8 million as of
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, to various members of our manage-
ment, including one of our executive officers, in connection with their investment
in SIRVA. North American Van Lines would become liable for such amounts in the
event that a member of management would fail to repay the principal and interest
when due. These loans mature in July 2004, except for the loan to one of our
executive officers, Todd W. Schorr, which matures in May 2004, and bear interest
at the prime rate plus 1.0%. Mr. Schorr borrowed $159,750 to purchase 47,550
shares of our common stock. As of December 31, 2003, Mr. Schorr owed $161,788
to the third-party lender. The loan to our executive officer was made prior to pas-
sage of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Subsequent to its passage, we adopted a policy
prohibiting us or any of our subsidiaries fram making loans to or guaranteeing
loans of executive officers.
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FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

The future magnitude and direction of foreign currency translation adjustments
depends on the relationship of the U.S. dollar to ather foreign currencies. The
effects of foreign currency fluctuations in our foreign operations are somewhat
mitigated by the fact that the majority of expenses are incurred in the same
currency in which corresponding revenues are generated.

Operating revenues fram aperations outside of the United States during 2003
amounted to $544.8 million, or 23.2% of our operating revenues. At December 31,
2003, approximately 40.7% of our total long-lived assets were denominated in
currencies other than the U.S. dollar. The functignal currency for our internatianal
subsidiaries is the local currency for the country in which the subsidiaries own
their primary assets. We have operations in several foreign countries including
those that use the Canadian dollar, the British pound sterling, the Australian
dollar or the eurg as their functional currencies.

The translation of the applicable currencies into U.S. doliars is performed
for balance sheet accounts using current exchange rates in effect at the balance
sheet date and for revenue and expense accounts using a weighted-average
exchange rate during the period. The effect of U.S. dollar currency exchange rates
in Canada, the United Kingdom, Europe, Australia and other countries in which
we operate produced a net currency translation adjustment gain of $10.3 million,
net of tax, which was recorded as an adjustment to stockholders’ equity as an
element of other comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2003.

INFLATION

We believe that inflation, currently, does not have a material effect on the
results of our operations.

RETIREMENT PLANS

The domestic defined pension plans were amended effective April 1, 2002 for
the purpese of combining the plans into one benefit plan covering all domestic
employees. This single pension plan was then frozen effective December 31,
2002, which triggered curtailment accounting treatment due to the elimination
of benefits earned for future years of service. The curtailment amounts were
recorded in the results of operations as an unusual item for the year ended
December 31, 2002.

The postretirement medical plan covering certain domestic employees was
amended effective April 1, 2002 to include substantially all of our domestic employ-
ees. The amendment also eliminated after-age-65 benefits previously associated
with this plan. Effective December 31, 2002, the plan was amended to eliminate
any subsidies to employees that have not reached 50 years of age with a minimum
of 10 years of service as of December 31, 2002. This amendment triggered curtail-
ment accounting treatment. The curtailment amounts were recorded in the results
of operations as an unusual item for the year ended December 31, 200Z.

36 SIRVA, Inc. 2003 Annual Report

The U.K. pension plan was amended in December 2003 with the effective date
of amendment commencing April 2004. The amendment alters the level of benefits
received for a substantial portion of participants in the plan and resulted in curtail-
ment accounting treatment. The curtailment gain did not result in any immediate
income recognition for 2003.

The total amount of pension and retiree curtailment gain for the year ended
December 31, 2002 was $7.4 million.

Retirement plan expenses and obligations are dependent on assumptions
used in calculating such amounts. These assumptions include discount rate, rate
of compensation increases and expected return on plan assets. In accordance
with U.S. GAAP, actual results that differ from the assumption are accumulated
and amortized over future periods. While we believe that assumptions used are
appropriate, differences in actual experience or changes in assumptions may
affect our retirement plan obligations and future expense. in 2003, we maintained
the expected return on plan assets at 9%. In developing our expected long-term
rate of return assumption, we evaluated input from our independent financial
advisor, including its review of our pension asset class 10-year weighted-average
returns for each of the last 10 years. The average 10-year return by yearis 11.7%.
We anticipate that our investment managers will generate long-term returns of at
least 9.0%. A reduction in the expected return on plan assets from 9.0% to 8.5%
would increase pension expense by approximately $0.4 million. The discount rate
assumption was lowered to 6.25% from 6.75%. The discount rate we utilize for
determining pension obligations is based on the plan’s projected cash flow utilizing
an actuarially developed corporate spat rate. A reduction in the discount rate from
6.25% to 6.00% would increase pension expense by approximately $0.3 million.
Pension expense in 2004 is expected to decrease by approximately $1.3 million
primarily due to amortization of differences between actual and expected returns
on plan assets. During 2003, we recorded a minimum pension liability adjustmeant
of $0.5 million, net of tax, to accumulated other comprehensive income {loss).

If the equity markets decline, we could be required to record a charge to accumu-
lated other comprehensive income (loss). .

Our expected rate of return on plan assets is determined by the plan assets’
histarical long-term investment performance, current asset allocation and estimates
of future long-term returns by asset class. Our investment strategy is based on an
expectation that equity securities will outperform debt securities over the long
term. Accordingly, the composition of our plan assets is broadly characterized as
a 65%/35% allocation between equity and debt securities. The strategy utilizes
indexed U.S. and non-U.S. equity securities and actively managed investment
grade debt securities. We attempt to mitigate investment risk by rebalancing
between equity and debt asset classes as our contributions and monthly benefit
payments are made.

We are not required to make contributions in 2004, as determined by minimum
required contribution calculations; hawever, discretionary contributions could be
made pending future funding considerations and asset performance significantly
above or below the assumed long-term rate of return on pension assets.



RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities” ("FIN 46”). In December 2003, FIN 48 was revised (“FIN 46R")
to clarify some of the provisions of FIN 46 and exempt certain entities from its
requirements. Application of FIN 46R is required in financial statements of public
entities that have interests in structures that are commonly referred to as special-
purpose entities for periods ending after December 15, 2003. Application by public
entities for all other types of variable interest entities is required in financial
statements for periods ending after March 15, 2004. The adoption of FIN 46R did
not result in @ material impact to our consolidated balance sheets or statements
of operations as of and for the year ended December 31, 2003.

In April 2003, the FASB issued Statement No. 149, “Amendment of Statement
133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” {"SFAS 149"). SFAS 149
amends and clarifies financial accounting and reporting for derivative instruments,
including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts (collectively,
referred to as derivatives) and for hedging activities under SFAS 133. This state-
ment is effective for contracts entered into or madified after June 30, 2003, and
for hedging relationships designated after June 30, 2003. We adopted SFAS 149,
which did not have a materia! effect on our operating results or financial condition.

In May 2003, the FASB issued Statement No. 150, "Accounting For
Certain Financial instruments With Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity”
("SFAS 150"). SFAS 150 establishes standards for how a company classifies
and measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities
and equity. It requires that a company classify a financial instrument that is
within its scope as a liability {or an asset in some circumstances). Our redeem-
able junior preferred stock, issued in connection with the Allied Acquisition,
was subject to SFAS 150. We issued 24,500 shares of junior preferred stack, due
in 2010, to an affiliate of Exel, plc, having an initial liquidation preference of
$24,500. The dividend rate on the junior preferred stock was 12.4% compounded
guarterly and was cumulative, although the payment of dividends was subject
to the discretion of our Board of Directars, and our ability to pay dividends was
subject to various debt agreements. Due to the beneficial owner of the junior
preferred stock being a foreign entity, IRS regulations required withholding taxes
to be paid with each quarterly dividend, even if the dividend was notional only.
All withholding payments made by us reduced the amount we ultimately paid
to redeem this instrument.

As required by SFAS 150, we reclassified $32.1 million of redeemable junior
preferred stock to redeemable junior preferred obligation, a lang-term liability
representing the settlement amount as of September 30, 2003. Beginning July 1,
2003, we recorded $1.8 million of interest expense, which previously would have
been treated as accretion of junior preferred stock dividends. Concurrent with our
initial public offering, we redeemed our junior preferred obligation in full.

in December 2002, the FASB issued a revised SFAS No. 132, “Employers’
Disclosures About Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits.” In 2003, we
adopted the revised disclosure requirements of this pronouncement, except for
certain disclosures about non-U.S. plans and estimated future benefit payments
that are not required until 2004.

RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER UNUSUAL ITEMS

In the year ended December 31, 2003, we recognized $3.5 million of non-cash
equity-based compensation expense in relation to stock subscriptions and stock
option grants made to certain managers and directors in 2003, The expense has
been recorded as the difference between the subscription or exercise price and
the deemed fair value of our common and redeemable common stock on the date
of grant in accordance with APB 25. The total non-cash equity-based compensation
expense to be recognized by us in respect of these transactions is $6.8 million.
We expect to recognize $1.5 million, $0.9 million, $0.5 million, $0.3 million and
$0.1 million in each of 2004, 2005, 2008, 2007 and 2008, respectively.

in the year ended December 31, 2002, we incurred $0.4 million of restructur-
ing and other unusual items, composed of a $7.1 million impairment charge dug
to a reduction in the number of software modules implemented as a result of a
change in business strategy in logistics services and $4.6 million of expenses
related to the December 2002 SIRVA headquarters move. These items were par-
tially offset by $7.4 million of pension and retiree medical curtailment gain as the
pension plan was frozen and retiree medical benefits were reduced, $3.0 million
of gain from the sale of our UK. industrial moving business and $0.9 million of
restructuring credit pertaining to the logistics services’ parts centers as we were
able to sublease certain parts centers facilities earlier than originally estimated.

In the year ended December 31, 2001, we incurred $4.9 miltion of restructur-
ing charges, of which $4.3 million related to exiting the logistics services’ parts
center business and associated headcount reductions and $0.6 million related to
our Moving Services — Europe and Asia Pacific segment’s U.K. branch network and
the elimination of management redundancy within this industrial moving unit.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report includes statements that constitute forward-looking statements within
the meaning of the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Words
such as “expects,” "believes,” “anticipates,” “includes,” “plans,” “assumes,”
“estimates,” “projects,” “intends” or variations of such wards are generally part
of forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are made based on
management's current expectations and beliefs concerning future developments
and their potential effects upon us and our subsidiaries. There can be no assurance
that future developments affecting us and our subsidiaries will be those anticipated
by management. These forward-looking statements are not a guarantee of future
performance and involve risks and uncertainties, and there are certain important
factors that could cause actual results to differ, possibly materially, from expecta-
tions or estimates reflected in such forward-looking statements, including without
limitation: our ability to continue to compete successfully; changes in the market
for our services; general economic conditions being less favarabie than expected;
global political conditions and the outbreak of war or hostilities or the accurrence
of any terrorist attacks, including any nuclear, biological or chemical events; the
success of our business strategy and our ability to grow our relocation services
business; risks associated with the real estate industry; risks associated with the
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insurance industry and the ratings of our insurance businesses; increases in costs,
including fuel costs and insurance premiums; risks of litigation or governmental
investigations as a result of our operations; contingent or future environmental
liabilities; the seasonal nature of our business; our reliance an, and our ability

to attract, agents and owner operators; changes in the regulatory environment,
including antitrust, tax, environmenta! and insurance Jaws and regulations, that
could negatively affect the operation of our business; risks associated with oper-
ating in foreign countries; loss of our key executive officers or employees; our
ability to consummate and integrate potential acquisitions; our status as a holding
company with no significant operations and consequent reliance on our subsidiaries
to make funds available to us; our levels of debt; risks associated with information
systems and information systems providers; economic market and political condi-
tions, including the performance of financial markets; volatility in the securities
markets; and fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. We do not intend,
and we are under no obligation, to update any particular forward-looking statement
included in this report. The information referred to above, as well as the risks of
our business described in our Prospectus filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on Naovember 25, 2003, pursuant to Rule 424{b}i4) of the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended and our other filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, should be considered by readers when reviewing forward-looking
statements contained in this report.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE
DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to various market risks, including changes in interest rates and
foreign currency exchange rates.

We are exposed to various interest rate risks that arise in the normal course
of business. We finance our operations with borrowings composed primarily of
variable rate indebtedness. Significant increases in interest rates cauld adversely
affect our operating margins, results of operations and our ability to service
indebtedness. A 1% rate increase would increase our gross interest expense by
$4.4 million over the next year. The interest rate swap instruments described below
would reduce the annual impact of a 1% change by $1.8 million. An increase of
1% in interest rates payable on our variable rate indebtedness would increase
our annual interest rate expense by approximately $2.6 million in the next year.

We utilize interest rate agreements and foreign exchange contracts to man-
age interest rate and foreign currency exposures. The principal objective of such
coniracts is to minimize the risks and/or costs associated with financial and inter-
national operating activities. We do not utilize financial instruments for trading
purposes. The counterparties to these cantractual arrangements are financial
institutions with which we also have other financial relationships. We are exposed
to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by these counterparties, but we
have no reason to anticipate nonperformance by the other parties.
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We had four open interest rate swap agreements as of December 31, 2003.
The intent of these agreements is to reduce interest rate risk by swapping an
unknown variable interest rate for a fixed rate. These agreements qualify for
hedge accounting treatment; therefare, market rate changes in the effective
portion of these derivatives are reported in accumulated other comprehensive
income. The following is a recap of each agreement.

Notional amount $60.6 million ~ $60.0 million  $40.0 mitlion  $20.0 million
Fixed rate paid 3.10% 2.89% 2.43% 2.44%
Variahle rate received 1-month LIBOR  1-month LIBOR  1-month LIBOR  1-month LIBOR
Expiration date January 2007 March 2006 April 2005 April 2005

Assets, liabilities and commitments that are to be settled in cash and are denomi-
nated in foreign currencies for transaction purposes are sensitive to changes in
currency exchange rates. All material trade receivable balances are denominated in
the host currency of the local operation. For the years ended December 31, 2003 and
2002, we recognized a currency gain of $0.1 million and a currency loss of $0.3 mil-
lion, respectively, for transactional related items.

From time to time, we utilize foreign currency forward contracts in the regular
course of business to manage our exposure against foreign currency fluctuations.
The forward contracts establish the exchange rates at which we will purchase or
sell the contracted amaunt of U.S. dollars for specified foreign currencies at a
future date. We utilize forward contracts that are short-term in duration {less than
ane year). The major currency exposures hedged by us are the Australian dollar,
the British pound sterling and the euro. The contract amounts of foreign currency
forwards at December 31, 2003 and 2002 were $20.7 million and $3.4 million,
respectively. A hypothetical 10% adverse movement in foreign exchange rates
applied to our foreign currency exchange rate-sensitive instruments held as of
December 31, 2003 would result in 2 hypothetical loss of approximately $0.5 mil-
lion. Because these derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment,
changes in fair value relating to these derivatives are recognized in current period
earnings. For the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, we recognized losses
of $2.1 million and $0.1 million, respectively, resulting fram changes in the fair
value of foreign currency derivatives.

We hold various convertible bonds in the investment portfolio of our insurance
operations. The value of the conversion feature is bifurcated from the value of the
underlying bond. Changes in fair value are recorded in current period earnings. For
the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, we recognized a gain of $1.9 million
and loss of $0.7 million, respectively. The insurance investment portfolio also
included marketable debt and equity securities that are classified as available-
for-sale and are recorded at fair value within other assets on our balance sheet.
Unrealized holding gains and losses, net of the refated tax effect, on available-
for-sale securities are excluded from earnings and are reported as a separate
companent of ather comprehensive income until realized.



Consolidated Balance Sheets

Dollars in thousands except share and per share data December 31, 2003 2002
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 63,065 $ 45480
Short-term investments 1,759 7,062
Accounts and notes receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $21,098 and 325,059, respectively 372,804 308,565
Mortgages held for resale 58,063 42,798
Relocation properties held for resale, net of allowance for loss on sale of $2,200 and $1,772, respectively 89,128 39,115
Deferred income taxes 37,126 37,151
Other current assets 33,207 31,600
Total current assets 661,152 512,771
Investments 90,255 66,919
Property and equipment, net 180,985 171,257
Goodwilt 355,141 331147
Intangible assets, net 228,359 228,177
Other long-term assets 33.465 47,264
Total long-term assets 888,205 844,784
Total assets $1,549,357 $1,357.535
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt $ 560 § 22412
Current portion of capital lease obligations 4,551 4,849
Short-term debt 96,430 72,399
Accounts payable 110,315 83,962
Relocation properties related payables 72,572 38,630
Accrued transportation expense 69,694 63,691
Insurance and claims reserves 80,266 76,571
Accrued income taxes 6,722 3,970
Other current liabilities 168,146 154,763
Total current liabilities 609,256 521,247
Long-term debt 427,463 557,710
Capital lease obligations 18,072 14,122
Deferred income taxes 35,848 26,731
Other long-term liabilities 63,370 71,653
Total long-term liabilities 544,753 670,216
Total liabilities 1,154,009 1,191,463
Commitments and caontingencies (Note 19)
Redeemable shares of commaon stock, $0.01 par value, 3,702,249 shares issued and

1,870,053 outstanding at December 31, 2002 - 7375
Redeemable junior preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 24,500 shares authorized, issued and

outstanding at December 31, 2002, with a liquidation preference of $1,000 per share - 30,401
Stockholders’ Equity
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 500,000,000 shares authorized with 73,029,346 issued and 70,435,367 outstanding

at December 31, 2003 and 55,232,644 issued and 54,730,865 outstanding at December 31, 2002, respectively 130 552
Additional paid-in-capital 446,522 198,032
Common stock purchase warrant 655 655
Unearned compensation (3,229) -
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (18,542} {29,075)
Accumulated deficit (20,670) (39,620)
Total paid-in-capital and accumulated deficit 405,466 130,544
Less cost of treasury stock, 2,593,979 and 501,779 shares at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively {10,118) (2,248)
Total stockholders' equity 395,348 128,296
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $1,549,357 $1,357,535

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Operations

Dollars in thousands except share and per share data Years ended December 31, 2003 2002 2001
Operating revenues $2,349,859 $2,185,646 $2,249,303
Operating expenses:
Purchased transportation expense 1,299,863 1,303,217 1,438,753
Other direct expense 576,051 463,935 426,444
Total direct expenses 1,875,914 1,767,152 1,865,197
Gross margin 473,945 418,494 384,106
General and administrative expense 338,108 319,908 315,800
" Goodwill and intangibles amortization 6,149 3,894 10,906
Equity-based compensation expense 3,537 - -
Asset impairment charge - 7,092 -
Curtailment and other gains - (10,377) -
Restructuring and headquarters move ~ 3,716 4,883
Income from operations 126,151 94,261 52,517
Other income (expense) and minarity interest 445 (640) (51)
Debt extinguishment expense 37,588 - -
Interest expense on redeemable preferred obligation 1,815 - -
Interest expense 58,507 61,169 69,153
Income (loss) before income taxes and cumulative effect of accounting change 28,686 32452 (16.687)
Provision {benefit) for income taxes 9,736 11,631 (131)
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting change 18,950 20,821 {16,558)
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax - - (328)
Net income (loss) $ 18,950 $ 20821 $ (16,884)
income {loss) per share before cumulative effect of accounting change —~ basic $ 0.29 $ 0.33 $ {0.47)
Income {loss} per share before cumulative effect of accounting change — diluted $ 0.27 $ 0.33 $ (047)
Net income (loss) per share — basic $ 0.29 $ 0.33 $ {048)
Net income (loss) per share — diluted $ 0.27 3 033 $ {0.48)
Average number of common shares outstanding — basic 58,104,742 51,712,625 42,308,361
Average number of common shares outstanding - diluted 60,933,868 51,832,236 42,308,361

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Dollars in thousands . Years ended December 31, 2003 2002 2001
Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net income {loss) before cumulative effect of accounting change $ 18,950 $ 20821 3 (16,556)
Adjustments to reconcile net income {loss} to net cash provided by operating activities:
Cumulative effect of accounting change - - (328)
Depreciation and amortization 48,058 44,249 48,742
Amartization of deferred debt issuance costs 3,224 3N 2,792
Premium on bond extinguishment 24,951 - -
Write-off of deferred debt issuance costs 12,637 - -
Change in pravision for losses on accounts and notes receivable 3,405 8,893 995
Deferred income taxes 9,479 {5,752) (8,712}
Impairment loss and {gain)/loss on sale of assets, net {2,030) 3,651 1,063
Change in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquisitions:
Accounts and notes receivable (19,894) 5,531 98,081
Originations of mortgages held for resale (836,570) {481,091) -
Sales of mortgages held for resale 821,305 464,312 -
Relocation properties held for resale, net (44,167) (1.249) -
Accounts payable 18.427 (9,055) {10,372}
Other current assets and liabilities 19,350 (7.334) (17,514}
Other Yong-term assets and liabilities 1,536 23,085 16,942
Net cash provided by operating activities 78,661 67,232 115,123
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Additions of property and equipment (28,583) (33,463) (48,348)
Purchases of investments (119,608} (66,999} {87,305)
Proceeds from sale or maturity of investments 98,950 62,068 81,905
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired {33,035) {102,625) {21,357}
Other investing activities 4,097 3,520 2,106
Net cash used for investing activities (78.179) (137,499) (72,999)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Borrowings on revolving credit facility and short-term debt 463,379 330,265 379,549
Repayments on revolving credit facility and short-term debt (504,676) {335,665) (417.492)
Borrowings on martgage warehouse facility 816,829 481618 ~
Repayments on mortgage warehouse facility (803,214) {465,622) -
Borrowings on relocation financing facilities 70,938 11,333 -
Repayments on relocation financing facilities (49,803) (9.106) -
Borrowings on long-term debt, exciuding revolving credit facility 426,504 50,403 872
Redemption of junior preferred obligation (32,633) - -
Repayments on long-term debt (560,872) (26,894) {11,833)
Premium on bond extinguishment (24,951) - _
Repayments on capital lease obligations (6,028) (4,983) (2,482)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 250,658 66,315 -
Payment of initial public offering costs {20,594) - -
Other financing activities {11,521) {15,528) {1,830)
Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities 14,016 82,136 {53.416)
Effect of translation adjustments on cash 3,087 1,492 (120)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 17,585 13,361 (11,412)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 45,480 32,119 43,531
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 63,065 § 45480 § 32119
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow infarmation —
cash paid during the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001:
Interest $ 47,353 § 45,343 $ 56,649
Income taxes $ 7,969 § 4883 $ 3159

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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] SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business Organization and Description

This report covers SIRVA, Inc. {the “Company”) and its wholly owned subsidiaries
SIRVA Worldwide, Inc. ("SIRVA Worldwide"}, CMS Holding, LLC {"CMS Holding”)
and RS Acquisition Holding, LLC and each of its wholly owned subsidiaries.

On March 29, 1998, the Company was incorporated and capitalized by
Clayton, Dubilier & Rice Fund V Limited Partnership (“Fund V"). A wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company was: then capitalized for the purpose of acquiring
all of the capital stock of North American Van Lines, Inc. {(“NAVL"} from Norfolk
Southern Corporation ("NS” and the "1998 acquisition”). The 1998 acquisition
was accounted for as a purchase and resulted in a new basis of accounting for
the Company. On November 19, 1999, the Company sold common stock to Fund V
for the purpose of partially financing the acquisition of the NFC Moving Services
Group ("Allied” and “the Allied Acquisition”) from Exel, plc {"Seller” formerly NFC
ple). On May 3 and April 12, 2002, the Company sold additional common stock to
Clayton, Dubilier & Rice Fund V{ Limited Partnership {“Fund V1) for the purpose
of completing the acquisitions of Cooperative Resource Services Ltd. (“CRS")
and the business {"NAIT") of VCW, Inc. and its affiliate, National Association of
Independent Truckers, Inc. See Note 2 for further information on these and other
acquisitions. Fund V and Fund VI are private investment funds managed by
Clayton, Dubilier & Rice, Inc. {“CD&R").

On November 7, 2003, the Company's Board of Directors approved a 3.17 for 1
stock split of the Company’s common stock, effected by means of a reclassifica-
tion. The stock split became effective on November 24, 2003. In connection with
the stock split, the Company filed a certificate of amendment to its certificate of
incorporation on November 10, 2003 increased the number of shares of its com-
mon stock from 24,000,000 to 500,000,000. Periods presented have been restated
to show the effect of the stack split.

The Company effected an initial public offering (the “Offaring”) of shares of
its common stock on November 24, 2003 pursuant to a registration statement,
No. 333-108185, as amended, under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. In
connection with the Offering, the Company effected a refinancing of its existing
senior credit facility with a new senior credit facility. The commitments provided
by the lenders for the new senior credit facility provided for the Company and
one or more of its foreign subsidiaries to be the borrowers under the facility. In
connection with an internal reorganization, the Company provided that SIRVA
Worldwide is the primary borrower under the new senior credit facility, with ang
or more of its foreign subsidiaries as additional borrowers. See Nate 11.

In connection with the Offering, the Company effected a tender offer for all of
the 133/8% senior subordinated notes due in 2009 issued by North American Van
Lines, a wholly owned subsidiary of SIRVA Worldwide. A portion of the net pro-
ceeds from the Offering and barrowings under the new senior credit facility was
used to finance the note repurchase. In connection with the tender offer, the
Company received the requisite cansents to remove substantially all of the restric-
tive covenants and certain other provisions from the indenture governing its senior
subordinated notes with a supplemental indenture agresment executed effective
November 18, 2003. Approximately 93% of the notes were tendered in connection
with this offer.

The consummation of the tender offer and senior credit facility refinancing
resulted in a charge of $24,951 for tender premiums on the 133/8% seniar subor-
dinated notes, a $12,637 write-off of deferred debt issuance costs on the existing
senior credit facility and indenturs and a $1,308 write-off of unrecognized hedging
losses associated with open interest rate swap agreements to interest expense.
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The Company operates as a global provider of relocation and moving
services to corporate clients, military and government agencies and the consumer
market. In addition, the Company offers a variety of services targeted at meeting
the needs of truck drivers, fleet owners and agents, bath inside and outside of
our proprietary agent network. The Company also provides inventory management
solutions, using proprietary asset management technology, to coordinate a variety
of services such as order fulfillment, project-specific delivery management and
tracing of products through a customer’s supply chain.

The Company markets its services under the brand names of SIRVA Relocation,
northAmerican Van Lines, Allied Van Lines, Global Van Lines, Allied International,
Pickfards and Allied Pickfords, among others, with operations located throughout
the United States, Canada, United Kingdom, Continental Europe, Australia,

New Zealand and other Asia Pacific locations. The Campany conducts its U.S.
and Canadian operations primarily through a network of exclusive agents with
approximately 1,300 locations. The Company conducts its other forgign business
primarily through units that it owns and operates directly, using selected other
affiliated representatives to geographically complete its service offering on a
worldwide basis.

Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and
its subsidiaries. All material intercompany accounts and transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation.

Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments purchased three manths or less
from original maturity.

Contracts Receivable and Resale Equipment Inventory

In the normal course of business, the Company sells tractors, trailers and other
equipment (“resale equipment inventary”) to its agents and to awner operatars
under exclusive sales agreements (“contracts receivable”). Sales of equipment
are financed by the Company, generally over a four-year period. Resale equipment
inventory is recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value determined as
the fair value of the equipment less the estimated cost to sell the equipment.
These balances are includad in other current assets and other long-term assets.

Mortgages Held for Resale

The mortgage lending services operation of the Company initiates mortgage loans
for relocating employees. The loan inventory has corresponding purchase commit-
ments from private investors. Mortgages held for resale are carried at the lower
of cost ar market. Cost is the outstanding principal balance of the martgage notes
reduced by the net deferred fees. In addition, certain direct costs are recognized
upon sale. Commitments to sell loans are included in determining market value.

Relocation Properties Held for Resale

The Company purchases hames under certain relocation programs. These proper-
ties are held for resale and consist of residential homes carried at the lower of
cost or market, as determined by appraisal of the properties. Homes in inventory
are subject to mortgages payable by the transferees to various mortgage lenders.
Relocation properties related payables at December 31, 2003 and 2002 include
$31,707 and $16,568, respectively, of amounts payable to transferees for subse-
quent payoff of the martgages on the related homes. As the homes are sold to an
ultimate buyer, the mortgage payable is paid off at the time of closing on behalf
of the transferees to satisfy the mortgage notes on the properties.




Supplies Inventory

Supplies inventory consists of pallets, blanket stock, crates, replacement and
repair parts and tires and is valued at the lower of cost, determined using a
first-in, first-out method, or market. See Note 4.

Investments
investments consist of U.S. Treasury and corporate debt and equity securities
and interests in joint ventures. Investments are classified as current or noncurrent
based on their maturities and/or the Company’s expectations of sales and redemp-
tions in the following year. Interest and dividends on debt and equity securities are
included in income as earned. The Company classifies its debt securities in one of
twao categories: available-for-sale or held-to-maturity. Held-to-maturity securities
are those securities in which the Company has the ability and intent to hold the
securities until maturity. All other securities are classified as available-for-sale.
Available-for-sale securities are recorded at fair value. Held-to-maturity secu-
rities are recorded at amortized cost, adjusted for the amortization or accretion
of premiums or discounts. Unrealized holding gains and losses, net of the related
tax effect, on available-for-sale securities are excluded from earnings and are
reported as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income
until realized. Realized gains and losses from the sale of available-for-sale securi-
ties are determined on a specific identification basis.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is computed on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets. The
estimated useful lives used in computing depreciation are summarized as follows:

Useful Life

Buildings and improvements
Transportation equipment

Warehouse equipment 5to 10 years
Computer equipment and software 3to 5 years
Other 2t0 10 years

20 to 40 years
410 15 years

Transportation equipment includes tractors, straight trucks, trailers, van equipment,
containers and satellite-communication equipment. Salvage values are calculated
only on tractors, straight trucks and trailers.

Leased property and equipment meeting certain criteria are capitalized, and the
present value of the related lease payments is recorded as a lability. Depreciation
of capitalized leased assets is computed on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the term of the lease or the useful life of the capitalized lease asset.

The amount of internally developed software, representing primarily the cost of
independent contractor-developed software at the application development stage
of the project, that was capitalized during the years ended December 31, 2003
and 2002 was $4,926 and $6,937, respectively, and is included in computer equip-
ment and software. Amortization of capitalized software costs for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2007 was $3,943, $3,390 and $2,513, respectively.
All other costs are expensed as incurred.

Repairs and maintenance expenditures are charged to expense as incurred.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Intangible assets consist of trade names, customer relationships, member
relationships and covenants not 1o compete. Trade names, which have indefinite
lives, and goodwill are not amortized as of January 1, 2002. Customer relation-
ships and covenants not to compete are amortized from 7 to 18 years and 2 to
5 years, respectively. Commencing October 1, 2003, the Company amortized cus-
tomer and member relationship intangible assets over their remaining useful lives
using an accelerated amortization method to mare closely reflect the pattern in
which economic benefits of the intangible assets are utilized. Under this method,
approximately 50% of these intangible assets will be amortized over the first
5 years of their respective useful lives, which average 14.5 years, thereby result-
ing in approximately half of the amortization expense being recognized over the
first third of the intangible’s useful life. See Note 7.

The impact of the additional amortization expense recognized during the
fourth quarter of 2003 was $335, net of taxes, or $0.01 per share — basic, or
$0.01 per share — difuted.

Deferred Agent Contract Costs

Deferred agent contract costs are payments made to certain agents for entering
into long-term contracts with the Company and are included in other long-term
assets. These payments are capitalized and amartized over the lives of the related
contracts, which generally range from 3 to 10 years. The amortization is included in
goodwill and intangibles amortization in the consolidated statements of operations.

Unearned Premiums and Other Deferred Credits

Unearned premiums are related to the Network Services segment and are included
in other current liabilities. Deferred credits are refated to the Relocation Solutions
segments and are included in other current liabilities. As ungarned premiums and
deferred credits are recognized, they are recorded as operating revenugs.

Insurance and Claims Reserves
The Company has purchased first dollar insurance coverage with certain deductibles
or insurance coverage with certain self-insured retentions, for principally all insur-
able business risks. The Company estimates costs relating to cargo damage and
delay claims based principally on actuarial methods applied to histarical trends.
The Company’s multiple-line property and commercial liability insurance group
sets its reserve rates based on a percentage of earned premium. The percentage
is based on historical data, run rates and actuarial methods.

A cargo claims analysis is performed each quarter comparing open and
closed claim costs, as well as estimates for incurred but not reported claim costs,
to the criginal estimates, and changes to those estimates are recorded as appro-
priate. The Company recognized favorable accrual adjustments related to prior
year estimates of $5,356 for the year ended December 31, 2002. These favorable
adjustments were a result of improved experience when compared to historical
trends and estimates. This improved claims experience was attributable to a com-
bination of reduced shipment volumes that reduced the frequency of claims and
new quality-control initiatives implemented by the Company.

For the year ended December 31, 2002, the impact, net of taxes, of the
favorable accrual adjustments was $3,436, or $0.07 per share — basic, or $0.07
per share ~ diluted.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Revenue Recognition

The Company's moving services operations recognize estimated gross operating
revenue to be invoiced to the transportation customer and all related transporta-
tion expenses on the date a shipment is delivered or services are completad.
Calculations by shipment are based upon estimated weights resulting from a
survey of the home and the known distances between origin and destination.
The estimate of revenue remains in a receivable account called Oelivered Not
Processed {"DNP”} until the customer is invoiced. Concurrent with the DNP esti-
mate, the Company recagnizes an accrual for purchased transportation expenses
{"PTE") to account for the estimated costs of packing services, transportation
expenses and other such costs associated with the service delivery. The estimate
for PTE is not adjusted until the Company receives actual charges, which are
typically within 30 days of the estimate.

In the relocation services operations, fees are paid to the Company by corpo-
rate customers at either a fixed price per transferred employee or based upon a
fixed percentage of the home's selling price. In either case, revenue is recognized
when a home sale contract with the ultimate buyer is signed. However, if the
Company purchases a property from the transferee when no outside buyer has
been located and the property enters the Company’s inventory, revenue is not rec-
ognized on that property until the closing of a sale to an outside buyer. Additionally,
fees are paid to the Company by Company-qualified real estate agents for the
listing or home purchase referral of a transferred employee and are recognized
as revenue when a home sale contract with the ultimate buyer is signed.

In addition, within relocation services, the Company recognizes gains or losses
on the sale of mortgage loans at the date the loans are funded by purchasers
pursuant to the existing sales commitment. The gain or Joss equals the difference
between the basis in the loan and the net proceeds received and are included in
operating revenues in the consolidated statement of operations. Sales of loans
are made without recourse, provided the loans meet predetermined specifications,
as defined in the agreements with investors. The Company dogs not currently
service mortgage loans.

The Company, within the Network Services segment in the insurance services
unit, recognizes revenue evenly over a 12-month period when an annual insurance
policy is written.

The Company, within the Transportation Solutions segment, recognizes operat-

ing revenues when a shipment is delivered or services are completed.

Foreign Currency Transiation

A majarity of the Company's foreign operations use the local currency as their
functiona! currency. Assets and liabilities of these operations are translated to
U.S. dollars at the exchange rates in effect on the balance sheet date. The impact
of currency fluctuation is included in stockholders” equity as a component of accu-
mulated other comprehensive income. Income statement items are translated at
the average exchange rate.

Income Taxes

The Company follows Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”)

No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” ("SFAS 108"). Under the asset and
liability method of SFAS 109, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized
for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial
statement carrying amaunts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective
tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax
laws and tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which
those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect
on deferred tax assets and liabilities due to a change in tax rates is recognized
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in income in the period that includes the enactment date. In addition, the amounts
of any future tax benefits are reduced by a valuation allowance to the extent such
benefits are not expected to be realized on a more likely than not basis.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted

accounting principles (GAAP) requires management to make estimates and assump-

tions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure

of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported

amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results

could differ from those estimates. Some of the areas where estimation is
significant are as follows:

* DNP is the estimated revenue associated with shipments delivered or
services completed and not invoiced.

s PTE is the associated purchased transportation expense that is estimated
corresponding to the DNP revenue.

* An allowance for doubtful accounts and notes receivable is maintained for
estimated losses resulting from the inability of the Company's customers and
agents to make required payments. If the financial condition of the Company’s
customers and agents were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of
their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required. At
December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company had allowances of $9,228 and
$13,518, respectively, relating to fully reserved accounts receivable fram
terminated agents and owner operators.

* Anallowance is maintained for the amount by which the estimated price to
be received on the sale of the Company's relocation properties held for resale
is less than the purchase price. If the Company experienced a further reduc-
tion in the market value of the homes in inventory, additional allowances may
be required.

* The Company offers cartain incentives ta its agents and corporate customers.
Incentives offered to agents are based upon revenue growth targets. These
are recognized ratably over the period of the incentive agreement as a compo-
nent of general and administrative expenses. Incentives offered to corporate
customers are based upon meeting certain revenue thresholds, and are recog-
nized as a reduction in operating revenues ratably over the period of incentive.
The Company estimates and accrues both incentives based upon actual
progression towards achievement of the incentive targets. The Company
recognized agent incentives of $3,422, $3,206 and $3,689 in the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. In addition, the Company
recagnized customer incentives of $6,750, $7.144 and $8,762 in the years
ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

» SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” {"SFAS 142”), requires
that an annual impairment review be performed, which reguires the Company
to place a fair value on the individual reporting units of the business. The
Company performs the impairment review during the fourth quarter. This
requires the Company to select an appropriate method of valuation for the
business using discounted estimated cash flows and to assess assumptions
inherent in such @ method on an annual basis. In addition, whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of goodwill and
other indefinite-lived intangible assets might not be recoverable, the Company
will perform an impairment review. The judgments made in determining
whether goodwill and other intangible assets are impaired will diractly affect
reported operating income, since any time the Company determines that any
of these assets are impaired, a charge will be recognized in the statement
of operations equal to the decline in value of such assets.




¢ The Company periodically assesses impairments of long-lived assets in accor-
dance with the provisions of SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment
or Disposal of Long-lived Assets” (“SFAS 144"}, An impairment review is
performed whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may not be recoverable. Factors considered by the Company
include, but are not limited to, significant underperformance relative to histor-
ical or projected future operating results; significant changes in the manner
of use of the acquired assets or the strategy for the Company’s overall busi-
ness; and significant negative industry or economic trends. When the Company
determines that the carrying value of a long-lived asset may not be recoverable
based upon the existence of one or more of the above impairment indicators,
the Company estimates the future undiscounted cash flows expected to result
from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition. If the sum of these
expected future undiscounted cash flows and eventual disposition is less than
the carrying amount of the asset, the Company calculates an impairment lass. An
impairment loss is equal to the difference between the fair value of the asset
and its carrying value. Fair value is generally determined using a discounted
cash flow methodology.

« The Company provides a range of benefits to employees and retired employees,
including defined benefit retirement plans, postretirement health care and
life insurance benefits and postemployment benefits (primarily severance).
The Company records annual amounts relating to these plans based on calcu-
lations specified by GAAP, which include various actuarial assumptions, such
as discount rates, assumed rates of return, compensation increases, turnover
rates and health care cost trend rates. The Company reviews its actuarial
assumptions on an annual basis and makes modifications ta the assumptions
based on current rates and trends when it is deemed appropriate to do so.
As required by GAAP, the effect of the modifications is generally recorded or
amortized over future periods. The Company believes that the assumptions
utilized in recording its obligations under the plans are reasonable based on
gxperience and advice from third-party actuaries.

Adoption of New Standards and Recent Accounting Pronsuncements
Effective January 1, 2001, the Company adopted SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended, ("SFAS 133"), which
resulted in a change in method of accounting. The cumulative effect of this account-
ing change was a loss of $547 (§328, net of tax). SFAS 133 established accounting
and reporting standards for derivative instruments, including certain derivative
instruments embedded in other contracts, and for hedging activities. It requires
recognition of all derivatives as either assets or liabilities on the balance sheet
and the measurement of those instruments at fair value. Changes in the fair value
of derivatives will be recorded in each period in earnings or accumulated other
camprehensive income {“0C!"), depending upon whether a derivative is designated
and is effective as part of a hedge transaction and, if it is, the type of hedge trans-
action. If the derivative is designated and is effective as a cash flow hedge, the
effective portions of the changes in the fair value of the derivative are recorded

in OCl and are recognized as a component of general and administrative expense
in the statement of operations when the hedged item affects earnings. Ineffective
portions are recognized as a component of selling, general and administrative
expense in earnings.

Adopting-the provisions of SFAS 133 had the following effect on the Company’s
garnings per share calculations:

Years ended December 31, 2003 2002 2000
Basic net income {loss) per share before

cumulative effect of accounting change $0.29 $0.33 ${0.47)
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax - - {0.01)
Basic net income floss} per share after

cumulative effect of accounting change $0.29 $0.33 $(0.48)
Diluted net income (loss) per share

before cumulative effect of accounting change $0.27 $0.33 $(0.47)
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax - - (0.01)

Diluted net income (loss) per share after
cumulative effect of accounting change $0.27 $0.33 $(0.48}

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”
[“SFAS 142"}, which requires that goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives no longer be amortized, but rather be tested for impairment at least
annually. The Company adopted the provisions of SFAS 142 effective January 1,
2002. See Note 7. ‘

In December 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 148, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and
Disclosure” ("SFAS 148"), an amendment of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123").
This statement amends SFAS 123 to provide alternative methods of transition for
a voluntary change to the fair value-based method of accounting for stock-based
employee compensation and amends the disclosure requirements to require
prominent disclosure in both annual and interim financial statements about the
method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect
of the method used on reported results. The Company has adopted only the
disclosure requirements of SFAS 148. See Note 18.

Had the Company elected to apply the provisions of SFAS 123 and SFAS 148
regarding recognition of compensation expense to the extent of the calculated fair
value of stock options granted, net income (loss) would have changed as follows:

Years ended December 31, 2003 2002 2001
Net income (loss) as reported $18,950 $20,821 $(16,884)
Equity-based compensation expense included

in net income, net of tax 974 - -
Pro forma compensation cost under fair value

method, net of tax (1,598) {356) (407)
Pro forma net income (loss) $18,326 $20,465 $(17.291}
Basic net income (loss) per share, as reported $ 029 $ 033 $ (048
Basic net income {loss) per share, pro forma $ 0.28 § 033 $ (049
Diluted net income (loss) per share, as reported $ 027 $ 033 $ {048
Diluted net income {loss) per share, pro forma $ 0.26 $ 033 $ {049

In accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123, as amended by SFAS 148, the
Company has elected to continue 1o account for stock-based compensation under
the intrinsic value-based method of accounting described by Accounting Principles
Board Opinion 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“"APB 25"). Under
APB 25, generally no cost is recorded for stock options issued to employees
unless the option price is below market at the time options are granted.
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The fair value of each aption is estimated on the date of grant, using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average assump-
tions used: risk-free interest rates of 4.54% to 4.59% for 2001, 3.05% to 4.27%
for 2002 and 2.20% to 3.73% for 2003, expected volatility of 0.01% far options
granted prior to the Offering and 42.5% for options granted subsequent to the
Offering, expected life of five years prior to the Offering and six years subsequent
to the Offering and no dividend payments.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation
of Variable Interest Entities” (“FIN 48"). In December 2003 FIN 46 was revised
{“FIN 46R"} to clarify same of the provisions of FIN 46 and exempt certain entities
from its requirements. Application of FIN 46R is required in financial statements
of public entities that have interests in structures that are commonly referred to as
special-purpose entities for periods ending after December 15, 2003. Application by
public entities for all other types of variable interest entities is required in financial
statements for periods ending after March 15, 2004. The adoption of FIN 46R did
not result in a material impact to the consolidated balance sheets or statements
of aperations of the Company as of and for the year ended December 31, 2003.

In April 2003, the FASB issued Statement No. 149, “Amendment of Statement
133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” {“"SFAS 149"). SFAS 149

amends and clarifies financial accounting and reporting for derivative instruments,

including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts {collectively
referred to as derivatives) and for hedging activities under SFAS 133, This state-
ment is effective for contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003, and
for hedging relationships designated after June 30, 2003. We adopted SFAS 149,
which did not have a material effect on our operating results or financial condition.
In May 2003, the FASB issued Statement No. 150, “Accounting for Certain
Financial Instruments With Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity”
{"SFAS 150"). SFAS 150 establishes standards for how a company classifies
and measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities
and equity. It requires that a company classify a financial instrument that is
within its scope as a liability (or an asset in some circumstances). The Company's

redeemable junior preferred stock, issued in connection with the Allied Acguisition,

was subject to SFAS 150. The Company issued 24,500 shares of junior preferred
stock, due in 2010, to an affiliate of Exel, plc, having an initia) liquidation prefer-
ence of $24,500. The dividend rate on the junior preferred stock was 12.4%
compounded gquarterly and was cumulative, although the payment of dividends
was subject to the discretion of the Company's Board of Directors, and the
Company’s ability to pay dividends was subject to various debt agreements. Due
to the beneficial owner of the junior preferred stock being a foreign entity, IRS
regulations required withholding taxes to be paid with each quarterly dividend,
even if the dividend was notional anly. Al withholding payments made by the
Company reduced the amount ultimately paid to redeem this instrument.

As required by SFAS 150, the Company reclassified $32,046 of redeemable
junior preferred stock to redeemable junior preferred obligation, a long-term
liability representing the settlement amount as of September 30, 2003. For the

year ended December 31, 2003, the Company recorded $1,815 of interest expense,

which previously would have been treated as accretion of junior preferred stock
dividends. Concurrent with the Offering, the Company redeemed its junior
preferred obligation in full.

in December 2003, the FASB issued a revised SFAS No. 132, “Employers’
Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits.” In 2003, the
Company adopted the revised disclosure requirements of this pronouncement,
except for certain disclosures about non-U.S. plans and estimated future
benefit payments that are not required until 2004. See Note 13.
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Reclassilications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the consolidated financial
statements for the prior periods presented ta conform with the December 31,
2003 presentation.

2 A@@UUSUH@NS AND EQUITY ISSUANCES

On June B, 2003, the Company purchased Scanvan, a Scandinavia-based moving
services company, for $23,533, net of acquired cash. The cost of Scanvan has been
preliminarily allocated to the net assets acquired and is subject to adjustment
when asset and liahility valuations are finalized. The acquisition of Scanvan was
part of the Company’s ongoing strategy to expand its relocation and moving capa-
bilities in major regions of the world. This acquisition offered the Company a direct
entrance into the Scandinavian market, where it historically had a limited presence.
The aggregate consideration for Scanvan was developed assessing both a multiple
of eamings and cash flow as well as its complementary geographic locations.

On July 29, 2002, the Company acquired The Rowan Group PLC and Rowan
Simmans Conveyancing Limited (together, “Rowan Simmons”), a U.K -based
provider of relocation services, including home sale and purchase assistance,
management of tenant responsibilities and other services to corporations that
assist employees in their relocation needs, for $14,242. The acquisition of Rowan
Simmons provided the Company with an entrance into the U.K. corporate relaca-
tion market, one of the largest individual markets in Europe, and represented
the continued strategic expansion of the Company’s global corporate relacation
service offering. The Company's decision to acquire Rowan Simmons was deter-
mined based on the need to service its relocation services customers throughout
the world. The aggregate consideration was developed assessing a multiple of
profits and cash flow as well as the strategic value to the Company for establish-
ing this portion of its global relocation footprint. The European presence afforded
by Rowan Simmons enabled the Company to immediately address the needs of
larger refocation services customers and substantially strengthened the Company’s
global relocation services product offering. These factors made Rowan Simmons
attractive to the Company and were a factor in the determination of purchase
consideration, which after allocation to the acquired tangible assets and liabilities
and acquired intangible assets, resulted in the recognition of goodwill. The values
attributed to identified intangible assets were determined based on an indepen-
dent third-party valuation. The purchase price was funded from the proceeds of a
bank loan. The cost to acquire Rowan Simmons has been allocated to the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed according to estimated fair values. The allocation
resulted in acquired goodwill, and customer relationships and covenants not to
compete of $11,428, $3,500 and $500, respectively, none of which is expected to
be deductible for tax purposes. Rowan Simmons is included within the Relocation
Solutions — Europe and Asia Pacific segment.

On May 3, 2002, the Company, through two wholly owned subsidiaries, pur-
chased the business conducted by CRS that provides comprehensive relocation
services to companies and their employees, including home sale services, reloca-
tion coordination services and mortgage lending services. One of these two
subsidiaries, SIRVA Relocation LLC {“SIRVA Relocation”), which is directly owned
by NAVL, purchased the non-mortgage lending operations net assets and equity
from CRS. The mortgage lending operations were purchased by the other subsidiary,
CMS Holding, which is directly owned by the Company. The acquisition of CRS
represented the first stage of the Company's strategy of expanding its corporate
relocation service offering, and provided a corporate relocation services business
within the United States from which to expand the Company's customer base in




this market. The Company believed that CRS had a strong reputation for quality
and customer service and a product offering that was unique in the industry. The
aggregate consideration was developed assessing a multiple of profits and cash
flow, as well as the value to the Company for establishing itself as a significant
provider of high-quality corporate relacation services. The ahility to immediately
expand our presence in the market, acquire a talented workforce, provide a com-
bined moving and relocation service offering to respond to customer demand,
create substantial cross-selling opportunities to provide moving services to reloca-
tion customers and relocation services to moving customers, and market CRS's
unique product offering were key factors in the determination of purchase consid-
eration, which after allocation to the acquired tangible assets and liabilities and
acquired intangible assets, resulted in the recognition of goodwill. The values
attributed to identified intangible assets were determined based on an indepen-
dent third-party valuation.

The combined cash purchase price for the acquisitions was $60,000, of which
$3,500 was paid for the assets of the mortgage lending operations. Of the total
purchase price, $45,000 was paid in cash and $15,000 (non-cash) was paid in notes
issued by the Company. In addition, certain liabilities relating to the acquired
business were assumed in connection with the acquisition, including $26,572 of
indebtedness under a revolving credit facility used to fund the mortgage lending
operations, which was assumed by CMS Holding. The cash purchase price for the
acquisition, as well as $24,133 of other indebtedness of the acquired business that
was retired as part of the acquisition, were financed with proceeds of $40,000 of
cash from the sale of 8,929,605 shares of the Company’s common stock to Fund
VI, and the incurrence of $50,000 additional senior indebtedness by the Company.
The cost to acquire CRS has been allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed according to estimated fair values. The allocation has resuited in acquired
goodwill of $55,628 customer relationships of $29,100 and covenants not to compete
of $6,300. The amortization periads for the definite-lived intangibles are 15 years
and 5 years for the customer refationships and covenants not to compete, respec-
tively. Of the $55,628 of acquired goodwill, an amount of $30,702 is expected to
be deductible for tax purposes. CRS is included within the Relocation Solutions —
North America segment.

On April 12, 2002, the Company purchased the NAIT business conducted
by VCW, a leading provider of insurance services to independent contract truck
drivers, and by certain of its affiliates, including the National Association of
Independent Truckers, Inc., for $25,359 in cash, $3,611 in assumed net liabilities,
a deferred amount of $3,000 payable subject to maintaining a certain number of
insured members as of December 31, 2002 and 2003 and an actuarially determined
amount of $7,428 to be paid during 2003 and 2004, based on insurance losses
incurred with respect to policies issued during the year ended December 31, 2001.
Through its Transguard unit, the Company offers insurance products taitored to
the needs of the transportation industry that pravide attractive financial returns.
Historically, the primary market for these and other fleet services was the Company’s
network affiliates. The acquisition of NAIT expanded the potential sales channel
for the Company's pre-existing insurance and fleet services to the member base of
NAIT. The aggregate consideration for this acquisition was developed assessing
both a multiple of profits and cash flow as well as the anticipated synergy bene-
fits that were expected from cost efficiencies and further market penetration. The
ability to sell our existing Network Services offerings to the NA(T membership
base, cost efficiencies and further market penetration were significant factors in
the determination of purchase consideration, which after allocation to the acquired
tangible assets and liabilities and acquired intangible assets, resulted in the
recognition of goodwill. The values attributed to identified intangible assets were
determined based on an independent third-party valuation. NAIT is now part of

TransGuard General Agency. The National Association of Independent Truckers
is an association of approximately 26,500 independent contract truck drivers that
provides its members with occupational accident, physical damage and non-trucking
liability insurance, as well as access to a suite of professional services. The pur-
chase price was funded from existing cash and investment balances and $20,000 of
cash from the sale of 4,464,818 shares of the Company’s common stock to Fund VI.
The cost to acquire NAIT has been allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed according to estimated fair values. The allocation has resulted in acquired
goodwill of $19,750, trade name of $12,300, member refationships of $3,200 and a
covenant not to compete of $5,800. The amortization periods for the definite-lived
intangibles are 8 years for member relationships and 5 years for the covenant
not to compete. All of the acquired goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax
purposes. NAIT is included within the Network Services segment.

The following unaudited pro forma consolidated information presents the
results of operations of the Company as if the acquisitions of CRS, NAIT and
Rowan Simmons had taken place at the beginning of each period presented:

Years ended December 31, 2002 2001
Operating revenues $2,224,460  $2,355,696
tncome {loss] before cumulative effect of accounting change 22,631 (10,832)
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax - (843)
Net income floss) § 22831 § (11675
Basic net income {loss) per share before cumulative

effect of accounting change $ 037 ¢ (0.34)
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax - (0.02)
Basic net income (loss) per share after cumulative

effect of accounting change $ 037 § 10.36)
Diluted net income {loss) per share before cumulative

effect of accounting change : $ 037 § (039
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax - (0.02)
Diluted net income (loss) per share after cumulative

effect of accounting change $ 037 § (0.3)

The unaudited pro forma consolidated results have been prepared for compar-
ative purposes only and do not purport to be indicative of the results of operations
that would have actually resulted had the combinations been in effect on
January 1, 2001, or of future results of operations. '

The following summary presents the estimated fair values of the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed as of the date of the acquisitions:

Rowan

NAIT Simmons CRS
Assets
Total current assets $§ 129 $ 4,034 $104,767
Property and equipment, net 293 347 6.206
Goodwill 19,750 11428 55628
Trade name 12,300 - -
Customer relationships - 4,000 29,100
Member relationships 3.200 - -
Covenants not to campete 5,800 1,000 6,300
Total assets 341,472 $20,809 $202,001
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Mortgage warehouse facility $ - 3 - $26,572
Other current liabilities 4,033 363 81,144
Long-term liabilities - 1,500 5,944
Stockholders’ equity 37,439 15,678 88,341
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $41,472 $20,809 $202,001
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3 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents included $34,547 and $22,422 at December 31, 2003
and 2002, respectively, relating to the Company's whally owned insurance
subsidiaries. While these cash balances may be used without limitation by the
insurance subsidiaries for their operations, the payment of cash dividends by the
insurance subsidiaries to the Company is principally dependent upon the amount
of their statutory policyholders’ surplus available for dividend distribution. The
insurance subsidiaries’ ability to pay cash dividends to the Company is, in turn,
generally restricted by law or subject to approval of the insurance regulatory
authorities of the states or countries in which they are domiciled. These authori-
ties recognize only statutary accounting practices for determining financial
position, results of operations and the ability of an insurer to pay dividends to its
sharehalders. Based on statutory requirements at December 31, 2003, the maxi-
mum amount of ordinary dividends payable to the Company by its insurance
subsidiaries during 2004 without the prior approval of appropriate regulatary
authorities is $12,552.

5 INVESTMENTS

4 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Other current assets consisted of the following:

December 31, 2003 2002
Prepaid expenses §16,715 $15,329
Supplies inventory 9,470 8,085

Current portion of contracts receivable, net of allowance
for doubtful accounts of $2 and $118, respectively 2,511 4,664
Resale eguipment inventory 1,034 1,662
Recoverable income taxes 903 430
Other 2,574 1,369
$33,207 $31,600

Investments consisted primarily of marketable debt and equity securities held by the Company’s insurance subsidiaries and also joint ventures of $0 and $287 at
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The marketable security investments included:

December 31, 2003

December 31, 2002

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair Value Cost Holding Gains Holding Losses Fair Value Cost  Holding Gains  Halding Losses
Current
Available-for-sale
Money market funds $ 7,759 $ 7,159 $ - § - $ 7.062 $ 7,062 $ - L
Total current $ 7,759 $ 7,759 $§ - § - § 7,062 $ 7,062 § - § -
- Nancurrent
U.S. government bonds $ 1,184 $ 1,246 $ 3 $ (65) $ 8,241 $ 8,239 $ 2 5 -
Asset-backed securities 35,816 36,341 286 {811} 20,878 19,932 1.337 {393}
Municipal bonds 3m 3,842 8 (79) 1,619 1,594 25 -
Corporate bonds 28,553 29,588 616 {1,651) 19,907 21123 1,093 {2,309)
Preferred and common stock 8,263 7,988 354 (79} 7,280 8,385 318 (1,423)
Other invested assets 6,942 6,942 - - 4213 4211 - -
Available-for-sale 84,529 85,947 1,267 (2,685) 62,134 63484 2775 (8,125
Held-to-maturity
U.S. government bonds 4,281 4,281 - - 4,498 4,498 - -
Municipal bonds 1,445 1.445
Total noncurrent $90,255 $91,673 $1,267 $(2,685) $66,632 $67.982 $2,775 $(4,125)
The following table shows the Company’s investments’ gross unrealized losses and fair value, aggregated by investment category and length of time that individua!
securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position, at December 31, 2003:
Less than 12 months 12 months or more Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair Value  Holding Losses Fair Value  Holding Losses Fair Value  Holding Losses
Nancurrent
Available-for-sale
U.S. government bonds $ 1,184 $ (69 $ - 5§ - $ 1184 $ 65
Asset-backed securities 16,112 {341} © 584 (4704 16,696 811}
Municipal bonds 2,849 79 - - 2,849 (79)
Corporate bonds 4,879 {1.578) 786 73) 5,665 (1,651}
Preferred and comman stock 269 {49) 980 {30) 1,249 79)
$25,293 32,112 $2,350 $(573) $27,6843 $(2,685)
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The Company has two asset-backed securities in a continuous loss position
for more than twelve months totaling $470 at December 31, 2003. As these secu-
rities move towards the maturity date, price fluctuations will subside as prices
will reflect the receipt of par at maturity date. Likewisg, two corporate bonds and
two preferred stock investments have unrealized losses of $73 and $30, respec-
tively. Based on consultation with the Company's investment advisors, and based
on a combination of recapitalizations, improved cash flows, rating upgrades and
resulting impravements in unrealized loss positians, the Company has concluded
that the impairments are not other than temporary.

Investments with continuous losses for less than twefve months are a result
of rising interest rates. The Company invests in A-rated or better fixed income
securities with an average life of six years. These securities are performing in line
with expectations at the time of purchase. As these securities move towards the
maturity date, price fluctuations will subside as prices reflect the receipt of par
at maturity date.

Marketable security investments are exposed to various risks and rewards, such
as interest rate, market and credit risk. Due to these risks and rewards associated
with markstable security investments, it is possible that changes in the values
of these investments may occur and that such changes could affect the amounts
reported on the balance sheet. The Company holds investments in certain debt
securities with the following aggregate maturities as of December 31, 2003:

Held-to- Available-for-

Year Maturity Cost Sale Fair Value
2004 3 - $ 7,759
2005-2008 1903 13,341
2010-2014 3,823 14,254
Thereafter - 41729
$5,726 $77,083

As of December 31, 2003, the Company holds investments of $8,263 in preferred
and common stock and $6,942 in mutual funds, which have an indefinite maturity.

For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, realized gains on sales
of marketable security investments were $3,762, $2,121 and $5,424, respectively.

6 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

December 31, 2003 2002
Land $ 2893 S 2,607
Buildings and impravements 54,063 41,730
Transportation equipment 113,016 102,589
Warehouse equipment 74,646 62,368
Computer equipment and software 119,818 96,014
Furniture, office equipment and other 15,769 14,572
Projects in process 13,428 14,548
393,633 334,428

Less accumulated depreciation (212,648) 163,171}
$ 180,985 $171,257

7 GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill and intangible assets consisted of the following:

December 31, 2003 2002
Goodwill $369,220 $345,226
Less accumulated amortization 14,079 14,079
$355.141 $331,147
Intangible assets:
Trade names $195,000 $191.400
Less accumulated amortization 12,429 12,428
182,571 178,971
Customer relationships 38,930 33,600
Less accumulated amartization 4,072 1,430
34,858 32,170
Member relationships 3,200 5,100
Less accumulated amartization 1.310 572
1,890 5,528
Covenants not to compete and other 13,833 13,400
Less accumulated amortization 4,793 1,892
9,040 11,508
Total intangible assets 250,963 244,500
Less accumulated amortization 22,604 16,323
$228,359 $228,177
The changes in the amount of goodwill are as follows:
2003 2002
Balance as of January 1 $331,147 $247,558
Goodwill acquired:
NAIT - 16,826
CRS - 55,373
Rowan Simmons - 10,666
Scanvan 17,020 -
Other acquisitions and adjustments 6.974 724
Balance as of December 31 $355,141 $331,147

SFAS 142 requires that goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives no longer be amortized, but rather be tested for impairment at least annually.
The Company adopted the provisions of SFAS 142 effective January 1, 2002 and
has discontinued the amortization of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives. Trade names include the brand names northAmerican, Allied, Pickfords,
Allied Pickfords and NAIT. Goodwill and trade names have been identified as
having indefinite useful lives and were tested for impairment, using discounted
estimated cash flows, consistent with the provisions of SFAS 142. The Company
completed such testing and determined that there was no impairment of goodwill
and trade names as of December 31, 2003.
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The amount of goodwill attributable to each reportable business segment
was as follows:

8 OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other current liabilities consisted of the following accruals:

December 31, 2003 2002
December 31, 2003 2002
Relocatian Solutions — North America $138,134 $137.974 U 3 - 4 other deferred credi $ 59,331 $ 12732
Relocation Solutions — Europe and Asia Pacific 147,317 127,886 nezrned premiums and other deferred credits . '
Compensation and benefits 29,802 30,684
Global Relocation Solutions 285,451 265,850 Outstanding checks 13,759 16.809
Network Sgwices _ 66,042 61,639 Customer relocation expense 12,980 6,592
Transportation Solutions 3,648 3648 Customer and agent incentives 12,772 8.412
$355,141 $331,147 Sales, fuel and other non-income taxes 10,558 15,902
General and administrative 10,224 7.837
The following represents aicomparisan of results adjusted to exclude Interest and interest swap agreements 3917 3720
goodwill and trade names amortization expense: Deferred purchase price consideration 3.357 7072
Facilities expense 903 4870
Years ended December 31, 2003 2002 2001 Restructuring expense 392 514
Net income (loss), as reported $18,950 $20,821 $(16.884) Other 10145 9678
Amortization of goodwill and trade names - - 10,906 $168,136 $154,763
Income tax provision - - (974)
Adjusted net income (loss) $18,950 $20,821 $ 16,952
Basic net income {loss) per ardinary 9 INCOME TAXES
share, as reported $ 029 § 033 $ (048
Amoartization of goodwill and trademarks - - $ 025 Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes
Income tax provision - - % 002 The Company and its wholly owned domestic subsidiaries file a consolidated
Adjusted basic net income (loss/ federal income tax return.
] h 0.29 . 0.25 . . .
per ordinary share s 5 0% 5 02 The components of income {loss) before income taxes and cumulative effect
Diluted net income {loss) per ordinary of accounting change are:
share, as reported $ 027 $ 033 § (048
Amortization of goodwill and trademarks - - $ 025 Year ended December 31, 2003 2002 2001
Income tax provision - = 30 s operations $@2237)  S1068  Si41448)
Adjusted diluted net income {1oss) Foreign operations 30923 21284 24,761
per ordinary share $ 027 § 033 $ (0.29)
$28,686 $32,452 $(16,687)
Amartization expense for definite-lived intangibles for the years ended - ision (hensfitl for ol
. e pr n {benefit me taxe :
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 was $6,149, $3,894 and $10,906, respectively. provision {benefit) for income texes includes
Amortization of definite-lived intangible assets for the next five years is Year ended December 31, 2003 2002 200
as follows: Current:
December 31, 2003 Fede.ral $ 127 $ 3,083 $(3,802)
Foreign 8,508 7,894 6225
2004 $ 7.343 State 483 1322 938
2005 6.798 Total tt 9,118 12279 3,381
2008 6,543 Dofa cugen axes , , ,
2o 3491 eFe;rB -\ 2,246 397 3.003
2008 3,461 eoera : (3,003
Foreign (1.177) {402 2,613
528,636 State a51) 643} (3.102)
Total deferred taxes 618 (648) (3.492)
Provision {benefit} for income taxes $9,736 $11,631 § (131)

50 SIRVA, Inc. 2003 Annuat Report




Reconciliation of Statutory Rate te Effective Rate

Total income taxes as reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Operations
differ from the amounts computed by applying the statutory federal corparate
tax rate as follows:

Years ended December 31, 2003 2002 2001
Federal income tax at statutory rate $10,040 $11,358 $(5,840)
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit 21 441 {1,407)
Foreign income taxes {2,029) 551 3,066
Intangibles amortization - - 2,161
Other ~ net 1,704 (719) 1,889
Frovision {benefit! for income taxes $ 9,736 $11.63 $ (131)
Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities
Deferred taxes related to the following:
December 31, 2003 2002
Deferred tax assets:
Property and equipment $ - § 228
Reserves, including casualty and other claims 217,163 27,481
Employee benefits 6,883 5,372
Taxes other than incame taxes 2,041 1,841
Postretirement benefits other than pensions 9,181 10,143
Net operating loss carryforwards 27,451 20,088
Pension obligation 13,207 16,266
Unrealized gains and other 7,318 12,145
Total gross deferred tax assets 93,250 94,564
Less valuation allowance 660 548
Net deferred tax asset 92,590 93,918
Deferred tax liabilities:
Foreign earnings 4,319 4,319
Property and equipment 6,291 5,305
State income taxes 3,680 1,988
Intangibles 77,022 71,886
Total gross deferred tax liabilities 91,312 83,498
Net deferred tax assets 1,278 10,420
Less net current deferred tax assets 32,126 37,151
Net long-term deferred tax liability $35,848 $26,731

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, a valuation allowance has been established
due to the uncertainty of realization of foreign net operating loss {(“NOL") carry-
forwards. The net change in the total valuation allowance for the period ended
December 31, 2003 was an increase of $14. The increase was the result of addi-
tional losses generated in jurisdictions where realization is uncertain. Federal
NOL carryforwards expire between the years 2019 through 2023 and state NOL
carryforwards expire between the years 2004 through 2023. Management believes
it is more likely than not all other domestic deferred tax assets will be realized
based on the Company's anticipated future taxable earnings or available tax
planning alternatives.

Deferred U.S. federal income taxes and non-U.S. withholding taxes have been
provided by the Company on the undistributed earnings accumulated through 2001
of certain subsidiaries deemed available for dividend repatriation. The Company
did not provide for U.S. federal income taxes or non-U.S. withholding taxes on
approximately 57,197 and $31,320 of undistributed earnings of its foreign sub-
sidiaries as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, because such earnings
are intended to be reinvested, indefinitely.

Taxing Authority Reviews

Consolidated federal income tax returns of the Company, while owned by NS,
have been examined and Revenue Agent Reports have been received for all years
up to and including 1998. The Company is currently under examination for the
years 1999 and 2000. NS will indemnify the Company for any tax liabilities prior
to the 1998 Acquisition to the extent they were not accrued at the purchase
date. Consolidated federal income tax returns of Allied have been examined
and Revenue Agent Reports have been received for all years up to and including
the Allied fiscal year ended September 30, 1995. Exel, plc, will indemnify the
Company for any Allied Acquisition companies’ tax liabilities refated to periods
prior to the Allied Acquisition.

‘U SHORT-TERM DEBT

Short-term debt consisted of the following:

December 31, 2003 2002
Foreign subsidiaries’ lings of credit $ 848 $ 1,074
Mortgage warehouse facility 55,509 41,893
Relocation financing facilities 40,073 15,432
Rowan Simmans note payable - 14,000

$96,430 $72,399

Certain wholly owned foreign subsidiaries maintain credit facilities totaling
$22,765. Interest is payable monthly or quarterly at the base lending rate plus
margins between .85% and 1.75% {effective rates between 3.60% and 8.55%
as of December 31, 2003). Commitment fees range fram 0% to .60% on the non-
utilized portion of an applicable credit facility. As of December 31, 2003 and 2002,
the outstanding balance was $848 and $1,074, respectively. The Company has
$6.767 of bank guarantees issued against these credit lines at December 31, 2003.
Certain of these facilities are guaranteed by the Company.

A subsidiary, SIRVA Mortgage, Inc., maintains a $100,000 revolving warehouse
facility with an outstanding balance of $55,509 at December 31, 2003. Interest is
payable monthly at London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR"} plus 1.50% to 3.00%
(effective rate of 2.95% at December 31, 2003). A commitment fee of 0.125% is
charged on the entire facility and is payable quarterly. $50,000 of the facility
matures on July 31, 2004, and the remaining $50,000 matures on July 31, 2005.

A subsidiary, SIRVA Finance Limited, and various subsidiaries of SIRVA
Relocation LLC, maintain relocation financing lines in the amount of $68,711 with
various European banks. The Company has an outstanding balance of $40,073
on Becember 31, 2003. Interest is payable monthly or quarterly depending on the
lenders, at a rate of LIBOR plus 0.60% -1.50% (effective rate of 4.5%-5.4% on
December 31, 2003). A commitment fee between 0% and 0.125% is charged on
the undrawn balances.

In connection with the acquisition of Rowan Simmons, the Company incurred
a $14,000 note payable with a bank. Interest was paid on its maturity date of
April 28, 2003 and was calculated at LIBOR plus 0.75% (effective rate of 2.17%)
at December 31, 2002.
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11 LONG-TERM DEBT

On December 1, 2003, in connection with the Offering, the Company effected a
refinancing of its existing senior credit facility with a new $600,000 senior credit
facility through SIRVA Worldwide. The SIRVA Worldwide credit agreement (the
“Credit Agreément”) with J.P. Margan Chase Bank and a consartium of other lenders
consists of a $175,000 revolving credit facility {the "Revolving Credit Facility”} and
a $425,000 term loan obligation under the Credit Agreement all senior secured,
and collateralized by substantially all of the assets of the Company.

For the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company recognized $37,588 of
debt extinguishment expense, consisting of $24,351 of bond tender premium on the
13%/8% senior subordinated notes, a $12,637 write-off of deferred debt issuance
costs on the prior senior credit facility and indenture and a $1,308 writg-off of
unrecognized interest rate hedging losses in connection with the debt refinancing
to interest expense.

The Company’s previous credit agreement bore interest at variable interest rates
and consisted of a revolving credit facility and two term loans: Note Payable —
Tranche A and Note Payable ~ Tranche B, which were paid off as a result of the
refinancing and the Offering. The revolving credit facility was due in November
2006. The term loans were due in 2006 and 2007.

The previous credit agreement, as amended and restated, governing Note
Payable — Tranche A, Note Payable ~ Tranche B and the revolving credit facility
contained a number of covenants that limited, among other things, the incurrence
of additional indebtedness, the incurrence of capital lease obligations and purchase
of operating property, and the payment of dividends. The previous credit agreement
also required the Company to maintain certain financial tests, including a consoli-
dated interest coverage ratio and a leverage ratio, and includes a general lien on
certain of the Company's assets. The agreement also included certain cross-default
provisions such that a default under any other loan agreements by the Company
would cause a default in the Credit Agreement.

Long-term debt consisted of the following:

December 31, 2003 2002
Revolving credit facility $ - § 27,000
Term loan 415,000 -
Note payable — Tranche A - 120,000
Note payable — Tranche B - 209,887
Senior subordinated notes ' 11,025 150,000
Senior discount foan - 56,578
Other 1,998 16,657
Total debt 428,023 580,122
Less current maturities 560 22412
Total long-term debt $427,463 $557,710

Revolving Credit Facility

Under the Revolving Credit Facility, as amended and restated, SIRVA Worldwide
may borraw up to $175,000, which includes a $10,000 swing fing subfacility and a
$50,000 letter of cradit subfacility, until its scheduled maturity on December 1,
2008. Advances must be made in increments of no less than $5,000 or multiples
of $1,000 in excess thereof. If lesser amounts are required, then the swing line
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subfacility may be activated. Borrowing under the Revolving Credit Facility was
$0 at December 31, 2003. A commitment fee of 0.5% is charged on the unused
portion of the Revolving Credit Facility and is payable quarterly. SIRVA Worldwide
had outstanding letters of credit of $11,045 at December 31, 2003, primarily in
conjunction with its insurance agreements. SIRVA Worldwide has available credit
of $163,955 at December 31, 2003.

Interest is payable at ABR rates (based on prime}, plus a margin of 1.25%
{effective rate of 5.25% as of December 31, 2003] or LIBOR, plus a margin of
2.25% leffective rate of 3.42% as of December 31, 2003). The weighted-average
interest rate for the year ended December 31, 2003 was 3.58%. The rate selected
is determined by the facifity/subfacility from which the borrowings are drawn,
the maturity date of the loan and the required notice of the borrowing. ABR inter-
est is payable at the end of each quarter, and LIBOR interest is payabls in arrears
on the last day of the loan period for loans less than three months and at the end
of each quarter for loans greater than three months. Principal is repaid as funds
are available.

Term Loan

SIRVA Worldwide has $415,000 of term debt outstanding at December 31, 2003.
Principal and interest payments are paid quarterly commencing on March 31, 2004
through maturity on December 1, 2010. Interest is payable at ABR plus 1.50% or
LIBOR plus 2.50%. Rates are subject to a 0.25% reduction upon obtainment of
qualifying reductions in our leverage ratio. The loan was accruing interest at
LIBOR plus 2.50% {3.67%) on December 31, 2003,

The Credit Agreement governing the term loan and the Revolving Credit Facility
contains a number of covenants that limit, among other things, the incurrence of
additional indebtedness, the incurrence of capital lease obligations and purchass
of operating property, and the payment of dividends to the Company. While the
Credit Agreement generally permits dividends and distributions on the capital
stock of SIRVA Worldwide's subsidiaries to SIRVA Worldwide, such dividends
and distributions from SIRVA Worldwide to the Company are limited to 20% of
net income, subject to exceptions for transfers to fund the Company's operating
expenses in the ordinary course of business. The Credit Agreement also requires
SIRVA Worldwide to maintain certain financial tests, including a consolidated
interest coverage ratic and a leverage ratio beginning on March 31, 2004, and
includes a general lien on certain of SIRVA Worldwide's assets. The agreement
also includes certain cross-default provisions such that a default under any other
loan agreements in excess of an amount defined as material by SIRVA Worldwide
would cause a default in the Credit Agreement.

Senior Subordinated Notes

In connection with the Allied Acquisition, the Company, through its wholly owned
subsidiary, NAVL, issued $150,000 aggregate principal amount of 13%e% Senior
Subordinated Notes ("Senior Subordinated Notes”) due December 1, 2009. Each
note bears interest at a rate of 13%% per annum and is payable in semiannual
installments on June 1 and December 1 gach year to holders of record at the close
of business on the May 15 or November 15 immediately preceding the interest
payment date.




The Senior Subordinated Notes are unsecured senior subordinated indebted-
ness of NAVL. They are subordinated in right of payment, as set forth in the Senior
Subordinated Notes Indenture {“Indenture”), to the payment when due in full cash
of all existing and future senior indebtedness of NAVL. These Senior Subordinated
Notes have been guaranteed by certain domestic subsidiaries of NAVL.

In connection with the Offering, the Company retired $138,975 of these notes.
The notes were retired via a purchase and consent offering that included the adop-
tion of amendments to the indenture eliminating or modifying provisions contained
therein. Significant changes included elimination of SEC reporting requirements
for NAVL, limitation on indebtedness and limitation on sales of assets.

Senior Discount Loan

In connection with the Offering, the Company redeemed its Senior Discount Loan for
$65,157 of accreted value. The Senior Discount Loan was due in December 2007,
and had accreted at a rate of 16.0% per annum.

Other
In connection with the Offering, the Company redeemed for $16,396 Seller Note A,
which was due in May 2007, and Seller Note B, which was due in 2012.

Future maturities of long-term debt are as follows:

December 31, 2003
2004 $ 560
2005 4,649
2006 4573
007 4,474
2008 4,510
Thereafter 409,257

$428,023

The fair value of the Company's long-term debt approximates the carrying
amount based on the present value of cash flows discounted at the current rates
offered to the Company on similar debt instruments.

E 2 CAPITAL AND OPERATING LEASES

During 2003, the Company entered into one building lease agreement and two
transportation equipment lease agreements totaling $7,951 {non-cash}. The leases
are being accounted for as capital leases and require the Company to pay custom-
ary operating and repair expenses that will keep the assets in roadworthy and
appropriate condition through termination dates between 2007 and 2013. The
leases do not contain purchase options.

During 2002, the Company entered into twa vehicle and one communications
aquipment lease agreements totaling $1,338 {non-cash). The leases are being
accounted for as capital leases and require the Company to pay customary operat-
ing and repair expenses that will keep the assets in roadworthy and appropriate
condition through the termination dates of 2007 and 2012. The leases do not
contain purchase options.

The Company has noncancelable lease commitments under operating leases
for rental of office space, warehouse facilities, transportation equipment and
office equipment. The Company’s rental expense under these operating leases
was $78,713, $58,911 and $52,348 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002
and 2001, respectively.

Future minimum rental payments under capital lease obligations and operating
leases at December 31, 2003 are as follows:

Capital Leases  Operating Leases

2004 $ 5564 $ 68,353
2005 5.186 56,289
2006 5,042 44,057
2007 4,006 38,457
2008 3,09 30,208
Thereafter 2,734 112,883
Total minimum lease payments 25,628 §351,247
Less interest 3,005
Present value of net minimum lease paymeants 22,623
Less current portion 4551
Long-term portion of capital lease obligation $18,072
Assets under capital leases consist of the following:
December 31, 2003 2002
Transportation equipment $27.684 $29,939
Buildings and improvements 5,023 -
32,707 29,939
Less accumulated depreciation (9,808) {10.861)
$22,899 $19,078

‘H 3 RETIREMENT AND POSTRETIREMENT
MEDICAL PLANS

Defined Benefit Plans

The Company has several defined pension plans covering substantially all

of its domestic employees and certain employees in other countries. Pension
benefits earned are generally based on years of service and compensation
during active employment; however, the level of benefits and terms of vesting
may vary among plans. Pension plan assets are administered by trustees and
are principally invested in equity secuvrities, fixed income securities and pooled
separate accounts. The funding of pension plans is determined in accordance
with statutory funding requirements.

The domestic defined pension plans were amended effective April 1, 2002,
for the purpose of combining the plans into one benefit plan covering all domestic
employees. This single pension plan was then frozen effective December 31, 2002,
which triggered curtailment accounting treatment due to the elimination of bene-
fits earned for future years of service. The curtailment amounts recorded are
reflected in the table below.

The Company also has an Excess Benefit Plan and an Executive Retirement
and Savings Plan that are unfunded nonqualified plans that provide retirement
benefits not otherwise provided under the qualified plan because of the benefit
limitations imposed by Section 415 and 401(a){(17) of the Internal Revenue Code.
These Plans ensure that an executive receives the total pension benefit to which
he/she otherwise would be entitled, were it not for such limitations. The expense
associated with the Excess Benefit Plan is included within the Pension Benefits
table below. For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, the expense
assaciated with the Executive Retirement and Savings Plan was $195, $556 and
$498, respectively.
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In addition, the Overlap Benefit Plan for various domestic emplayees, an
unfunded, nonqualified retirement glan, provides retirement benefits forfeited
by the highly compensated employees under the Qualified Plan because of the
changes to the retirement plan formula that were effective April 18, 1989.

The U.K. pension plan was.amended in December 2003 with the effective date
of amendment commencing April 2004. The amendment alters the level of benefits
received for a substantial portion of participants in the plan and resulted in curtail-
ment accounting treatment. The curtailment gain did not result in any immediate
income recagnition for 2003. The curtailment amounts recorded are reflected in
the table below.

Information on the Company’s domestic and foreign defined benefit plans
and amounts recognized in the Company's consolidated balance sheets, based
on actuarial valuation, is as follows:

Combined Plans

Excluding United Kingdom United Kingdom

December 31, 2003 2002 2003 2002
Change in Benefit Obligation
Benefit obligation at

beginning of period $104,690 $ 96,897 $ 64,306 $52,293
Service cost 16 2,660 4,233 3793
Interest cost 6,909 5,964 3,626 3,307
Plan participants’ contribution - - 1,565 1,764
Actuarial {gain)/loss 7,519 11,022 4,268 (1,758}
Plan amendments - (4,901} - -
Curtailments - (3.142) {4,091) -
Benefits paid (5,223) (5,019) {1,762) (644)
Currency translation 205 209 7,402 5,551

Benefit obligation at

end of period $114,116  $104,690 $ 79,547 364,306

Change in Plan Assets
Fair value of plan assets at

beginning of period $ 65513 § 80404 $57,915 562,544
Actual return on plan assets 14,740 (9,979} 9,214 (12,390}
Emplayer contribution 2,563 12 1,548 -
Plan participants’ contribution - - 1,565 1,764
Benefits paid {5,109} {4,924) {1,762) (644)
Currency translation - - 6,039 6,641
Fair value of plan assets at

end of period $ 77,707 § 65513 $ 74,519 $57.915
Funded Status Reconciliation
Funded status $(36,409) $1{33,177) $ (5,028 $(5391)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss 40,375 44,636 9,334 18,169
Net transition obligation - - - (5,330}
Prepaid benefit cost 3,966 5,459 $ 4306 $ 6448
Minimum liability adjustment (40,375)  [44,636)
Accrued benefit liability $(36,409) $(39,177)
Amounts Recognized in the

Consolidated Balance Sheet
Prepaid pension asset at

beginning of year $ - 3 - $ 6448  § 8103
Accrued benefit liability (36,409)  (39.177) - -
Accumulated other

comprehensive income 40,375 44,636 - -
Net change in prepaid benefit - - (2,142) {1,655)

Net amount recognized $ 3966 $ 5459 $ 4,306 $ 6448
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At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Combined Plans excluding United Kingdom
accumulated benefit abligation was the same as the benefit obligation nated above,
due to the freezing of the plan on December 31, 2002. At December 31, 2003 and
2002, the UK. accumulated benefit obligation was $74,489 and $57,644, raspectively.

The cumulative income tax impact of the accumulated other comprehensive
income line item shown in the table above was $14,131 and §17,854 as of
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The changes within stockholders’
equity in Note 17 are presented net of tax.

The following actuarial assumptions were used for the Company’s benefit

obligations under the plans:
Combined Plans
Excluding United Kingdom

December 31, 2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 2001

United Kingdom

Weighted-average
Assumptions

Discount rate

Expected return on
plan assets

6.25% 6.75% 7.25% 5.60% 5.60% 5.75%

9.00% 9.00% 9.00% 7.35%  7.75% 7.75%

Rate of compensation

increase N/A 400% 4.00-5.00% 4.40% 4.00% 4.00%

The Company's expected rate of return on plan assets is determined by the
plan assets’ historical long-term investment perfarmance, current asset allocation
and estimates of future long-term returns by asset class. In 2003, the Company
maintained the expected retumn on plan assets at 9.00%. In developing its expected
long-term rate of return assumption, the Company evaluated input from its inde-
pendent financial advisor, including their review of the Company's pension asset
class 10-year weighted-average returns for each of the last 10 years. The average
10-year return by year is 11.7%. the Company anticipates that its investment
managers will generate long-term returns of at least 9.00%.

The rate of compensation increase for 2003 is N/A as the plan was curtailed
in 2002; therefore, participants are not accruing service benefits.

The Company’s U.S. pension plan asset allocation was as follows:

Percentage of Fair Value Plan Assets

December 31, 2004 Target 2003 2002
U.S. Plans Asset Category

Equity securities 60%-70% 69% 8%
Debt securities 30%-40% 30% 32%
Other - 1% 0%
Total 100% 100% 100%

The Company's investment strategy is based on an expectation that equity
securities will outperform debt securities over the long term. Accordingly, the
composition of the Company's plan assets is broadly characterized as a 65%/35%
allocation between equity and debt securities. The strategy utilizes indexed U.S.
and non-U.S. equity securities and actively managed investment grade debt secu-
rities. The Company attempts to mitigate investment risk by rebalancing between
equity and debt asset classes as the Company’s contributions and monthly benefit
payments are made.

The Company intends to fund at least the minimum amount required under the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, for its domestic
plans and the Pensions Act of 1995 for its U.K. plan. The Company is not required
to make contributions in 2004, as determined by minimum required contribution
calculations; however, discretionary contributions could be made pending future
funding considerations and asset performance significantly above or below the
assumed long-term rate of return on pension assets.




Information on the Company’s significant domestic and foreign defined
benefit plans and amounts recognized in the Company’s consolidated statements
of operations, based an actuarial valuatian, is as follows:

Combined Plans

Exc\u'ding United Kingdom United Kingdom

Years ended December 31, 2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 2001
Camponents of Net Periodic Benefit Cost

Service cost $ 16 $2,660 $2,926 $4,233 $3,793 $3.136
Interest cost 6,909 6,964 6,657 3,626 3.307 3179
Expected return on plan assets (5,785) {7.036) {7.837) (4,645) {(5.411) {5,710)
Amortization of recognized actuarial loss 2815 1,075 135 794 827 68
Net periodic benefit cost 3,955 3,663 1,881 4,008 2,516 673
Prior service benefit curtailment gain - {4,531 - - - -
Net periodic benefit cost after curtailment and settlements $ 3,955 $ (868) $1.881 $4,008 §2.516 $ 673

The following actuarial assumptions were used to determine the Company’s net pension cost:

Combined Plans

Excluding United Kingdom United Kingdom

Years ended December 31, 2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 200
Weighted-average Assumptions

Discount rate 6.75% 7.25% 7.50% 5.60% 575% 65.00%
Expected rate of return on plan assets 9.00% 9.00% 9.00% 1.75% 7.75% 7.75%
Rate of compensation increase N/A 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.25%

The rate of compensation increase for 2003 is N/A as the plan was curtailed
in 2002; therefore, participants are not accruing service benefits.

The Company recognizes an accrued benefit liability in its financial statements
for its unfunded Excess Benefit Plan and Overlap Benefit Plan. The accrued benefit
cost at December 31, 2003 and 2002 included $1,468 and 31,228, respectively,
related to this liability.

The Company's Canadian subsidiary, ALNAV Platinum Group, Inc., has a
defined benefit plan {the "Canada Plan”} with the benefits generally based upon
years of service and the highest five-year average salary during employment. As of
December 31, 2003 and 2002, the accumulated benefit obligation of accrued pen-
sion benefits was $719 and $1,494, respectively, and the aggregate market value
of pension plan assets was $1,089 and $1,669, respectively. As of December 31,
2003 and 2002, the prepaid pension cost was $370 and $175, respectively. The
expense associated with the plan for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002
and 2001 was 368, $59 and $53, respectively. The Canada Plan terminated as of
January 1, 2001. Pursuant to the Canadian Pension Benefits Standards Act, pension
benefits accrued as of January 1, 2001 are fully vested for all affected members,
and wind-up notices were distributed to them on December 27, 2000. The Office
of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions has approved the wind-up report.
Distribution of assets is expected to occur during 2004.

Postretirement Medical Plan

The Company has a nonpension postretirement benefit plan for certain domestic
employees that provides specific health care and death benefits ta eligible retired
employees. Under the present plan, which may be amended or terminated at the
Company’s option, a defined percentage of health care expenses is covered, after
reductions for any deductibles, co-payments, Medicare payments and, in some

cases, coverage provided by other group insurance policies. The cost of such
health care coverage to a retiree may be determined in part by a retiree’s years
of vested service with the Company prior to retirement. Death benefits are based
on a fixed amount at time of retirement.

The plan covering certain domestic employees was amended effective April 1,
2002 to include substantially all of its domestic employees. This amendment
also eliminated benefits after age 65. Effective December 31, 2002, the plan was
amended to eliminate any subsidies to employees that have not reached 50 years
of age with a minimum of 10 years of service as of December 31, 2002. This
amendment triggered curtailment accounting treatment. The curtailment amounts
recorded are reflected in the table below.

Dacember 31, 2003 2002
Change in Benefit Obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of period $16,733 $18,9%0
Service cost 117 764
Interest cost 1,197 1,201
Plan participants’ contribution 104 77
Actuarial loss - 2,434 3137
Plan amendments - {5,330)
Curtailment gains ~ 1,225
Benefits paid (1,453} (881)
Benetit obligation at end of period $19,132 $ 16,733
Plan Status Reconciliation and Amounts
Recegnized in the Consclidated Balance Sheets
Plan status $(19,132) $(16,733}
Unrecognized net actuarial loss 3,300 514
Accrued benefit cost and net amount recognized $(15,832) $(16,119)
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The following actuarial assumptions were used for the Company's postretire-
ment benefit obligations:

Years ended December 31, 2003 2002 2001

Weighted-average Assumptions

Discount rate 6.00% 6.75% 7.25%
Health care cost trend rates 11.00% 12.00% 8.50%
Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost
Service cost $ 17 $ 764 $1,158
Interest cost 1,197 1,201 1,293
Amortization of recognized actuariat {gain)/loss (252) (346) 12
Net periodic benefit cost 1,062 1,618 2,463
Prigr service benefit curtailment gain - (2,839) -
Net periodic benefit cost after curtailment $1,062 $(1,220) $2,463
The following actuarial assumptions were used for the Company’s net
postretirement cost:
Years ended December 31, 2003 2002 2001
Weighted-average Assumptions
Discount rate 6.75% 7.25% 7.50%
Health care cost trend rates 12.00% 8.50% 7.00%

The health care cost trend rate was assumed to decrease gradually 10 5.0%
for 2010 and remain at that level thereafter.

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts
reported for the health care plans. A one-percentage-point change in the assumed
health care cost trend rate would have the following effects:

One-Percentage Point

Increase Decrease
Effect on total of service and interest cost components $ 152 $ (131
Effect on postretirement benefit abligation $2,360 $(2,029)

In December 2003, the United States enacted into law the Medicare
Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 {the “Act”). The
Act established a prescription drug benefit under Medicare {"Medicare Part D"),
and a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care benefit plans that provide
a benefit that is at least actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D.

In January 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. 106-1, “Accounting
and Disclosure Requirsments Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improve-
ment and Modernization Act of 2003” ("FSP 106-1"). The Company has elected to
defer accounting for the economic effects of the Act, as permitted by FSP 106-1.
Therefore, in accordance with FSP 106-1, the accumulated postretirement benefit
obligation and net period postretirement benefit cost included in the consolidated
financial statements and disclosed above do not reflect the effects of the Act.
Specific authoritative guidance on accounting for the federal subsidy is pending.
The final issued guidance could require a change to previously reported information.

Defined Contribution Plans
In 1994, ane of the Company’s U.K. subsidiaries, North American (U.K.), Ltd.,
established a contributory defined contribution plan for eligible employees. The plan
is funded through contributions from employees, generally 3% of earings, which
are matched by the Company. The expense associated with the plan was $36, $62
and $36 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
Effective April 1, 2002, the Allied Van Lines, Inc. Profit Sharing and Retirement
Savings Plan was merged with the NAVL Employees Savings Plan and Trust and
was renamed the SIRVA Employee Retirement Savings Plan. The plan qualifies
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under Section 401(a) and 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code, The Company made
contributions of $2,733, $0 and $1,225 for the years ended December 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001, respectively.

’54 POSTEMPLOYMENT MEDICAL PLAN

The Company provides certain postemployment health care continuation benefits
to inactive SIRVA Worldwide employees and their dependents during the period
following employment but before retirement. A plan change was enacted in 2003
that substantially reduced the liability associated with this plan as the health care
continuation benefits for inactive employees and their dependents would cease
at the end of 2003. Beginning in January 2004, the inactive employees and their
dependents could continue to receive benefits through the Consolidated Omnibus
Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA) for up to 29 months, with the COBRA premiums
being paid by the Company. As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, the accumulated
postemployment benefit obligation for such benefits was $563 and $1,936,
respectively. The (income) expense associated with the plan was ${493), $152
and $789 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
Included in 2003 plan income was a $1,045 gain from the plan amendment.

@ 5 INCENTIVE COMPENSATION

The Company maintains a Management Incentive Plan for certain executives
and key management employees. The plan is administered by the Board of
Directors, whose members do not participate in the plan. For the year ended
December 31, 2001, the Company also maintained a Performance Incentive Pian
for eligible employees not included in the Management Incentive Plan. The
Performance Incentive Plan was discontinued after December 31, 2001. The plan
was administered by the Vice President of Compensation and Benefits, who did
not participate in the plan. incentive compensation was based upon achievement
of certain predetermined corporate performance goals. The expense associated
with both of the incentive plans was $7,601, $4,500 and $147 for the years
ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, as a component of
general and administrative expense.

In addition to the Management Incentive Plan and the Performance Incentive
Plan, the Company administers several other incentive plans that were in place
prior to the acquisitions of Allied, NAIT and CRS. These plans are administered
by the Vice President of Compensation and Benefits and are based on achieve-
ment of certain predetermined segment performance goals. The expense
associated with these plans was $1,029, $2,661 and $952 for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, as a component of general
and administrative expense.

‘Eﬁ OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Other long-term fiabilities consisted of the following:

December 31, 2003 2002
Long-term pension $37,014 $39,143
Long-term postretirement benefit 14,379 15,238
Deferred compensation 4,461 4237
QOther 7516 13,035

$63,370 $71,653




‘E 7 STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY, REDEEMABLE COMMON STOCK AND REDEEMABLE JUNIOR PREFERRED STOCK

Following is an analysis of stockholders’ equity, redeemable common stock and redeemable junior preferred stock:

Accumulated Common Redeemable
Other Com- Stock  Additional Unearned Redeemable Junior
Accumulated  prehensive Common Purchase Paid-in- Compen- Treasury Common Preferred
Total Deficit Income (Loss) Stock Warrant capital sation Stock Stock Stock
Balance at December 31, 2000 $ 94,042 543557} $ (5641} $413 $655 $143,097 5 - $ {325 $ 6057 $26.417
Comprehensive income {loss):
Net loss (16,884) (16,884) - - - - - - - -
Derivative transactions:
Cumulative effect of accounting change,
net of tax of $219 328 - 328 - - - - - - -
Unrealized hedging loss,
net of tax benefit of ${1,551) (2,326) - (2,326) - - . - - - - -
Net change in unrealized holding loss
on available-for-sale securities,
net of tax benefit of ${104} (157} - {(157) - - - - - - -
Minimum pension liability,
net of tax benefit of ${5,424) (8.136) - {8,136) - - - - - - -
Foreign currency translation adjustment,
net of tax benefit of §{1,371) (2,056) - {2,056) - - - - - - -
Total comprehensive loss {29,231) - - - - - - - - -
Accretion of redeemable common stack {157} - - - - (157) - - 157 -
Stock repurchases (142) - - - - - - (142) (2.238) -
Common stack reclass 710 - - 2 - 708 - - 710 -
Accretion of junior preferred stock (3,364) - - - - (3,364) - - - 3,364
Taxes paid - - - - - - - - - {1,442)
Balance at December 31, 2001 $ 61.858 $(60,441) ${17,988) $415 3655 $140,284 $§ - $ (1,067 $ 3266 $28,339
Comprehensive income {lossk: - - - - - - - - - -
Net income 20,821 20,821 - - - - - - - -
Unrealized hedging gain, net of tax of §1,308 1,962 - 1,962 - - - - - - -
Net change in realized holding loss
on available-for-sale securities,
net of tax benefit of ${963) {1,444) - (1,444) - - - - - - -
Minimum pension liability,
net of tax benefit of ${12,207) (18,311} - (18,311) - - - - - - -
Foreign currency translation adjustment,
net of tax of $4,471 6,706 - 6,706 - - - - - - -
Total camprehensive income 9,734 - - - - - - - - -
Stock repurchases (1,181} - - - - - - (1,181} 712} -
Issuance of commaen stock 61,494 - - 137 - 61,357 - - 4,821 -
Accretion of junior preferred stock {3,609) - - - - {3,609) - - - 3,609
Taxes paid - - - - - - ~ - {1.547)
Balance at December 31, 2002 $128,296 $(39,620) $(29,075) $562 $655 $198,032 $ - $ (2.248) $ 7375 $30,401
Comprehensive income {loss):
Net income 18,950 18,950 - - - - - - - -
Unrealized hedging loss, net of tax benefit of §(68) 212) - 212) - - - - - - -
Net change in unrealized holding gain on
available-for-sale securities, net of tax of $44 (112) - {112} - - - - - - -
Minimum pension liability, net of tax of $3,723 538 - 538 - - - - ~ - -
Foreign currency translation adjustment,
net of tax of $5,699 _ 10319 - 10,319 - - - - - - -
Total comprehensive income 29,483 - - - - - - - - -
Unearned compensation 161 - - - - 3,3%0 {3.229) - - -
Accretion of redeemable common stock (352) - - - - (352) - - 352 -
Redemption of redeemable common stock - - - - - - - - {1.484) -
Treasury stock purchase (22) - - - - - - (22) - -
Issuances of cammon stock 251,033 - - 136 - 250,897 - - 5,535 -
Stock issuance costs (23,128) - - - - (23,128) - - - -
Accretion of junior preferred stock (1,901 - - - - {1,801 - - - 1,901
Taxes paid - - - - - - - - - {815)
Reclassify to juniar preferred obligation - - - - - - - - - (31.487)
Reclassify redeemable comman stock
to common stock 11,778 - - 42 - 19,584 - (7.848) {(11,778) -
Balance at December 31, 2003 $395,348 $(20,670) $(18,542) $730 $655 $446,522 $(3,229)  $(10,118) § - $ -
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Initial Public Offering

The Company effected an initial public offering of its common stock on
November 24, 2003, pursuant to a registration statement, No. 333-108185,
as amended, under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Common Stock Purchase Warrant

In connection with the Allied Acguisition, the Company issued a commaon stock
purchase warrant to an affiliate of Exel, plc. The warrant entitles the holder to
purchase 2,773,116 shares of common stock of the Company, par value $.01 per
share, at an exarcise price of $12.62 per share. The warrant expires in November
2004 and contains customary anti-dilution protections. In addition, the warrant and
any shares issued upon its exercise are subject to certain transfer restrictions. This
warrant has been accounted for at fair valug on the date of acquisition and was
included in the purchase price allocation performed following the Allied Acquisition.

Unearned Compensation

For the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company recognized $3,537 of non-
cash equity-based compensation expense in relation to stock subscriptions and
stock option grants made to certain managers and directors in 2003. The expense
has been recorded as the difference between the subscription or exercise price
and the deemed fair value of the Company’s common and redeemable commaon
stock on the date of grant in accordance with APB 25. The total non-cash equity-
based compensation expense to be recognized by the Company in respect of these
transactions is $6,766. At Becember 31, 2003, the Company has recorded $3,229
of unearned compensation and expects to recognize $1,493, $865, $516, $272 and
$83 in each of 2004, 2005, 2008, 2007 and 2008, respectively.

Redeemable Commen Stock

Certain key employees of the Company who held comman stock may have required
the Company to repurchase all of the shares held upon termination by the Company
without cause, or death, disability or retirement at narmal retirement age. This
repurchase right terminated upon the Offering and as a result, these securities
were reclassified to camman stock.

Redeemable Junior Preferred Stock

In connection with the Allied Acquisition, the Company issued 24,500 shares

of junior preferred stock, due in 2010, to an affiliate of Exel, plc, having an initial
liuidation preference of $24,500. The dividend rate on this junior preferred stock
was 12.4% compounded quarterly and was cumulative. Due to Exel, plc, being

a foreign entity, IRS regulations require withhalding taxes to be paid with each
quarterly dividend, even if the dividend is notational only. All withholding payments
made by the Company reduced the price the Company paid to redeem this stock.

As of July 1, 2003, as required by SFAS 150, the Company reclassified $31,487
of redeemable junior preferred stock to redeemable junior preferred obligation, a
long-term liability. The accretion of dividends of 1,901, $3,609 and $3,364 for the
years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, was accounted for
as a non-cash transaction.

In connection with the Offering, the redeemable junior preferred obligation was
redeemed in full. For the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company recorded
$1,815 of interest expense on the redeemable preferred obligation since July 1,
2003, which previously would have been treated as accretion of junior preferred
stock dividends.
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Stock Split

On November 7, 2003, the Company's Board of Directors approved a stock split
of 3.17 for 1 of its common stock by way of a reclassification. The reclassification
was effected through a restated certificate of incorporation, which the Company
filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on November 10, 2003
and which became effective on November 24, 2003. The restated certificate of
incorporation also increased the number of authorized shares of the Company’s
common stock to 500,000,000. The Company’s Board of Directors and its stock-
holders approved the restated certificate of incorporation on November 8, 2003.
Accordingly, all share and per share information in this report give effect to

the reclassification.

‘g 8 STOCK OPTION PLANS

Prigr to the Offering, the Company maintained a stock option plan {the “Option
Plan") for officers and other key employees that provided for the offer of up to
3,170,000 shares of its common stock and the granting of options to acquire up to
6,340,000 shares of its common stock. The administrator of the Option Plan was
SIRVAS Board of Directors. Under the Option Plan, Service Options and, in certain
cases, Performance Gptions were granted with each share of stack sold to the
officers and ather key emplayees. Service Options were vested in equal annual
installments on each of the first five anniversaries of the grant date. Performance
Options were vested dependent on achisvement of cumulative earnings targets, or
if not vested sooner, become vested on the ninth anniversary of the grant date. All
options granted expire after 10 years from the grant date. On January 1, 2007, the
Company discontinued the granting of Performance Options.

For the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company recognized $3,537 of
non-cash equity-based compensation expense in relation to stock subscriptions
and stock options grants made to certain managers and directors in 2003. The
expense has been recorded as the difference between the subscription or exercise
price and the deemed fair value of our comman and redeemable common stock
on the date of grant in accordance with APB 25. The total non-cash equity-based
compensation expense to be recognized by us in respect of these transactions
is $6,766. We expect to recognize $1,493, $865, $516, $272 and $83 in each of
2004, 2005, 2008, 2007 and 2008, respectively.

Subseguent ta the Gffering, the Company maintains the SIRVA, Inc. Omnibus
Stock incentive Plan {the "Omnibus Plan”} for any non-employee member of the
Company's Board of Directars, officer or employee of the Company or any of the
Company's subsidiaries, including any prospective employee, and any of the
Company's consultants or advisars. The Omnibus Plan pravides for the offer of
up to 7,600,000 shares of the Company's common stock. The Omnibus Plan will
provide for the award to eligible participants of stock options, including incentive
stock options (within the meaning of section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code),
stock appreciatian rights, performance stack and performance units, restricted
stock and restricted stock units, and deferred stack units. Unless otherwise pro-
vided in a participant’s option agreement, the exercise price of the options will be
{and in 2003, was) at least equal to the closing price of the Company’s common
stock an the trading date immediately prior to grant date; hence, no compensation
gxpense was recognized.




Information with respect to the options granted under the Option Plan is

as follows:
Weighted-Avg.

# of Shares Exercise Price

Outstanding at December 31, 2000 2,896,683 422
Options granted 481,650 4.48
Options cancelted {1.219,880) 431
Outstanding at December 31, 2001 2,158,453 424
Options grantad 2,321,308 448
Options cancelled {315,605) 448
Outstanding at December 31, 2002 4,164,156 435
Options granted 2,264,302 13.28
Options cancelled {569,586/ 437
Outstanding at December 31, 2003 5,858,872 7.80

The weighted-average remaining contractual life of these options is 8.36 years.
At December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, the number of options that were exercis-
able were 1,538,322, 1,013,785 and 837,197, respectively.

As of December 31, 2003, stock options outstanding have exercise prices of
$3.15, $4.48, $5.84 and $18.50 per share.

@ 9 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Legal Matters

The Company was a defendant in a personal injury suit resulting from a 1996
accident involving one of its agent's drivers. The case was tried in 1998, and the
Company was found liable. After appeals, a final judgment of $15,229 was ren-
dered in 2002 and fully paid by the Company and two of its insurers. After certain
insurance payments and reimbursements, the Company has paid $7,637, which
the Company believes is fully reimbursable by insurance: however, one of the
Company’s several co-insurers of this case has filed suit, contesting its coverage
obligations. The Company filed a counterclaim and cross-claim seeking reimburse-
ment for afl remaining amounts that the Company paid in satisfaction of the
judgment and associated costs and expenses. The Company filed a mation for
summary judgment in August 2003, and the judge issued a final award to the
Company. TIG has recently filed a motion asking for a new trial. The Company
has a reserve that the Company considers appropriate in the circumstances.

The Company has produced and is producing records in response to grand jury
subpoenas issued in connection with an investigation being conducted by attor-
neys in the Department of Justice Antitrust Division through a grand jury in the
Eastern District of Virginia. The Company is cooperating with the investigation
and understands that numerous other companies have received similar subpoenas.

Some of the Company’s moving services operations in Europe are being inves-
tigated by European antitrust requlators. The investigations are in the very sarly
stages and involve certain anticompetitive practices. The investigations could
expose the Company to administrative and ather penalties. The Company is coop-
erating with the investigations, which the Company expects will take several years
to complete. Management believes that, based on information currently available
to it, the outcome of the Department of Justice and European antitrust investiga-
tions will not have a material adverse impact on the Company’s overall operations
or financial condition, although there ¢an be no assurance that it will not. Any
potential penalties, however, may have a material impact on the Company’s earn-
ings in the period in which they are recognized.

The Company and certain subsidiaries are defendants in numerous lawsuits
relating principally to motor carrier operations. [n the opinion of management,

after consulting with its legal counsel, the amount of the Company's ultimate
liability resulting from these matters should not materially affect the Company’s
financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

Environmental Miatters

The Company has been named as a potentially responsible party {"PRP") in two
environmental cleanup proceedings brought under the Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, as amended, or similar state
statutes. Based on all known information, the Company believes that the cost to
resolve liabifity at these sites will not be materially or significantly larger than
the reserves established, which totaled $35 as of December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. These reserves are based upon the Company's allocation of the total
estimated cleanup costs as a de minimis contributor, pursuant to agreed orders
executed with the Indiana Department of Environmental Management and the
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. The Company has made no provisian for
expected insurance recovery. The Company could incur significant unanticipated
costs, however, if additional contamination is found at these sites, or if it is
named as a PRP in other proceedings.

The Company owns or has owned and leases or has leased facilities at which
underground storage tanks are located and operated. Management believes that the
Company has taken the appropriate and necessary action with regard to releases
that have occurred. Based on its assessment of the facts and circumstances now
known and after consulting with its legal counsel, management believes that it
has recorded appropriate estimates of liability for those environmental matters of
which the Company is aware. Further, management believes it is unlikely that any
identified matters, either individually or in aggregate, will have a material effect
on the Company’s financial pasition, results of operations or liquidity. As conditions
may exist on these properties related to environmental problems that are latent or
as yet unknown, there can be no assurance that the Company will not incur liabili-
ties or costs in the future, the amount of which cannot be estimated reliably at
this time.

Purchase Commitments

The Company has entered into certain purchase commitments of $8,098 for soft-
ware licenses and transportation equipment at December 31, 2003 and $6,253 for
software licenses and transportation equipment at December 31, 2002.

On July 1, 2002, the Company entered into a 10-year purchase commitment
with Covansys Corporation and Affiliated Computer Services, Inc. to provide
selected outsourcing services for the Company's domestic information systems
infrastructure, including data center operations and telecommunications and cer-
tain application software development. Covansys Corporation is a related party,
as approximately 24.5% of its outstanding common stock is owned by Fund VI.
As of December 31, 2003, the remaining purchase commitment was $158,354.
For the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company paid Covansys
$7.407 and $2,997, respectively.

2@ FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company utilizes interest rate agreements and foreign exchange contracts

to manage interest rate and foreign currency exposures. The principal objective

of such contracts is to minimize the risks and/or costs associated with financial
and international operating activities. The Company does not utilize financial
instruments for trading purposes. The counterparties to these contractual arrange-
ments are financial institutions with which the Company also has other financial
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relationships. The Company is exposed to credit loss in the event of nonperformance
by these counterparties. However, the Company does not anticipate nonperformance
by the other parties, and no material loss would be expected from their nonper-
formance. Interest rate swap agreements and forsign exchange instruments with
the Company’s credit agreement banks are borrower obligations under the credit
agreement; hence, such agreements and instruments are secured and guarantged.

Interest Rate Instruments

The Company enters into interest swap agreements to manage its exposure to
changes in interest rates. The swaps involve the exchange of variable interest
rate payments for fixed interest rate payments without exchanging the national
principal amounts. The Company records the payments or receipts on the agree-
ments as adjustments to interest expense.

The debt restructuring in 2003 constituted a terminating event for the four
interest rate swap instruments. The Company recorded expense of $1,308 to recog-
nize the unrealized loss at time of refinancing to interest expense. The Company
has designated the existing interest swap agreements as cash flow hedges to
manage floating rate exposure under the new credit facility.

Derivative gains or losses included in accumulated other comprehensive
income are reclassified into earnings at the time when the hedged item affects
earnings. During the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, $2,993,
$4,449 and $1,900, respectively, were reclassified as interest expense. Buring the
years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, $28 of expense, $64 of income
and $82 of expenss, respectively, were recognized in earnings for ineffectiveness
relating to cash flow hedges. The Company estimates that net derivative losses of
$887 included in accumulated other comprehensive income at December 31, 2003
will be reclassified into earnings during the next 12 months. The following is a
recap of each agreement as of December 31, 2003:

Notional amaunt $60.0 million ~ $60.0 million ~ $40.0 million  $20.0 million
Fixed rate paid 3.10% 2.89% 2.43% 2.44%
Variable rate received T-month LIBOR  1-month LIBOR  1-month LIBOR  1-month LIBOR
Expiration date January 2007 March 2006 April 2005 April 2005

The Company enters into derivative transactions to protect against the risk
of adverse interest rate movements on the value of the transactions in our com-
mitted loan sales business within the Relocation Solutions segment. Changes in
fair value relating to these derivatives are recognized in current period earnings.
No losses resulting from changes in fair value of these derivatives were recognized
in earnings for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002.

Foreign Exchange Instruments

From time to time, the Company utilizes foreign currency forward contracts in the
regular course of business to manage its exposure against fareign currency fluctu-
ations. The forward contracts establish the exchange rates at which the Company
will purchase or sell the contracted amount of U.S. dollars for specified foreign
currencies at a future date. The Company utilizes forward contracts that are short-
term in duration {less than one year). The major currency exposures hedged by the
Company are the Australian dollar, British pound sterling and euro. The contract
amount of foreign currency forwards was $20,706 and $3,421 at December 31,
2003 and 2002, respectively. Changes in fair value relating to these derivatives
are recognized in current period earnings. Approximately $2,127 and $142 of
losses and $435 of gains resulting from changes in fair value of these derivatives
were recognized in earnings for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and
2001, respectively, as a companent of general and administrative expense.
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Convertible Bond Instruments

The Company holds various debt securities with convertible features in the available-
for-sale investment portfolio of its insurance operations. The value of the conversion
feature is bifurcated from the value of the underlying bond. Changes in fair value
are recorded in current period earnings. During the years ended December 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001, $1,880, $700 and $9 of gains, raspectively, from increases
in the fair market value of these instruments was recorded in earnings.

21 EARNINGS PER SHARE

A reconciliation of net income (loss) to net income {loss} available to common
stockholders and basic to diluted share amounts is as follows:

Years ended December 31, 2003 2002 2001
Net income {loss) $18,950 320,821 $(16,884)
Less preferred share dividends (1,901) (3,609) {3,364)
Less accretion of redeemable commaon stock (331) - (157)
Net income {loss} available to

common stockholders $16,718 $17,212 $(20,405)
Basic weighted-average common

shares outstanding 58,104,742 51712825 42,308,361
Assumed conversion of stock options and awards 2,829,126 119,611 -
Diluted weighted-average common

shares outstanding 60,933,868 51832236 42,308,361

Potentially dilutive securities totaling 137,664 shares in 2001 have not been
included in the determination of diluted net loss per share as their inclusion
would be anti-dilutive in that period.

22 OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Company has four reportable segments: 1) Relocation Solutions — North
America, 2) Relocation Solutions ~ Europe and Asia Pacific, together forming
Global Relacation Solutions, 3) Network Services, and 4) Transportation Solutions.
Intersegment transactions, principally relating to international operations, are
recorded at market rates as determined by management. The consolidation process
results in the appropriate elimination of intercompany transactions, with operating
revenues reflected in the segment responsible for billing the end customer.

Global Relocation Selutions

The Company’s Global Relocation Solutions business provides a combination of

relocation services, global mability services and moving and storage services that

are tailored by geographic region to the specific customer needs. Global Relocation

Solutions comprises the Relocation Solutions — North America and the Relocation

Solutions — Europe and Asia Pacific reportable segments. This business pravides

the following services:

e Relocation Services: Relocation services include realtor services for home sales
and purchases, tax and expense management and closing and destination services.
Global Mobility Services: These services include assignment management
programs, destination services to identify housing, schools and other critical
client needs, as well as expatriate tax and expense management services.




s Moving and Storage Services:

— Household Goods: The Company provides worldwide household goods
moving and storage services, including sales, packing, loading, transporta-
tion, delivery and warehousing. In the United States and Canada, moving
and storage services are provided through a netwaork of exclusive agents.
Outside of the United States and Canada, the Company provides these
services through a netwark of company-owned branches throughout the
United Kingdom, Europe and the Asia Pacific region.

~ Commercial Customers: The Company provides a broad portfolio of services
to commercial customers, including office and industrial relocations and
records management.

— Transportation of High-Value Products: The Company provides customized
solutions to facilitate the movement of high-value products that require
specialized transport and handling, such as electronics, telecommunications,
medical equipment and fine art.

Network Services

The netwaork services business offers insurance programs, such as auto liability,
occupational accident, physical damage, cargo and warehouse insurance cover-
age, to a network of agents, owner operators and drivers as well as independent
third parties. The Company also offers fleet services, or a bread array of vehicle
and supply purchase praograms, as well as vehicle repair services.

Transportation Solutions

The Company provides logistic and transpartatian solutions to customers that
require transportation management capabilities, inventory visibility at the serial-
ized level and in-transit merge delivery solutions that are coordinated at the item
level ta deliver commercial goads that require specialized handling in a timely
manner with the appropriate equipment.

The tables below represent information about operating revenues, deprecia-
tion and amortization, income {lass) from operations and total assets hy segment
used by the chief operating decision-maker of the Company as of and for the
years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001:

Depreciation Income
Operating and  {Loss) From Total
Revenues Amortization?  Operations Assets2
December 31, 2003
Relocation Solutions -

North America $1.602,924 $22,492 $ 59,760 $ 809,590
Relocation Solutions —

Europe and Asia Pacific 478,167 19,695 30,162 449,542
Global Relocation Solutions 2,081,091 42,187 89,922 1,259,132
Network Services 163,178 3,890 36,711 267,487
Transportation Solutions 105,590 1,981 4,108 22,138
Corporate - - {4,590) -
Consolidated totals $2,349,859 $48,058 $126,151  $1,549,357
December 31, 2002
Relocation Solutions —

North America $1,544,438 $23,017 $ 40993 $ 745025
Relocation Solutions —

Europe and Asia Pacific 407,972 16,941 24,840 372,588
Global Relocation Solutions 1,952,410 39,958 85,833 1117613
Network Services 125,042 3118 26,452 221,444
Transportation Solutions 108,194 1173 3274 18,478
Carporate - - {1,298) -
Consolidated totals $2,185,646 344,249 $ 94261 $1,357,535

Depreciation Income
Operating and  (Loss) From
Revenues Amortization ! Operations
December 31, 2001
Relocation Solutions —

North America $1,652,135 825,871 $15,142
Relocation Solutions -

Europe and Asia Pacific 387,081 20,104 25,976
Global Relocation Solutions 2,039,216 45,975 41,118
Network Services 84,210 859 18,478
Transportation Solutions 125,877 2,108 (6.294)
Corporate - - {785)
Consolidated totals $2,249,303 348,742 $52,517

Depreciation and amortization is composed of depreciation, goadwill amortization
{prior to January 1, 2002), intangibles amortization in 2003 and 2002 and deferred agent
contract amortization.

N

Total assets by segment are specific assets such as trade receivables and property and
equipment. Assets also included allocated assets such as computer hardware and software,
contracts receivable associated with equipment sales, deferred taxes, goodwill and
intangible assets.

Specified items related to segment assets:
Capital Expenditures

Years ended December 31, 2003 2002 2001
Relocation Solutions — North America $ 8,342 $13,429 $27.195
Relocation Solutions — Eurape and Asia Pacific 12,346 18,335 20,840
Global Relocation Solutions 20,688 31,764 48,035
Network Services 6,891 1,648 44
Transportation Solutions 1,004 51 269
Corporate - _ _
Consolidated totals $28,583 $33,463 $48,348

Operating revenues and long-lived asset information by geographic area as of
and for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001:

2003 2002 2001

Operating Long-lived Operating  Long-lived Operating

Revenues Assets Revenues Assets Revenues

United States  $1,805,094  $453,450 $1,723,692  $460,003 $1,799,200
Foreign 544,765 311,035 461,954 270,578 450,103
Total $2,349,859  $764,485 $2,185,646  $730,581 $2,248,303

Foreign revenue is based on the country in which the sales ariginated, princi-
pally in the United Kingdom, Continental Europe and Australia. Long-lived assets are
composed of property and equipment, net and goodwill and intangible assets, net.

23 RESTRUCTURING AND UNUSUAL ITEMS

The following table provides details of restructuring for the year ended

December 31, 2003:

Restructuring Restructuring
Accrual as of Accrual as of
Dec. 31,2002  Restructuring Payments  Dec. 31, 2003
Transportation Solutions
Parts Centers
Building leases and other $514 $- ${122) $392
Total $514 $- 3(122) $392
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The following table provides details of restructuring for the year ended
December 31, 2002:

Restructuring Restructuring

Accrual as of  Restructuring Accrual as of
Dec. 31, 2001 Credit Payments  Dec. 31, 2002
Transportation Solutions
Parts Centers
Severance cost $ 40 § - $ {40) $ -
Building leases and other 2197 (342) (741) 514
Total $2,237 $(942) $(781) $514

The following table provides details of restructuring for the year ended
December 31, 2001:

Restructuring Restructuring
Accruals as of Restructuring Other Asset Accruals as of
Dec. 31, 2000 Charge Adjustments Impairment Payments Dec. 31, 2001
Fast Forward Program
Severance cost $ 418 $ - $292 § - § (710} $ -
Qutplacement services and other 257 - {247) - (10} -
Total restructuring cost 675 - 45 - (720 -
Allied Acquisition
Severance cost 335 - {170) - (165) -
Other 65 - 12 - (177} -
Total restructuring cost 400 - (58} - (342) -
Branch System
Severance cost 135 535 - - {730 -
Total restructuring cost 135 595 - - {730} -
Business Needs Staffing Adjustment
Severance cost 751 429 15 - (1,195) -
Total restructuring cost 751 429 15 - (1,195) -
Transportation Solutions Parts Centers
Severance cost - 969 {325) - (604} 40
Building teases - 2,167 353 - {403) 217
Asset impairment - 172 (79) (5786) (37) 80
Total restructuring cost - 3,908 (51 (576) (1,044} 2,237
Total $1,961 $4,932 $ 49 $(576) $14,031) $2,237

Fast Forward Program

In January 1999, with the help of outside consultants, the Company initiated

the Fast Forward Program, which was a detailed evaluation of its existing cost
structure. The program was composed of a number of initiatives, primarily relating
to employee redundancy. The charges included estimated severance costs for

237 employees across all operating divisions of the Company, outplacement
services and other costs. None of these charges related to the Allied Acquisition.
A total of 188 employees were terminated. The remaining employees transferred
to other divisions or left the Company voluntarily. During 2000, the Fast Forward
Program was completed, with remaining severance costs paid in 2001,

Allied Acquisition

Included in the acquisition purchase price allocation were restructuring charges
related to the Allied Acquisition, which reflect certain severance and relocation
costs the Company incurred to effect a worldwide integration plan for Allied’s
operations. A tatal of 66 employees were terminated, and 55 were relocated. in
2000, based on an evaluation of the remaining amount needed, a reduction of
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$1,555 was made to the restructuring accrual, which was offset by an adjustment
to goodwill. During 2000, the program was completed, with remaining severance
costs paid in 2001.

Branch System

In 2000, the Combany‘s Relocation Solutions — Europe and Asia Pacific segment
initiated programs in its U.K. operations in an effart to restructure its branch sys-
tem and to eliminate management redundancy within its Pickfords Vanguard unit,
reducing headcount by 93 employees. Charges were recorded as branch locations
were identified for closure. The identification process continued through 2001,
and headcount was reduced by an additional 16 employees. The programs were
completed in 2001.

Business Needs Staffing Adjustment

In November 2000, due to business needs as determined by management, the
Company established a restructuring reserve of $1,084 whereby headcount was
reduced by 50 employees. The charges included estimated severance costs across
all operating divisions of the Company. Severance costs were paid out and ‘the
program was completed in 2001.




Transportaticn Solutions Parts Centers

In June 2001, the Company's Transportation Solutions segment established

a program to exit the Parts Center business. The program charges included
severance and employee benefit costs for 293 employees and lease and asset
impairment costs to shut down and exit the Parts Center business by the end
of 2001. Due to lease terms and severance agreements, certain payments will
continue through September 2005. During the year ended Decamber 31, 2002,
the restructuring accrual was reduced by $942, when the Company was able
to sublease certain Parts Centers facilities earlier than originally estimated.
As of December 31, 2003, 293 employees had been terminated.

Headguarters Move

In December 2002, the Company incurred expenses of $4,658 associated with
the move of its corporate headquarters building. The expenses were composed
of $3,625 of remaining lease abligation casts, utilities and taxes associated with
the former headquarters building, and were recorded upon exiting the facility.

In addition, $1,033 of costs primarily relating to moving expenses to relocate to
the new facility were expensed as incurred.

Unusual items

For the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company recagnized $3,537 of
non-cash equity-based compensation expense in relation to stock subscriptions
and stock optign grants made to certain managers and directars in 2003. The
expense has been recorded as the difference between the subscription or exercise
price and the deemed fair value of our common and redeemable common stock on
the date of grant in accordance with APB 25. The total non-cash equity-based
compensatign expense to be recognized by us in respect of these transactions is
$8,766. We expect to recognize $1,493, $865, $516, $272 and $83 in each of
2004, 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.

The asset impairment charge of $7,092 for the year ended December 31, 2002
was due te a reduction in the number of software modules implemented by the
high-value products moving business within Relocation Solutions — North America
and Transportation Solutions, as a result of a change in business strategy.
Curtailment and other gains for the year ended December 31, 2002 were composed
of $7.370 of pension and retiree medical curtailment gain as the pension plan was
frozen and retiree medical benefits were reduced (see Note 13) and $3,007 of gain
from the sale of the Company’s U.K. industrial moving business. The net book
value of the assets sold was $1,322, and 2002 operating losses for the disposed
entity were $2,573.

24 RELATED-PARTY

As of December 31, 2003, Fund V and Fund VI, which are private investment
funds managed by CD&R, own approximately 39.3% and 16.4% of the Company’s
outstanding common stock, respectively. Of the eight members of the Company’s
Board of Directors, two are principals of Clayton, Dubilier & Rice, Inc.

The Company, NAVL and CD&R are parties to a consulting agreement
pursuant to which CD&R is paid a management fee for financial advisory and
management consulting services. For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002
and 2001, such fees were $1,200, $1,375 and $1,375, respectively, as a
component of general and administrative expense.

NAVL has guaranteed loans made by a third-party lender in an aggregate prin-
cipal amount of $1,254 and $810 as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively,
to various members of management, including certain of the Company’s executive
officers, in connection with their investment in SIRVA. NAVL would become liable

for such amounts in the event that a member of management would fail to repay
the principal and interest when due. These loans mature in July 2004, except for
the loan to one of the Company's executive officers, which matures in May 2004,
and bear interest at the prime rate plus 1.0%. The loan to the Company's execu-
tive officer was made prior to passage of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Subsequent
to its passage, a policy was adopted that prohibited the Company or any of its
subsidiaries from making loans to or guaranteeing loans of executive officers.

25 SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY OPERATING
RESULTS (UNAUDITED]

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

2003
Operating revenues $474193  $579,803  §$731,192  §$564.671
Gross margin $ 94,643 $114,845 $143,759 $120,698
Stock compensaticn expense $ - $ 2149 § B2 $ 567
Income from operations $ 12,799 $ 24,663 $ 55,432 $ 33,257

Debt extinguishment expense $ - $ - § - § 37,588
Income {loss) before cumulative

effect of accounting change $ (2237) $ 9476 $ 39,902 $ (18,455)
Net income (loss) $ (1,467) § 6,212 $ 26,165 $ (11,960}
Basic income {loss) per share $ (0.05) $ 0.09 $ 046 $ (0.19)
Diluted income {loss) per share $ (0050 $ 0.8 $ 043 $ (019
2002
Operating revenues $429654  $538,361 $677569  §540,062
Gross margin $ 80,301 §102,006  $129183  $107,004
Income from operations § 5471 § 23038 44679 § 21123

Income {loss) before cumulative

effect of accounting change $ (8749 § 8043 § 285618 $ 4540
Net income (loss) § (5284 § 4883 $ 17424 $ 3818
Basic income (loss) per share § (015 § 008 $ 030 $ 005
Diluted income {loss} per share § (019 $ 008 $ 030 $ 005

In the first quarter of 2003, the Company standardized certain employee bene-
fit programs resuiting in a reduction in accruals of $1,626.

In the second quarter of 2003, the Company incurred $1,185 of outside legal
expense assotiated with the DOJ antitrust matter, recognized $1,336 of severance
expense associated with reduced headcount actions, recorded $2,149 of equity-
based compensation expense and reversed to income $1,377 of unclaimed
accounts receivable credits.

In the third quarter of 2003, the Company sold its Sydney, Australiz, facility
resulting in a gain of $1,808.

In the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company standardized certain employee
benefit programs resulting in a reduction in accruals of $1,045, sold its minority
interest in a joint venture resulting in a gain of $764, reduced accruals for
unclaimed property by $1,779 and incurred $1,182 of outside legal expense asso-
ciated with the DOJ and European antitrust matters. In addition, the Company
recognized $37,588 of debt extinguishment expense, consisting of 324,851 of
bond tender premium on the 13 3/8% senior subordinated notes and a $12,637
write-off of deferred debt issuance costs on the prior senior credit facility and
indenture and a $1,308 write-off of unrecognized interest rate hedging losses in
connection with the debt refinancing.

In the fourth quarter of 2002, the Campany incurred an agset impairment charge
of $7,092 due to a reduction in the number of software modules implemented and
expenses of $4,658 associated with the move of its headquarters building. In addi-
tion, the Company recagnized a $7,370 pension and retiree medical curtailment gain
and a $3,007 gain from the sale of its UK. industrial moving business.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

Year ended December 31, December 25,
Dollars in millions except percentage, share and per share data 20033 20023 20013 20003 199923
Statement of Operations Data
Operating revenues '
Relocation Solutions — North America $1,602.9 $1,544.4 $1,652.1 $1.7918 $ 9333
Relocaticn Solutions ~ Europe and Asia Pacific 478.2 408.0 3871 3728 99.9
Global Relocation Solutions 2,081.1 1,952.4 2,0392 2,164 8 1,033.2
Network Services 163.2 125.0 84.2 758 8.8
Transpartation Solutions 105.6 108.2 1259 138.3 117.8
$2,349.9 $2.185.6 $2,249.3 $2,378.7 $1,159.8
Purchased transportation expense ' $1,299.9 $1,303.2 $1,438.8 $1,559.8 $ 7326
Other direct expense 576.1 4639 4264 4338 2238
Gross margin $ 4739 $ 4185 $ 384.1 $ 385. $ 2034
Income {Loss) From Operations ¢
Relocation Solutions — North America $ 598 $ 410 $ 151 $ 81 $ (105
Relocation Solutions — Europe and Asia Pacific 30.2 248 T 260 23.7 2.7
Global Relocation Solutions 80.0 658 41.1 318 (7.8)
Network Services 36.7 265 185 174 38
Transportation Solutions 41 33 (6.3) 03 28
Corporate {4.6) (1.3) (0.8) o4 -
$ 126.2 § 943 § 525 § 494 $ 0
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting change 45 $ 190 $ 208 $ (16.6) § 219 $ (205
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of taxé - - 0.3) - -
Net fncome floss)4.5.8 $ 190 § 208 § (169 § (219 § (205)
Per Share Data 5
Income {loss) per share befare cumulative effect
of accounting change - basic? $ 029 $ 033 $ (0.47) § (068) § (089
Income (loss] per share befare cumulative effect
of accounting change — diluted? $ 027 $ 033 $ (047) $ (0.58) $ (0.89)
Net income {loss) per share — basic 7.8 $ 029 $ 033 $ (048) $ (0.88) $ (0.89)
Net income {loss) per share — diluted?.8 $ 027 $ 033 $ (0.48) $ (0.68) $ (0.89)
Weighted-average common shares outstanding:
Basic 58,104,742 51,712,625 42,308,361 39,065,685 23,285,669
Diluted 60,933,868 51,832,236 42,308,361 39,085,685 23,285,669
Balance Sheet Data
Cash and cash equivalents $ 631 $ 455 $ 327 $ 435 $§ 252
Property and equipment, net 181.0 1713 1654 158.7 165.9
Total assets 1,549.4 1,357.5 1,074.0 1,199.6 1,152.5
Short-term debt?® 101.5 99.7 68.2 99.1 78.3
Long-term debt 10 4455 571.8 505.0 504.8 5115
Redeemable common stock ! - 74 33 6.1 7.0
Redeemable juniar preferred stock 12 - 304 28.3 264 248
Stockholders” equity 395.3 128.3 61.9 94.0 998
Other Data
EBITDA 4™ $ 1371 § 1378 $ 1009 $ 1035 $ 262
Depreciation and amortization 14 48.1 442 487 539 312
Gross margin as a percentage of operating revenues 20.2% 19.1% 17.1% 16.2% 17.5%

7 Qur operating revenues reprasent amounts billed to our customers for all aspects of the services that we provide. Where we fulfill the transpartation service element using aur independent agent
netwaork or other third-party service providers, we incur purchased transportation expense, or PTE, which is included in the amount billed to our customer. The level of PTE generally increases or
decreases in proportion to the operating revenues generated from our transportation services

2 Effective for fiscal year 2000, we changed our vear-end to December 31. Prior to fiscal year 2000, the fiscal year ended on the Saturday nearest to December 31 each year.
3 Includes financial data of the Allied and Pickfords businesses from November 15, 1999. On November 19, 1999, we completed the acquisition of the Allied and Pickfords businesses, which was

accounted for as @ purchase.
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4 for the year ended December 31, 2003, we recognized $3.5 million of non-cash equity-based compensation expense in refation to stock subscriptions and stock option grants made to certain managers

and directors in 2003, The expense has been recorded as the difference between the subscription or exercise price and the deemed fair value of our common and redeemable common stock on the
date of grant in accordance with APB 25. The total non-cash equity-based compensation expense to be recognized by us in respect of these transactions is 86.8 million. Wa expect to recognize
81.5 miftion, $0.9 million, $0.5 million, $0.3 million and $0.1 million in each of 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.

5 For the year ended December 31, 2003, we recognized $37.6 million of debt extinguishment expense, consisting of $25.0 million of bond tender premium on the 13 /8% senior subordinated notes,
a $12.6 million write-off of deferred debt issuance costs on the prior senior credit facility and indenture and a $1.3 million write-off of unrecognized interest rate hedging losses in connection
with our debt refinancing.

During 1999, we retired debt resulting in an extraordinary charge of $3.4 million, net of applicable income tax benefit. Following our adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
{"SFAS") No. 145, “Rescission Of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment OF FASB Statement No. 13, And Technical Corrections” (“SFAS 145", on January 1, 2003, this extracrdinary
charge has been included as part of “Income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting change” in the above selected financial data table, rather than as a separate extraordinary item.

5 Effective January 1, 2001 we adopted SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” ("SFAS 133", as amended, which resulted in a change in method of account-
ing. The cumulative effect of this accounting change was a loss of $0.5 million ($0.3 million, net of tax), or $0.01 per share, both on a basic and diluted basis. In 2001, basic and diluted loss per
share before cumulative effect of accounting change was $0.47.

Earnings floss) per share and weighted-average common shares outstanding give effact to the split of each share of our common stock by way of reclassification into 3.17 shares of common stock
that became effective on November 24, 2003,

& We adopted SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” {"SFAS 142°), with effect from January 1, 2002. In accordance with SFAS 142, we no longer amortize goodwill and indefinite-
lived intangibles, but rather will test such assets at least annually for impairment. We have completed the first step of the impairment test under the transitional requirements of SFAS 142 and no
impairment of goodwill or indefinite-lived intangibles was indicated. A reconciliation of previously reported net income and earnings per share to the amounts adjusted for the exclusion of goodwill
and indefinite-lived intangibles amortization is presented below. Farnings per ordinary share adjusted for gooawill charges is calculated by adding back the goodwill and indefinite-lived intangibles
charges to net income and dividing by the weighted-average ordinary shares outstanding for all periods presented.

Year ended December 31, December 25,

Dollars in millions except per share data 2003 2002 2001 2000 19539
Net income {loss), as reported $19.0 $20.8 $(16.9) $(21.9) ${20.5)
Amortization of goadwill and trademarks - - 109 1.0 31
Income tax provision - - (1.0 (1.0 0.9
Adjusted net income floss) $19.0 $20.8 $ (7.0) $(11.9) ${18.3)
Basic net income (loss) per share, as reported $0.28 $0.33 $(0.48) $(0.68) $(0.89)
Amortization of goodwill and trademarks - - 0.25 0.28 014
Income tax provision - - {0.02} (0.02) (0.04)
Adjusted basic net income {loss) per share $0.29 $0.33 $(0.29) $(0.42) $(0.79)
Diluted net income (loss) per share, as reported $0.27 $0.33 3(0.48) $(0.68) $(0.89)
Amortization of goodwill and trademarks - - 0.25 0.28 0.14
Income tax provision - - {0.02) (0.02) (0.04)
Adjusted diluted net income (loss) per share $0.27 $0.33 $(0.25) $(0.42) $(0.79)

w

Short-term debt consists of the current portion of long-term debt, amounts outstanding under our mortgage warehouse credit facility and our relocation financing facility, and other short-term debt.

Long-term debt consists of (i} long-term debt excluding the current portion of long-term debt, (ii] capital lease obligations and {1ii) amounts outstanding under the revolving credit facility forming
part of our senior credit facility.

S

Prior to the initial public offering of SIRVA common stock, consummated on November 24, 2003, certain of our key employees could have required us to repurchase all of the shares and the
exercisable portion of options held upon death, disability, retirement at normal age or termination withaut “Cause” (as defined in the SIRVA, Inc. Stock Incentive Plan). Such securities were
classified as “Redeemable Shares of Common Stock” within mezzanine equity. This repurchase right terminated upon the consummation of the initial public offering and as a result, these
securities were reclassified to common stock.

s

In connection with the acquisition of the Allied and Pickfords businesses, we issued 24,500 shares of redeemable junior preferred stock, due in 2010, to an affiliate of Exel, plc. Effective July 1, 2003,
we adopted SFAS No. 150, "Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity,” which resulted in a reclassification of our redeemable junior preferred
stock from mezzanine equity to a liability. The dividend rate on this redeemable junior preferred obligation, which was redeemed with the praceeds of the initial public offering, was 12.4% com-
pounded quarterly and was cumulative.

13 EBITDA is defined as net income {loss) before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. EBITDA is calculated as follows:
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
Net income {loss} $ 19.0 $ 208 ${16.9) 3219 $(20.5)
Interest expense 60.3 61.2 69.2 734 221
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 9.7 118 0.1) {1.8) 6.6
Depreciation and amortization 48.1 442 48.7 53.9 312
EBITDA $132.1 $137.8 $100.9 $1036 $262

We believe that EBITDA is a relevant measurement for assessing performance since it attempts to efiminate variances caused by the effects of differences in taxation, the amount and types of
capital employed and depreciation and amortization policies. EBITDA is not a measure determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and should not be considered by
investors as an alternative to income from operations or net income as an indicator of our performance. The EBITDA disclosed here is not necessarily comparable to EBITDA disciosed by other
companies because EBITDA is not uniformly defined.

For the year ended December 31, 2003, we recognized $37.6 million of debt extinguishment expense and $3.5 million of non-cash equity-based compensation expense. See Note 5 above.

=

Includes depreciation expense for property and equipment and amortization expense for intangible assets and deferred agent contract expenditures. Excludes amortization expense for deferred
debt issuance costs, which are recorded as part of interest expense.
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Management’'s Responsibility for Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and content of the financial
statements included in this annual report. The financial statements have been
prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles and reflect
management's judgments and estimates concerning effects of events and
transactions that are accounted for or disclosed.

SIRVA, Inc. and its subsidiaries maintain accounting systems that are supparted
by internal accounting controls. These systems and cantrols provide reasonable
assurance that assets are safeguarded and that transactions are executed in
accordance with management's authorization and recorded properly to permit the
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. At the end of our next fiscal year, our independent auditors

will report on our assertions as to the effectiveness of our internal controls over ~ <P
financial reporting as required under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. @Mx éfﬁ@/

We are confident in the effectiveness of our internal controls and our ability to
meet the requirements of this legislation.

Ethical decision-making is fundamental to our management philosophy.
Management recognizes its responsibility for fostering a strong ethical climate
and is committed to conducting its business with integrity and complying with

Independent Auditors’ Faep@cﬁt

The Board of Directors and Steckholders of SIRVA, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly,
in all material respects, the financial position of SIRVA, Inc. and its subsidiaries
at December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, and the results of their operations
and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2003 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management; our responsibility is 1o express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these state-
ments in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supparting
the amounts and disclosures in the financia!l statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide

a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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both the letter and spirit of the laws and regulations that govern our operations.
Employee awareness of these objectives is achieved through key written policy
statements, a Code of Business Conduct and training.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors is composed solely of indepen-
dent non-employee directors. This committee meets periadically with the internal
auditors, management and the independent auditors, who have free access 10 the
committee without management present, to discuss the results of their work and
their evaluation of the internal control structure and the quality of financial reparting.

Gha € o

Joan E. Ryan
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Brian P. Kelley
President and
Chief Executive Officer

As discussed in Note 17, the Company changed its accounting for redeemable
junior preferred stock upon adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of
both Liabilities and Equity,” on July 1, 2003. As discussed in Note 7, the Company
changed its accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets upon adoption
of Statement of Financiat Accounting Standards No. 142, "Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets,” on January 1, 2002.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chicago, Hlinois

February 13, 2004
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Clayton, Dubilier & Rice, Inc.

Richard J. Schnall “*
Partner
Clayton, Dubilier & Rice, Inc.

CarlT. Stocker ?
Former Chief Financial Executive
General Electric Industrial Systems

Richard J. Schnall, Carl T Stocker, Irving B. Yoskowitz, Edward H. Orzetti

*Board member effective January 5, 2004

Irving B. Yoskowitz* =4

Senior Counsel

Crowell & Moring, and

Senior Partner

Global Technologies Partners, LLC

Executive Committee
James W. Rogers, Chair

2 Audit Committee
Carl T. Stocker, Chair

Compensation Committee
Kathleen J. Affeldt, Chair

General Sir Jeremy Mackenzie, Chair
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Executive Officers

Brian P. Kelley
President and
Chief Executive Officer

Douglas E. Christensen
President
Transportation Solutions

John M. Dupuy

Senior Vice President
Specialized Transportation and
Corporate Development

Ralph A. Ford
Senior Vice President,
General Counsel and Secretary

*Officer effective January 12, 2004
**Qfficer effective April 5, 2004
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Douglas V. Gathany
Vice President and
Treasurer

Ann M. Harten
Senior Vice President and
Chief Information Officer

Michael B. McMahon**
President

Moving Services

North America

David J. Nicol*
President

Relocation Solutions
Europe and Asia Pacific

Robert J. Rosing
President
Relocation

North America

Joan E. Ryan
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Todd W. Schorr
Senior Vice President
Human Resources

Dennis M. Thompson
Vice President
Corporate Controller

Lawrence A. Writt
President
Network Services
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Investor Services

You may contact John Springer in our
Investor Relations Department at
630-468-4797 You also may get investor
information on SIRVA's Web site at
Www.sirva.com.

Requests for Information

More information is available at no
charge. For additional copies of annual
reports, 10-Ks, 10-Qs or other financial
information, please visit the Investor
Relations section of SIRVA's Web site
at www.sirva.com.

Stock Trading Information

SIRVA stock is traded in the United
States and listed on the New York Stock
Exchange under the symbol SIR.

Annual Meeting

The 2004 annual meeting of stockholders
will be conducted at 10:30 a.m. EDT on
Thursday, May 27 2004, at:

Waldorf Towers

Starlight Roof

100 East 50th Street

New York, NY 10022 U.S.A.

Doors will open at 10:00 a.m.

There were approximately 1,800
owners of SIRVA common stock as
of February 29, 2003.

Common Stock Market Data

Fourth Quarter, 2003

Transfer Agent

Correspondence regarding share owner-
ship, transfer requirements, changes

of address, lost stock certificates and
account status may be directed to:

Mellon tnvestor Services LLC

PO. Box 3315

South Hackensack, NJ 07606-1910 U.S.A.
Phone: 888-213-0965 or 201-329-8660
Web site: www. melloninvestor.com/isd

Independent Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chicago, IL U.S.A,

Trademarks

All trademarked or registered trademark
product names used herein are the prop-
erty of SIRVA or one of its affiliates in
the United States and/or other countries.
All other product or company names
used herein may be the property of their
respective companies.

How to Reach Us

SIRVA, Inc.

700 Oakmont Lane
Westmont, IL 60559 U.S.A.
Phone: 630-570-3050

High Low
$19.69 $17.68
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